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Corporate Introduction
N By

Established in 1993, Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (“Kingdee International” or “Kingdee”) is listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 268.HK) and headquartered in Shenzhen, China, and has become a leader in the international market as a management
cloud Saa$S vendor. Adhering to the core values of “Acting in all Conscience, with Integrity and Righteousness”, the Company takes the mission of “Empower
every enterprise to achieve phenomenal success.” Kingdee is committed to becoming the “most trustworthy enterprise service platform”.

As a global leader in enterprise management cloud SaaS solutions, Kingdee has demonstrated exceptional performance across cloud services, securing #1
positions in China's SaaS EA (Enterprise Application Cloud), SaaS ERM (Enterprise Resource Management Cloud), Financial Cloud, EPM, and PLM markets
according to IDC reports. The company has maintained its leadership for 20 consecutive years in China's growing enterprise application software sector,
stands as the sole Chinese vendor recognized in the Asia-Pacific SaaS ERP Mid-Small Market Competitiveness Report, and has achieved four consecutive
years of dominance in China's low-code/no-code aPaaS market. Notably, Kingdee's inclusion as the only Chinese management software provider in Gartner's
Market Guide for Al Code Assistants further validates its technological prowess in Al-driven solutions.

Kingdee’'s major cloud service products have been selected by industry lighthouse customers, including Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (new generation enterprise-
level Al platform), Kingdee Cloud Constellation (large enterprise SaaS management solution), Kingdee Cloud Galaxy (high-growth enterprise SaaS
management solution), Kingdee Cloud Stellar (small and micro enterprise SaaS management solution). Kingdee has provided enterprise management cloud
products and services for more than 7.4 million enterprises, governments and organizations across the world.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LAFEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

LEGAL COUNSEL
Hong Kong:

CFN Lawyers

27/F, Neich Tower

128 Gloucester Road
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Cayman Islands:

Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKS

PRC:

China Merchants Bank

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
The Export-Import Bank of China

Bank of China

Industrial Bank

Ping An Bank

Agricultural Bank of China

Hong Kong:
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
Kingdee Software Park

No.2 Kejinan 12 Road

South District

Hi-Tech Industrial Park

Nanshan District

Shenzhen Guangdong Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway
Admiralty, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.kingdee.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DAER

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Holdings Limited
9/F, The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Central

Hong Kong

MAIN BOARD STOCK CODE
268
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEHE

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ZE-ME —E-=F —E-CF —E-—F —TZEF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

ARWTR ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT ARETR

Revenue EEE 6,255,684 5,679,073 4,865,769 4174147 3,356,445
Loss atfributable to owners R ZA AIHEZS

of the Company ST IN 2 (142,068) (209,890) (339,159) (302,330) (335.479)
Dividends per share BRERE = - - - -

Losses per share (RMB cents) SRR IE (AREED)

— basic -ER (4.01) (6.07) (1131) (929) (1012)
~ diluted -HE (4.01) (6.07) (1131) (99) (1012)
Losses Per Share - Basic Return on Equity
BRER-EF PHENRE
RMB cents %
ARES AL

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

(1131)

—TOMEFR SREBRSGEEERAT 5



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue
Exa

RMB'000
ARETT

6,266,684
5,679,073

4,865,769
4174147

3,356,445

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Net Cash Generated from Operating Activities
RETDEENRNE

RMB'000
ARBTT

933,630

660,563 653,319

473,017
374,437

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company
FAFHERAABEER

RMB'000
ARETT

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

(142,068)

(209,890)

(302,330)
(335,479)

(389,158)

Contract Liabilities
eRA&R

RMB000

ARETFT

3,723,569

3,176,589

2,631,035
2,164,713

1,483,943

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AERIRAE

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_NE —_T-_=F =—ZT-_— —E-—F ZTE-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTRE ARETT AREBETFIT ARE®FTFT ARETFT
Revenue EERE 6,255,684 5,679,073 4,865,769 4174147 3,356,445
Loss before income tax Mk ATS AT ES 18 (229,728) (301,126) (474,218) (382,145) (382,739)
Loss for the year FEEE (184,339) (269,806) (452,404) (338,355) (341,695)
Assets H5E
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,148,881 8,435,950 7,747 491 6,615,945 4,538,665
Current assets MENVEE 5,632,114 5,703,247 3,983,946 4471187 6,183,414
Total assets BEE 13,780,995 14,139,197 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079
Equity and liabilities BaRAR
Equity attributable to owners of RARIEREB A
the Company E{hHE S 8,049,956 8,599,056 7,265,353 7,596,492 7,789,631
Non-controlling interests DB RS 78,825 103,096 142,230 206,647 168,846
Total equity R 8,128,781 8,702,152 7,407 583 7,803,139 7,958,477
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 172,396 907,831 558,171 200,310 165,013
Current liabilities nEaE 5,479,818 4529214 3,765,683 3,083,683 2,598,589
Total liabilities wefE 5,652,214 5,437,045 4,323,854 3,283,993 2,763,602
Total equity and liabilities wERNEE 13,780,995 14,139,197 11,731,437 11,087,132 10,722,079
—ECNFEFE SREERSREEEERAT 7






CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®mE

Looking back at 2024, this year marked the commencement of Kingdee’s “Subscription-
First, Al-First” strategy, representing both a year of boundary-breaking transformation and
amilestone in our innovation journey.

From Digital Cocoon to Creative Liberation: Unleashing
Enterprise Potential with Al

Over the past three decades, ERP systems have redefined process efficiency, yet they
inadvertently confined organizations within a “digital cocoon”—where standardized
workflows stifle human creativity, and managerial brilliance is entangled in repetitive
tasks, endless reports, and approval loops. In 2024, the Al revolution illuminates a path
toward liberation. Kingdee Cloud Cosmic has evolved into an enterprise-grade Al platform,
launching the Al Management Assistant and Cosmic APP to deliver rapid, scalable Al
adoption. The Cosmic Al Agent Platform has onboarded 20 industry pioneers including
Hisense Group, Wens Group, and ZHIYANG Innovation. Concurrently, Kingdee Cloud
Constellation has launched over 20 Al applications with nearly 20 large enterprises.
Wuchan Zhongda achieved efficiency gain in financial workflows through intelligent
data insights. Tongwei Group transformed HR operations with Al HR Assistant, enabling
conversational queries, automated ticket generation, and process navigation. This
validates our conviction: Al isn’t replacing human ingenuity but awakening
it. As ERP evolves into context-aware intelligent systems, leaders break free from digital
constraints to refocus on strategic innovation-where human creativity becomes the
ultimate competitive advantage.

Empowering Chinese Management Excellence: Scenario-
driven Value Creation

For nearly two decades, Kingdee has pioneered the Chinese Management Paradigm—
validated through domestic technology substitution initiatives, deepened cross-industry
collaboration, and replicable implementation frameworks. We have made landmark
achievements, exemplified by the Weichai Lovol project demonstrated industry-
leading technical competencies through optimizing 168 processes, adding 60% new
functionalities, and achieving 4.3 times efficiency gains in MRP operations alongside 10x
faster monthly closing. In 2024, Kingdee further signed with CNPC, AirChina, DENSO
China, SHEIN, Tsingtao Beer and Transsion Holdings to redefine Al-era management
practices. Kingdee also crafted global management expertise bridging Eastern wisdom and
global operational standards, proven replicable with China Merchants Group, Hisense,
and FS Technology. As Peter Drucker foresaw: “China will teach the world
management in the 21st century.” We're turning this vision info reality-one
contextualized solution at a time.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®mE

Lighting the Path: Al-First, Subscription First, Accelerating
Globalization

In 2024, Kingdee Cloud revenue contribution reached 81.6% and cloud subscription
ARR surged by 20.0% year-on-year to RMB3.43 billion, while operating cash flow grew
42.9% to RMB934 million, validating the effectiveness of our Subscription-First strategy.
Product resilience was demonstrated through Net Dollar Retention (NDR) rates of 108%
for Kingdee Cloud Cosmic & Constellation, 95% for Kingdee Cloud Galaxy, and 93% for
Kingdee Cloud Stellar. Our global footprint expanded significantly, establishing operational
hubs across Singapore, Vietnam, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia, and the Middle East,
effectively bridging Chinese enterprises to international markets through Al-powered
localization frameworks.

Outlook

The SaaS industry is undergoing a transformative restructuring, with a golden decade now
in full swing. Kingdee will execute full pivot into an Enterprise Management Al company
commencing 2025, leveraging its proprietary Cosmic Al platform and rich scenario-based
Al Agents to empower every enterprise in cultivating new quality productive forces, and to
bring phenomenal success to enterprise customers, Kingdee partners and employees.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | extend our deepest appreciation to every client and shareholder.
Your steadfast trust will continue to empower Kingdee’s journey through evolving market
cycles. And to all Kingdee innovators, your relentless dedication, illuminated by midnight
office lights and imprinted in client-site footprints, forges our strategic differentiation
in global enterprise software. Let us now co-architect the future of intelligent
management - leveraging Al as our catalyst and China’s management
philosophy as our foundation - to collaboratively build a golden era of
Enterprise Management Al.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
RIGEIERE RE

Financial Performance

In 2024, the Group advanced its cloud subscription service model transformation.
Cloud services revenue grew by 13.4% year-on-year, accounting for approximately
81.6% of total revenue. Kingdee Cloud Subscription Annual Recurring Revenue
(ARR) reached RMB3.43 billion, up 20.0% YoY, with cloud subscription-related
contract liabilities increasing by 28.5%.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB6,255,684,000, representing 10.2% growth compared to 2023
(2023: RMB5,679,073,000).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group reported a net loss attributable
to owners of the Company approximately RMB142,068,000 (2023: a loss of
approximately RMB209,890,000 attributable to owners of the Company), narrowing
mainly due to better scale of economy for the Large Enterprise Business.

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company during the year was
RMB4.01 cents (2023: basic loss of RMB6.07 cents per share).

Net cash flow from operating activities amounted to RMB933,530,000 (2023 net
cash inflow of approximately RMB653,319,000).

Strategic Overview

Guided by its mission to “Empower every enterprise to achieve phenomenal
success,” Kingdee focuses on delivering premium products, innovative solutions,
and robust digital capabilities. At the same time, it is committed to becoming the
“most trustworthy enterprise service platform,” growing alongside businesses
and shaping a boundless future together. The “Al First, Subscription First,
and Globalization” strategy drives innovation through Al integration, deepens
subscription models, and accelerates global expansion.

Key Strategic Initiatives include the followings:

Al First: Accelerate AI-ERP integration and prioritize Al-applicable
scenarios.

- Large Enterprise Market: Strengthen core industry leadership and
operational efficiency.
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—EoOF AEEFRABESITHRS
BEAEL ERBEBLERBKARLIER
134% * 1= B U A #81.6% > £ HEFTBI AR
FREMEWAARRL B AREIMIET - FALL
1B R200%  ERIHRBERNEAEEER

[ tb 1% £28.5% ©

HEZZ-_MFE+=-_A=+—HBLFE &
£ BB URAL A R #6,255,684,0000T © =
T oFHEEN02% T _=FHE: AR
#5679,073,0007T) °

ﬁi “HE+ZA=+-HIEFE K

7%‘ FAEAEHEBEBEROAARY
14206800075(_7_f51*$ AR
AFE(L BB X A R 1209,890,0007T) L it 47
EXIBRAMOEEBNRBEUEREZR TR
BFTER

EAYNCIE: £ %*ﬁ_}\ﬂ’ifﬁ*ﬁﬂ)@ﬂEZlﬁxﬁK
BEROARBIND - (ZE-=FRH:
BRERBEHOARECTS) °

ARAKBEEETHELNBE SR FENE
AR #E933530,0000T °c (ZE—=FRAERE A
SR EE 49 A R #653,319,0007T) ©

BRER=E

ERRATTNEE KA WESD &F
IRRHEENER  BIFTOBRRTRUR
BMAMBTFEN  BEFIAZREN
BN EBEUHKE - A SHRHEKRBIN
KA TRESENNEERE T ] HER
HEEXRKE BFRAERORE -2
BATARS - FTRIE S - 2 ERBEE
B2 B DAAIST 5| SRR  OR(E AT BI ARG R
X MEEH(CHE  BIOEERFHER
HEF R

FEBRRBERE

1. AI{E?E'JJDLTE;E |EZERPH B & Bl 57
RESFAIE IR MG S B L AAl -

2 KBOENS HEREERERLA
LA R0 T AT - — R THE
CEELE R

—TOMEFR eRERSGERERAT 1



.....................-llll.----'----____-—-

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
FBOERRE

12

- Mid-Market: Enhance industry-specific solutions and brand influence.

- SME Market: Optimize product portfolios and increase market share.

- Global Markets: Capitalize on the dual opportunities of Chinese enterprises’
global expansion and localized development to deepen global presence.

Business Highlights

As a global leader in Enterprise Management Cloud SaaS solutions, Kingdee
has demonstrated exceptional performance across cloud services, securing #1
positions in China’s SaaS EA (Enterprise Application Cloud), SaaS ERM (Enterprise
Resource Management Cloud), Financial Cloud, EPM, and PLM markets according
to IDC reports. The company has maintained its leadership for 20 consecutive
years in China’s growing enterprise application software sector, stands as the
sole Chinese vendor recognized in the Asia-Pacific SaaS ERP Mid-Small Market
Competitiveness Report, and has achieved four consecutive years of dominance
in China's low-code/no-code aPaaS market. Notably, Kingdee's inclusion as the
only Chinese management software provider in Gartner's Market Guide for Al Code
Assistants further validates its technological prowess in Al-driven solutions.

Cloud services business

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee developed its “One-Arrow, Multiple Stars”
product matrix to address diverse enterprise market demands, enhancing product
competitiveness and driving steady growth in cloud services. Cloud services
revenue increased from RMB4,504,983,000 in 2023 to RMB5,106,725,000
during the period, representing year-on-year growth of 13.4% and accounting for
approximately 81.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

(1)  High quality development in the Large Enterprise business, Al-
driven operational excellence

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic has evolved into an
enterprise-grade Al platform, launching the Al Management Assistant and
Cosmic APP to deliver rapid, scalable Al adoption. The Cosmic Al Agent
Development Platform supports no-code development of enterprise-level
Al agents, featuring secure, trustworthy, and domestically compatible
capabilities. The Al Agent Platform was deployed with 20 customers
including Hisense Group, Wens Group, Zhiyang Innovation and China
Tobacco Hubei Industrial. The Cosmic APP focuses on enhancing
employee efficiency and empowerment, offering functions such as
enterprise knowledge Q&A and operational indicator queries, providing
intelligent support for employees’ daily work and professional development.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
FBOERRE

2

Kingdee Cloud Constellation concentrated on core business operations
for large enterprises, delivering upgrades in finance, HR, and supply
chain manufacturing with intelligent and globalized features. In Financial
Management, Constellation continued to enhance global sharing, treasury,
and tax management products to meet the needs of world-class financial
management systems, validated by clients such as China Merchants
Group, Hisense, and Feisu. Kingdee Cloud Constellation has launched
over twenty Al applications, driving intelligent transformation for nearly 20
large enterprises. Wuchan Zhongda achieved efficiency gain in financial
workflows through intelligent data insights. Tongwei Group transformed
HR operations with Al HR Assistant, enabling conversational queries,
automated ticket generation, and process navigation. CSSC Jiujiang
redefined contract governance with Al-driven compliance auditing.

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee capitalized on the accelerated
localization and industry-specific digital transformation opportunities
among large enterprises, achieving significant progress in serving
central state-owned enterprises, state-owned enterprises, and Fortune
500 companies. The high-end manufacturing sector saw a doubling in
contract value, while the contract signing amount in the consumer industry
increased by 56% year-on-year. Kingdee successfully secured contracts
and bids with several industry-leading enterprises, including CNPC, CEC,
AirChina, DENSO China, SHEIN Group, Tsingtao Beer and Transsion
Holdings. At the same time, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Constellation
recorded RMB1,304 million in revenue (up 32.9% YoY) and the contract
value was approximately RMB2.1 billion, representing a YoY increase of
51.9% during the Reporting Period. Cosmic & Constellation achieved
30.0% subscription ARR growth with 108% Net Dollar Retention (NDR)
rate.

Reinforced leadership in the High-growth Enterprise business,
powering Chinese enterprises’ global expansion

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy further strengthened
its product advantages in R&D-Production-Supply-Sales-Service
integration and end-to-end business-finance integration, embraced Al
transformation, and enhanced globalization capabilities. Anchored in its
“Al First, Manufacturing Leadership” strengths, the Galaxy Ultra advanced
capabilities across six dimensions: standardization, globalization,
intelligence, industry specialization, online integration, and ecosystem
collaboration. Al-driven solutions were implemented in multiple scenarios,
including BOSS Assistant, Al bookkeeping, decision monitor. In 2024
Kingdee signed over 30 clients, such as Trans Manufacture and Trade,
Jiefeng Hat Industry, Huaxin Insulator Technology, Hoome Information
Technology and Xiasha Gears. Kingdee launched localized packages for
Singapore, Vietnam, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia, and other countries,
effectively supporting Chinese enterprises’ overseas expansion. During the
Period, 340 globalizing clients across 18 industries were signed, including
OPPO, Tangqun Seating, Maxcess, Xiongtai Power, and OTTO.
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Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy recorded approximately
RMB2,153 million in revenue (up 10.3% YoY) and achieving 18.7%
subscription ARR growth, supported by a 95% Net Dollar Retention (NDR)
rate. Serving 44,000 clients with new customers including robotics leader
Unitree, Sony Precision, SK Automation, Dalian Insulator Group, Enpower
Electric and China SuperCloud. Kingdee captured 46% market share
among national-level Niche-and-Specialized Little Giants enterprises, with
more than 1,500 newly signed.

Solidified leading position in the SME business, revolutionizing
productivity with Al optimization

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee deployed comprehensive Al
capabilities across SME products, launching Al Assistant with automated
invoicing and bookkeeping modules. These features have empowered
more than 7,500 SMEs, with 90% efficiency gain in billing operations and
10x acceleration in accounting processes. Kingdee Cloud Stellar released
multi-language packages to deliver international SaaS to global clients.
Kingdee Jingdou Cloud enhanced tax compliance engine with coverage
across 36 tax jurisdictions across China and 19 core tax categories,
ensuring alignment with statutory compliance frameworks.

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee continued to maintain its market
leadership in the Small and Micro enterprise market. Small Business
Financial Cloud generating approximately RMB1,229 million in revenue
(up 13.8% YoY) and achieving 26.4% subscription ARR growth. Kingdee
Cloud Stellar contributed significantly with 71.8% YoY revenue growth,
underscored by a 93% Net Dollar Retention (NDR) rate.

Deepening Al and Localization Ecosystem Development

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee expanded its strategic ecosystem
focused on Al and localization. For Al partnerships, Kingdee strengthened
collaborations with leading Al foundation model providers such as
ByteDance, Alibaba, Tencent and Microsoft. For localization ecosystem,
Kingdee developed partners including OceanBase, VastData, Kingbase, and
GienTech, and established strategic alliances with major digital technology
firms such as General Digital, Data Industry Group, and BEWG Digital. For
ISV ecosystem, Kingdee developed over 200 digital products with partners,
such as Asset Cloud, Logistics Cloud, Audit Cloud, jointly covering 19
industry solutions.

Annual Report 2024
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ERP husiness and Others

During the Reporting Period, ERP businesses and Others revenues decreased by
2.1% year-on-year, from RMB1,174,090,000 in 2023 to RMB1,148,959,000.

Investment business

During the Reporting Period, Investment business including the investment
properties, the investments in associates, the listed equity investments included in
level 1 and the unlisted equity investments included in level 3, recorded a loss of
RMB48,529,000, representing a loss expansion of 1851% YoY. (2023: a loss of
RMB2,487,000), mainly due to fair value losses on investment properties.

CRARTEANEBR M

BEHA CEEREEFEEBREME
AR TREA21% R EFRBHAR
#1,174,090,0007C = A £ #1,148,959,0007T ©

BREAEH

BEHRR - FEREEL (BEREEDE -
BERE F-EBOLTRERE F=E
MIEETRERE) R EBIRERLIER
1851% % %9 A R #48,529,0007C (ZZF = =4[
B BIEHARB2487,000T) - FEREER
BEMEQAARBEEHBRMY -
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Key Financial Information
Total revenue

For the year ending 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a total revenue
of RMB6,255,684,000, representing a year-on-year increase of 10.2%
(2023: RMB5,679,073,000). Revenue from cloud services grew by 13.4% to
RMB5,106,725,000 (2023: RMB4,504,983,000). Revenue from the Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) business and others amounted to RMB1,148,959,000
(2023: RMB1,174,090,000), reflecting a year-on-year decrease of 2.1%.

EBRMBEH
BRH

HE-_Z-_MNMF+-_A=+—HILEFE
ANEE BT 48 ¥ 5 A R 156,255,684,000T
FLERI02%(ZCE-_=FRH: ARK
5,679,073,0007T) ° 2k B R U AR b 38 =
13.4%% A R #5,106,725,0007C (Z 2 - =4 &
HA AR #54.504,983,0007T) o 13 AR B A
SIS M E MR WA B A R 151,148,959,0007T
(ZZEZ=FRH : AR1,174,090,0007T) * A
LE R BE#2.1% ©

2024 2023
S E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT ARBFIT
Cloud services business ERRFE T 5,106,725 4,504,983
— Enterprise cloud services — D EERS 3,623,654 3,127,280
— Small & micro business finance cloud services —/NE B E R 1,228,680 1,080,010
— Industry cloud services —1TEER 254,391 297,693
ERP business and others CEEREENEEBLEM 1,148,959 1,174,090
— Sales of software and hardware products —HEBHREHER 271,511 284,305
— Software implementation services — B E AR TS 527,345 465,604

— Software solution consulting, maintenance, —BRRITER B BH - AR
upgrade and other supporting services T B 32 #5 15 AR 7S 350,103 424,181
6,255,684 5,679,073

Gross profit EH

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB4,070,672,000 (2023: RMB3,643,989,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 11.7%. The gross profit margin
increased by 0.9 percentage points compared to 2023, reaching approximately 65.1%
(2023: approximately 64.2%). The improvement in gross profit margin was primarily
attributable to the increased proportion of subscription revenue.

Selling and marketing expenses
During the Reporting Period, the total selling and marketing expenses amounted
to approximately RMB2,502,852,000 (2023: RMB2,319,645,000), reflecting a

year-on-year increase of 7.9%. The percentage of selling and marketing expenses
relative to total revenue decreased from 40.8% in 2023 to 40.0% in 2024.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Annual Report 2024
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BRHNT% - EFER T -~ ZF4ET09
EEa D8 HRBINZZE_=FHH L
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Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB538,687,000, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.9% (2023:
RMB489,964,000). The percentage of administrative expenses relative to total
revenue decreased from 8.63% in 2023 to 8.61% in 2024.

Research and development expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused on its strategy of “Platform +
HR, Finance, and Tax + Ecosystem,” and continued to increase its research and
development (R&D) investment in Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and Kingdee Cloud
Stellar. The total R&D costs amounted to RMB1,515,923,000, representing a year-
on-year increase of 0.4% (2023: RMB1,509,919,000). The R&D capitalization
rate increased to 31.9% (2023: 31.7%), with the capitalized amount reaching
RMB484,284,000, a year-on-year increase of 1.2% (2023: RMB478,349,000). The
amortization of R&D costs during the Reporting Period was RMB482,794,000,
reflecting a year-on-year increase of 18.3% (2023: RMB408,101,000). The
R&D costs recognized in the consolidated income statement amounted to
RMB1,514,433,000, representing a year-on-year increase of 5.2% (2023:
RMB1,439,671,000). The percentage of R&D expenses relative to total revenue
decreased from 25.4% in 2023 to 24.2% in 2024.

Operating loss

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded an operating loss
of approximately RMB335,262,000 (2023: operating loss of approximately
RMB419,947,000). The operating loss of the cloud services segment decreased
by 30.2% to approximately RMB240,648,000 (2023: loss of approximately
RMB344,705,000); the operating loss of the enterprise resource planning (ERP)
segment was approximately RMB46,085,000 (2023: loss of approximately
RMB72,755,000). The operating loss of the Investment segment increased
by 1,851% year-on-year to approximately RMB48,529,000 (2023: loss of
approximately RMB2,487,000), primarily due to the Group’s fair value adjustment
of investment properties.

Finance income — net

During the Reporting Period, net finance income amounted to approximately
RMB93,789,000, compared to net finance income of approximately
RMB90,315,000 in the same period of 2023.

Income tax credit

During the Reporting Period, there was an income tax credit of approximately
RMB45,389,000 (2023: income tax credit of approximately RMB31,320,000).

THRA

WMEBR THEHALY ARKS538,687,000
7T ALERINN CE-_=FEH: AR
489,964,0007T) c(h & ¥ EASLH T =
FHIB63% NEE ZE ZINFHIB861% ©

HRRARRA

HMESRN AEEEEI T+ AT B+ERE]
BEMARESHEZ ESNE BT« 2EHHN
MELA -HRAIAERKABEAARKE
1,515,923,0000T * R LB RO4B(ZZEZ=F [
Hi © AR #1500,919,0007T) © #F 3 & Al R 18
EENIW T -=FRHH 317%)  BEARK
b4 %8 A A R 4842840007 © A b 18 R1.2%
ZEZ=F R AR ME478,349,0007T) ©
REFARRRAERABREEAARE
482,794,0007C * R LLIB R183%(— T - =4[
H o AR #408,101,000T) - MR &R A FIEER
TR 295 M F R A A A R #51,514,433,000
T AL RS2 ZEZ=FRH : AR
1,439,671,0007T) - A LB BEREEEE R
AHBA-E-=FM54% TEE-E _NE
£924.2% ©

EERR

HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE" XK
& E RS AC & E 18 49 A R 1335,262,0000T (=
T =FRE: LEEEY AR E419,947,000
T0) o EMRFBEBE D AL EIE TE02%E
#)E1E AR #240,648,000C (—F — = F[F 8
BB 4 A R¥34470500000) : ¥ ERE IR
T8I FE TG o B0 AL & BT I8 49 A K 146,085,000
T (ZE=FRE : BEHARET2,755,000
TT) c REMREXBH I KL EERLIER
1851% % 49 A R #48529,000 (—ZE - =4 A
Hi IO ARBE24870007T) c T EREEE
EWMERNRBESEIBRAE -

BBk - B8

HEBHAN MBRR - FEORARK
93,789,0007T ©+ —F = F R HAB B as — 58
273 AR #90,315,0007T °

FrisiRipmE

WEHA - PTS B E A & A R 145,389,000

T(ZE_=ZFRAY: AEHRIPEHARE
31,320,0007T) ©
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Loss and Basic Loss Per Share

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB142,068,000 (2023: loss of approximately
RMB209,890,000), representing a net loss margin attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately 2.3% (2023: net loss margin of approximately 3.7%).
The basic loss per share was approximately RMB4.01 cents (2023: basic loss of
RMB6.07 cents per share).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB1,448,148,000, an
increase of RMB440,218,000 compared to 31 December 2023. This includes a
non-current portion of approximately RMB872,587,000 (2023: approximately
RMB964,748,000) and a current portion of approximately RMB575,561,000 (2023:
approximately RMB43,182,000).

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following :

BREBREFER

HE-_Z-_mM&F+-_A=+—BLEFE"
AEBESEBEALRERAEBEBEHOARE
142,068,000 (ZZ - =FRAH : BEOHAR
#£209,890,0007T) * FEARE AR FEIEBEL
B23%( T ZFEE  FEIEBERL37%)
BREABEHAREIOND (ZE_ZFF
B BREABEEHARB6D) -

DoanREAEAREBAARGHERM
RE

HE-_Z-_WNF+=-_A=+—H8 KXEEMN
/&fcfﬁfﬁﬁgﬂﬁ”imﬂa SHERmE
BEA) A AN R HE1448,1480007T M- B =4
T+ A=+ — 8 A R%440,218,0007T °

BIEIERE I 49 A R #E872587,0000T (==
= 4 AR 15964,748,0000T) RinENE A

W AR 575,561,000 (ZE—=F AR
#43182,0007T) ©

UNorBEABAREHAAEENSHE
EBEATHER :

2024 2023

—Z_mEg —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER®TT ARBEF T

Investments designated at fair value through profitor loss 8§ F A BEZ EiE ABZHRE

Wealth management products (i) BEEEEEM) 480,188 6,000
Listed equity securities iR EES 95,373 37,182
Unlisted equity investments (ii) I T AR IR (i) 872,587 964,748
1,448,148 1,007,930
Less: non-current portion B IERE D (872,587) (964,748)
575,561 43182

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management
products issued by commercial banks. These products have a term ranging from
1 day to 12 months (2023: 7 days) with an expected annual return rate ranging
from 1.67% to 2.55% (2023: 1.05% to 2.30%). No single wealth management
product investment accounted for over 5% of the Group's total assets.

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted investments,
including companies in software industry.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2024
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Investments in associates BRERA
2024 2023
—EZE_mE —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARBTT
At 1 January »—HA—H 434,461 421,593
Additions 0 90,000 -
Disposals BE - (6,329)
Deemed disposal RERE - (7,583)
Impairment of an associate B2 A RE = (1,726)
Dividend received W E) 9 A% ) (12,757) -
Share of profits of associates EHEBERENRFNE 11,745 28,506
At 31 December »+-—HA=+—H 523,449 434,461
(@) Individually immaterial associates (@) FEEXHBERE
In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the AEBESERE AEEESERNBE
Group. Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually WE - ERAEREZZENIFE R SR
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as AR AEMEALT -
following:
2024 2023
—EmEF —E_=%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARBTT
Aggregate carrying amounts of individually FFEANEBE AFNREASHE
immaterial associates 523,449 434,461
Total amounts of the Group's share of: AEBATE D REEBET
Profit for the year FERF 11,745 28,506
Other comprehensive income Hfbire Was - -
Total comprehensive income HRelEaEn 11,745 28,506
(b)  Allthe associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China. () AEEMBEEARHEAIELTA
There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the ]IEEP B R P o 7N B [ A A ﬁﬁ%
associates for which the Group is severally liable. NRIBEHBENERLBAE -

—“TOMFEFR SREBRSRGERERAT 19
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(c) Unrecognised share of losses of associates

(c) FEREERBLTER

2024 2023

—Z_MmE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTR AREFTTT

At 1 January —HA—H 40,586 36,862
Unrecognised share of losses during the year FERNAERNBENE 1,418 3,724
At 31 December +=-HB=+—H 42,004 40,586

Contract assets

During the Reporting Period, as of 31 December 2024, the Group’s contract assets

aRRE

HEHN R-E-—mNE+-_A=+—02 "

amounted to approximately RMB365,707,000, compared to the corresponding AEBKEREELNHARKSS5707,0005T -
contract assets of approximately RMB362,378,000 as of 31 December 2023. RIE-_=F+_A=1+—HHHEEERE
E# A AR #362,378,0007T ©
Loans to third parties KE=ZAHER

2024 2023

-~ ol 11 - 3 bl S =

RMB’000 RMB'000

AER®TT ARBETF T

Loans to third parties BTFEZAMER 374,866 324,916
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment of the loans & : B FX 0l (B 24 (3,749) (3,249)

Loans to third parties, net of provision BTE=ZAMERFE 371,117 321,667
Less: non-current portion W IEREE (130,255) (90,071)

Current portion RENER D 240,862 231,596

The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business,
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2023: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated
in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts.
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2024
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The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the majority of the loans were in stage 1
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years.

Contract liabilities

During the Reporting Period, as of 31 December 2024, the Group’s
contract liabilities amounted to approximately RMB3,723,569,000. The
corresponding contract liabilities as of 31 December 2023, were approximately
RMB3,176,589,000. The increase in contract liabilities during the year was
primarily due to the growth in the Group’s cloud subscription services business.

Liquidity, Financial, and Capital Resources

As of 31 December 2024, the Group recorded total cash and bank deposits of
RMB4,175,154,000 (31 December 2023: RMB5,692,651,000). As of 31 December
2024, the Group held asset management products amounting to RMB480,188,000
(31 December 2023: RMB6,000,000). The majority of the Group’s cash, bank
deposits, and asset management products are denominated in RMB, while the
portion denominated in foreign currencies had an RMB equivalent of approximately
RMB59,813,000 as of 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB284,646,000),
primarily denominated in USD and HKD.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets amounted to approximately
RMB152,296,000 (31 December 2023: RMB1,174,033,000). The current ratio of
current assets to current liabilities as of 31 December 2024, was approximately
1.03.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings amounted to RMB205,082,000
(31 December 2023: RMB776,900,000).

Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations primarily arises from borrowings.
Borrowings at floating interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk, while borrowings at fixed interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest
rate exposure. However, if necessary, the Group will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure.

$¢IL@£EE@M#%H 2 B E
FETOE KRYE=TEFETTEH
WF%E%%% EBEE-_ZT N+ A
=T -HMZZE_=F+_A=+—HNF
B RZHEFRERE —HER WEEMW
FHEREREEHRELEAZIL -

aeRAR

REHRN RZTEmF+=_A=+—81"

AEERNERE G HARES723569,0007T °
R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HENHELARA
B4 A AN RB3176589,000 - FRNAEREE
ENEZEERAEEETHRBERE R
FrE -

ﬁﬁmbg N Mﬁ&g*g:ﬁ

RZZB-MF+-—A=+—H AEBEEE
B MIRITF R AAEE AR #4,175,154,0007T (=
To=F+ZA=+—H: AKR¥5692651,000
) cR-E-WE+-_A=+—RH Fx&HE
FAEEEEREMAR480,188,0007T (—F
Z=F+ZA=+—8: AK#H6,0000005T) °
AEENRE ROFKRVEERERK
BOAAREIE MINEFHERIR -F
THEFZA=T-HENARBZEHRA
R#59813000L (Z T -_=F+_-_A=+—H":
AR #5284,646,0007T) © EELAETTRABTTAE ©

R-ZZE-_WMFE+-_A=Z+—H A£EH
mEBEEFBEDN A ARE52,296,0007T (==
—=ZF+=ZA=+—8: AR®¥1,174,033,000
) cRZEZWMF+_A=+—H RKHE
ELRESBENREILLEL 2103

RZE-_NF+—A=+—H AEEHE
KA ANRH205082000c (T -_=F+_A4
=+—8: AR¥776,900,0007C) °
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings at floating interest rates
amounted to RMB200,000,000 (2023: RMB776,900,000). If interest rates were
to increase/decrease by 50 basis points as of 31 December 2024, with all other
variables remaining constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31
December 2024, would increase/decrease by approximately RMB900,000 (2023:
increase/decrease by approximately RMB3,496,050).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
Group’s primary revenue is derived from operations in the People’s Republic of
China.

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk of loss due to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies during
the Group's operations may affect its financial position and operating results. The
Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from the exchange rates of USD to
RMB and HKD to RMB.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any derivative financial
instruments subject to hedge accounting policies.

As of 31 December 2024, if the RMB depreciates/appreciates by 5% against the
HKD, with all other factors remaining unchanged, the pre-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately RMB2,200,000 (2023: pre-tax loss
decrease/increase of approximately RMB7,463,000), primarily due to exchange
gains/losses from the translation of bank deposits and cash holdings denominated
in HKD.

As of 31 December 2024, if the RMB depreciates/appreciates by 5% against the
USD, with all other factors remaining unchanged, the pre-tax loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately RMB437,000 (2023: pre-tax loss
decrease/increase of approximately RMB6,693,000), primarily due to exchange
gains/losses from the translation of bank deposits and cash holdings denominated
in USD.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of
debt instruments measured at amortized cost, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss, deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, as well as customer credit risk, including outstanding
receivables.

To manage credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits,
short-term bank deposits, long-term bank deposits, and asset management
products (classified as financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss), the Group’s management engages only with state-owned or reputable
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

For accounts receivable and contract assets, the Group operates through two sales
channels: one involves sales to distributors, and the other involves direct sales to
end customers.

For sales to distributors, the Group evaluates the credit quality of distributors by
considering their financial condition, credit history, and other factors. Based on
the assessed credit quality, corresponding credit limits are set. Management also
implements monitoring procedures to ensure that distributors make purchases
within the approved credit limits.

For sales to end customers, as accounts receivable are highly fragmented
and distributed among a large number of consumers, the Group does not face
concentrated credit risk in its accounts receivable.

The Group’s debt instrument investments, including loans to third parties, are
classified as low-risk investments. To prevent credit deterioration, the credit ratings
of these investments are closely monitored.

For other receivables, management considers the likelihood of default at the initial
recognition of the assets and whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk on a continuous basis. The Company’s directors believe that there is
no material inherent credit risk in the outstanding balances of the Group’s other
receivables.
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Funds and Working Capital Management

The management of funds and liquidity is centrally handled by the Treasury
Department. The Treasury Department is generally responsible for the overall
management and implementation of funds, which includes formulating the Group’s
fund management policies, guiding, coordinating, and standardizing the fund
management of regional companies, establishing annual fund plans, reviewing
and summarizing annual capital budgets, as well as supervising and evaluating
the fund management of regional companies. The finance departments of regional
companies are committed to implementing the fund management policies
established by the headquarters and are responsible for formulating fund plans
and executing fund operations at the subsidiary level. The Group also adopts a
meticulous fund management policy and implements a set of fund management
rules and guidelines, such as the “Group Fund Basic Internal Control Management
Measures” and the “Branch Fund Settlement Management Measures,” to enhance
the effectiveness and efficiency of fund management. This ensures financial
security and reduces funding costs.

To manage idle cash in inventory, the Group purchases and redeems wealth
management products to create a “cash pool,” from which cash can be obtained
when needed, yielding higher returns than bank deposits. The financial assets
related to the wealth management products invested in by the Group mainly
include low-risk wealth management products issued by financial institutions.
The purchase amount will be determined based on surplus funds. The Group uses
the “Fund Wealth Management Measures” as the primary financial policy for fund
management. The Group’s process of purchasing wealth management products
and managing related departments consistently adheres to financial policies in
conducting business, accounting, and filing procedures.

The Group possesses sufficient solvency. Through a comprehensive, reasonable,
and professional evaluation mechanism, the Group has established annual and
monthly fund planning, along with a set of rigorous fund management principles,
enabling effective management of market risks.

In terms of budget management, the Group has established monthly, quarterly, and
annual budget management systems, which are subject to approval by the Chief
Financial Officer. Capital budget plans should be formulated based on the Group’s
business plans, project timelines, and contract payment terms to ensure accurate
alignment with actual business needs.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2024

ReREERaER

BEehnPEchHESERSR—BEE &
SERN-RABEESNEREEREMR
PARHITAEEESERBERE BE  HH
g AnEeEE HEFEESH
g A MEEFEEAEE BB NI
BRARELEIRE - HEQA M BER
NREREHFIENESERRR AERN
MEAREESEESFEMATESEE -
AEETRRBAECEERRELEE —E
BEeBEMRAUMES  PlI(EEE S £
NEERRR)E(D X HBECHEE RN
) MRS E S EERMBRLME - (i
RMBRZEMEDESKAE

RTEEEGFRERS AKEBENED
BMEMER2E] TEFERKFT G
He ERBRRTERSHKE AEER
EMEMERNEHCREEIZEESR
BEZETHERBIEMER BESESR
BRBKESET - ARENUCE B E IR
FMERBESEENTI MUK - A&H
BEEMERMEERRBEAFINT X EETT
X% gt MBRENBRE-BEETYBECE

AEEYNREZEANMBL 2 LT HER
REFMRSKENRBROAEEE ARR
MERMEN - BEE2E AEMNEENFE
BhHl - NREENEFEREAELHRE
BY-EBENESEERA AIRARE
B EE

BEERELTE ASEEEYEA B8FK
2FEEEREFE HERVBEEEHR &
ABEFBEEARAEBEMEEE - 1HAE
By R A KO SR I RT - DA B OR 2 fiE i



Principal Properties

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The table below provides a breakdown of the Group’s properties as of 31 December

FEME

TRERTAEEBZE T _NF+_-H

2024: =+ —RIFFEMENAD
Investment
Properties
Current Appraised
Property Name Location Usage Lease Term Value
BEEMR
MELR i uk BHAE WAEHR FHEE
RMB'000
ARBTTT
Beijing Kingdee Software Park. Fuxing 4th Street, Mapo Town, Shunyi District, Beijing, Office Long term 647,836
China.
It REREMHTE L R B S [ S 3% HE 18 B I PRE A
Shanghai Kingdee Software Park. No. 88, Chenhui Road, Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park, Office Long term 368,940
Pudong, Shanghai, China.
S BRHE FE EETERRL = EE RS PNE A
8857%
Shenzhen Kingdee Software Park No. 2, 12th Road, Keji South Road, Nanshan District, Office Long term 270,105
(Phase I). Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China.
I I E (—H) AP R R R I T L R R R BR 1288 25 FNES KA
Shenzhen Kingdee Cloud Building No. 2, 12th Road, Keji South Road, Nanshan District, Office Long term 828,370
(Phase II). Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China.
wI e HERE (ZH) A B R R I T A L R R R B 128K 25 ENES A
Shenzhen W1-B 4th Floor, W1 Building, Gaoxing Industrial Village, Office Long term 49,440
Keji South 1st Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, China.
wYIW1-B PEEREA)ITHLEMEE-KSHET HRAE 5
FENWIRRE % Y
2,164,691
Employee and Remuneration Policy & & & % i 3%
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total headcount was 12,149. The Group WA NEBE T ABUEI2149A - K&
adheres to the principles of “customer-centricity and long-term commitment to BEETRE AR - EHERSEE T |,

professionalism”, driving product innovation, strengthening comprehensive quality
management and process optimization, and strengthening a robust support system
for “organization, talent, culture, and leadership”.

The Group maintains a focus on “strivers-oriented, long-term adherence to
clarity and purity of heart”, actively recruits Al and internationalization leaders
and outstanding fresh graduates, encourages job rotations for managers and key
employees, and identifies and promotes business-driven and innovative talents
to enhance organizational vitality. The Group provides employees with diverse
training programs in professional skills and leadership development and has
adopted equity incentive plans to reward employee contributions. For details,
please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Report
and the sections on the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme in this
annual report.
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The Group’s remuneration policy is determined based on each employee’s
role responsibilities, performance, exceptional contributions, years of service,
and prevailing market conditions. When assessing compensation for directors
and senior management, the Company’s Remuneration Committee considers
factors such as salaries paid by peer companies, tenure, engagement level,
responsibilities, and individual performance (as applicable).

Social Responsibility

The Group actively fulfills its corporate social responsibilities and contributes to
sustainable development. During the Reporting Period, Kingdee was included in
the Sustainability Yearbook (China Edition) 2024 by S&P Global, retaining its
position as the highest-scoring Chinese software company in the S&P Global ESG
Score.

During the Reporting Period, Kingdee focused on research and educational
reforms in digital-intelligent finance and next-generation information technologies.
It collaborated with universities to launch 149 industry-academia collaborative
education programs and 53 industry-academia employment initiatives, jointly
cultivating digital talents. Partnering with 516 institutions, including Fudan
University, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Southeast University,
Sichuan University, and Central South University, Kingdee introduced 54 practical
digital competency courses, established 102 joint laboratories and training bases,
and provided digital learning and hands-on training services to over 40,000
students and 1,000+ university faculty members.

Through the Kingdee Digital Academy, the Group delivered digital transformation
training programs for senior executives such as CEOs and CIOs, with over 400
corporate leaders participating in 2024 to advance digitalization in Chinese
enterprises. Kingdee continued to support the China Management Model Awards
and the China Management Model 50+ Forum, sharing methodologies such
as the EBC architecture for large enterprises, the world-class human resource
management model, and the EBC growth framework for SMEs. By collaborating
with management scholars, entrepreneurs, and stakeholders, the Group drives
continuous progress in corporate governance.

Kingdee remains committed to philanthropy, organizing initiatives such as poverty
alleviation scholarships, voluntary blood donations, and urban environmental
campaigns. Key efforts include: Funding the 4th Kingdee Education Migration
Class under the Siyuan Fund Phase IV project, supporting underprivileged students
in Ya'an to complete high school and pursue their dreams; Mobilizing employees
for voluntary blood donation on World Blood Donor Day; Organizing eco-friendly
hiking events in cities like Shenzhen, Shanghai, Nanjing, Zhengzhou, Zhuhai, and
Hohhot on World Environment Day to advocate for environmental protection.

Outlook

The SaaS industry is undergoing a transformative restructuring, with a golden
decade now in full swing. Kingdee will execute full pivot into an Enterprise
Management Al company commencing 2025, leveraging its proprietary Cosmic
Al platform and rich scenario-based Al Agents to empower every enterprise in
cultivating new quality productive forces, and to bring phenomenal success to
enterprise customers, Kingdee partners and employees.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

XU Shao Chun (#& 2> ), aged 61, is the founder of the Group, chairman of the Board,
chief executive officer and the Government Special Allowance Expert awarded by the
State Council. Mr. XU graduated from the Southeast University in Computer Science and
obtained a Master of Accounting from the Research Institute for Fiscal Science, Ministry of
Finance (now known as the Chinese Academy of Fiscal Sciences) and an Executive Master
of Business Administration (EMBA) from China Europe International Business School (Ff
LB B2 T8 &3 F5%). Mr. XU is the President of the Shenzhen Accounting Association.
He has served as a member of each of the Ninth and Tenth Central Committee of the China
National Democratic Construction Association, a director of the China Siyuan Foundation
for Poverty Alleviation, the vice president of the China Software Industry Association. By
virtue of his profound understanding of corporate strategy and operational management,
forward-looking technological sense and keen insight on the development trends of the
global software industry, Mr. XU had been actively promoting the objective of “Enable the
Chinese management model to rise in the world”, and is committed to leading the Group
to become the world’s leading enterprise management cloud SaaS company. Owing to
his outstanding achievements in the implementation of this undertaking, Mr. XU was the
subject of numerous awards. He has been awarded the Special Contribution Award of the
“Management Science Award” of the 9th China Management Science Society, “Entrepreneur
of the Year 2023", “China Software Industry Meritorious Person Award”, the “World
Indigenous Entrepreneur Award of the United Nations”, “10 Outstanding Entrepreneur
Award”, “Outstanding Leader of China's Information Industry”, “30 Effective People who
Contributed to the Success of Shenzhen’s 3 Decades of Reform and Opening”, “Meritorious
Shenzhen Business Leaders who Contributed to the Success of Shenzhen's 4 Decades of
Reform and Opening”, “Shenzhen Science and Technology Innovation Mayor's Award”
and “ACCA Outstanding Achievement Award”. Mr. XU was an independent non-executive
director of Zero2IPO Holdings Inc. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1945) from December 2020 to June 2022.

LIN Bo (#F i), aged 51, has been an executive Director since 2016. Mr. LIN obtained a
bachelor's degree of Computer Science from Xiamen University. He is currently the chief
financial officer of the Company. After joining the Company in 1997, Mr. LIN has served as
the general manager of the Company in the Fujian Province Region, the general manager
of the Operation Management Department and the director of the Strategic Development
Department of the Group. Mr. LIN has extensive experience in strategic planning,
marketing management and financial management. Mr. LIN has been awarded the “Top 10
CFO in China of the year 2018”.
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Non-executive Directors

DONG Ming Zhu (= BA k), aged 70, has been a non-executive Director since 2012.
Ms. DONG obtained a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law. She is now the chairman of the board and President
of Gree Electric Appliances, Inc. of Zhuhai (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 000651). Ms. DONG had been elected as a member of each of
the 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress, a member of the 10th,
11th, 12th and 13th Executive Committee of All-China Women's Federation, a member
of the 13th Five-Year Plan Expert Committee of the National Development and Reform
Commission, a member of the Advisory Committee of the All-China Federation of Industry
and Commerce, a United Nations Ambassador for Sustainable Urban Development,
the first rotating chairperson of the UNDP Commission on Sustainable Development,
and Chairperson of the ISO/TC86/SC4. Ms. DONG has solid experience in marketing
and the management of household appliances, and the Regional Sales Model that she
developed has been commended as an “Excellent Achievement of Modernizing Enterprises’
Management of Guangdong Province”. Ms. DONG has been dedicated to creating local
Chinese brands and was awarded the “National Model Worker”, “National May 1st
Labor Medal”, “National March 8th Red Banner Pacesetter”, China Patent Gold Award,
the Third China Quality Award, Liu Yuanzhang Quality Technology Contribution Award,
Fudan University Qutstanding Contribution to Enterprise Management Award, Top 10
Management Innovation Leaders Practitioners of Tsinghua Business Review in 2018, and
“China Outstanding Individual for Quality (National Individual Quality Award)”, Nomination
Award for the 4th China Quality Award, Outstanding Contribution Award of China Standard
Innovation Contribution Award, and other honors and titles, and has been selected by
CCTV as “Economic Personality of the Year” three times.
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Gary Clark BIDDLE (& E& #8), aged 73, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 2004, and has been re-designated as a non-executive Director since 31
December 2021. Mr. BIDDLE is the Professor of Financial Accounting at the University
of Melbourne and visiting professor at Columbia University, the University of Hong Kong
(“HKU") and London Business School. Mr. BIDDLE earned his MBA and PhD degrees
at the University of Chicago. He previously served as a professor at the University of
Chicago, the University of Washington, The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (“HKUST”) and HKU, and as a visiting professor at China Europe International
Business School (China), Fudan University (China), University of Glasgow (UK),
International Institute for Management Development (IMD) (Switzerland) and Skolkovo
Business School (Russia). Regarding academic leadership, Mr. BIDDLE served as the
Dean and Chair Professor at HKU, and as the Academic Dean, Department Head, Council
member, Court member, Senate member and Chair Professor at HKUST. Professionally, he
is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), Australian
Institute of Company Directors, CPA Australia and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. BIDDLE is a member of the American Accounting Association
Executive Board, and as a Vice-President and Invited President-Elect Candidate, and a
member of each of the Accounting Hall of Fame Selection Committee, Financial Reporting
Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong, HKICPA Council,
Accreditation and Financial Reporting Standards Committees of HKICPA, and Hong Kong
Institute of Directors Training Committee; and as the President and co-founding Council
Member of the Hong Kong Academic Accounting Association. Mr. BIDDLE is a leading
expert in financial and management accounting, value creation, economic forecasting,
corporate governance and performance metrics. Mr. BIDDLE is currently an independent
non-executive director of Shui On Land Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0272).

Independent non-executive Directors

ZHOU Jun Xiang (B %), aged 59, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 31 December 2021. Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor’s degree in computer science
from Wuhan University in 1986 and a master's degree in accounting from the Chinese
Academy of Fiscal Sciences of the Ministry of Finance in 1989. In addition, Mr. ZHOU
obtained the certificates of each of Chinese Certified Public Accountant and Chinese
Certified Asset Appraiser. Mr. ZHOU is a managing partner of Beijing Dehao International
Certified Public Accountants (Limited Liability Partnership), and served as a partner of
Dahua Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership) and BDO China Shu
Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP. Mr. ZHOU is also a member of each of the
Expert Group and Review Committee of Shenzhen Municipal Government Guidance Fund,
Shenzhen Municipal Government Stable Fund and Shenzhen Angel FOF. Mr. ZHOU is
currently an independent director of each of Suntak Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002815), Shenzhen Institute of Building
Research Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300675) and Shenzhen Kaifa Technology Go., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 000021). In addition, Mr. ZHOU was an independent director
of Shenzhen Fangzhi Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 300235) from September 2018 to April 2023.
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Katherine Rong XIN, aged 61, has been an independent non-executive Director since
31 December 2021. Ms. XIN received a master’s degree in applied linguistics from the
Graduate University of Chinese Academy of Sciences (FF B2 & 25 £ 75 4 Fe) in July
1986, and a master's degree in business administration (MBA) from the California State
University in June 1991. She obtained a doctor's degree in business administration from
the University of California in June 1995. Ms. XIN has been a professor of management
since September 2001 at the China Europe International Business School (7P [B1 B B
T 7 2B). She served as an assistant professor of management at the University of
Southern California from September 1995 to August 1999. She served as an associate
professor of management at HKUST from September 1999 to August 2001, and as a
professor of management in the International Institute for Management Development (IMD),
Lausanne, Switzerland from August 2006 to December 2009. Ms. XIN was awarded the
Chinese Most Cited Researchers by Elsevier, a global provider of scientific, technical, and
medical information, for ten consecutive years from 2014 to 2024. Ms. XIN is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of Horizon Robotics (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9660), Fosun Tourism Group (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1992), EuroEyes International
Eye Clinic Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1846) and Landsea Green Life Service Company Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1965). Ms. XIN served as an independent
director of Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300750) from November 2022 to December 2024.

BO Lian Ming (3&3E BB), aged 61, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 30 December 2022. Mr. BO obtained a PhD in Management from Xi‘an Jiaotong
University in 2006. Mr. BO is the founder and chief enterprise growth designer of Shenzhen
Mingwei Management Consulting Co., Ltd. Mr. BO served as a chief accountant of
Shenzhen Airlines Co., Limited from 1993 to 2000; successively served as vice president,
president and executive director of TCL Technology Group Corporation (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 000100), from 2000 to 2018, and served as
executive director, chief executive officer and the chairman of the board of TCL Electronics
Holdings Limited (formerly named as TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1070) from 2010
to 2018. He was the general manager and director of Appotronics Corporation Limited,
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 688007) from 2018 to
2022 (including as director from 18 July 2018 to 11 March 2022). Mr. BO is currently
a representative of the Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress, an executive dean of the
College of Industry-Entrepreneurs of Xi‘an Jiaotong-Liverpool University, a practical
distinguished professor of the National School of Development of Peking University,
a distinguished professor of management practice of the HSBC Business Schoal of
Peking University, and a member of the Federation of Shenzhen Commerce, Professor
of Management Practice at the School of Business of National University of Singapore
and Distinguished Professor of the HEC Management School of the University of Liege,
Belgium. Mr. BO served as an independent director of Shenzhen SFC Holdings Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 301558) from December
2023 to December 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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COMPANY SECRETARY

SIU Man Ho, Simon (&& 3 ), aged 51, joined the Company in 2019 and is a
practicing solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws
degree from HKU in 1996 and is a partner of Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum. Mr. SIU is also
a China Appointed Attesting Officer appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC.
His areas of practice include corporate finance, capital markets, securities, mergers and
acquisitions, joint ventures and general commercial matters. He also actively participates
in charitable and social services in Hong Kong. He was previously appointed as the
director of Hong Kong Pok Qi Hospital. He is currently acting as the legal adviser for
United Hearts Youth Foundation and VQ Foundation as well as the school manager of The
Association of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Leung Sing Tak College.
He is also the member of the Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in Yangjiang City of Guangdong Province, the PRC. Mr. SIU is currently an
independent non-executive director of each of Litu Holdings Limited (stock code: 1008)
and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), which are all listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun
Holdings Limited (a company which was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
from October 2007 to August 2023 and served as an independent non-executive director
of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 0897) from August 2001 to November 2024.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

XU Shao Chun (& &%), chief executive officer of the Company — see the paragraph
under “Executive Directors” above.

LIN Bo (#kik), chief financial officer of the Company — see the paragraph under “Executive
Directors” above.

ZHANG Yong (Z B8), aged 49, is the president of Kingdee International and Kingdee
China. Mr. ZHANG graduated from China Europe International Business School (R BX
% T 5 22P5%). After joining the Group in 1995, he has served as General Manager of
Shanghai Branch and General Manager of East China Region successively. Mr. ZHANG
has played vital roles in the marketing and marketing management, etc. Therefore, he has
rich experience in marketing and team management. Mr. ZHANG is one of the “Second
Session IT Youth Top Ten New Talent in Shanghai”, one of the “Fifth Session Top Ten
QOutstanding Youth in Putuo District”, and one of the “2008 Shanghai Information Service
Industry Leaders”. Also, he was once a member of the Standing Committee of the 12th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Putuo District, Shanghai, and vice
president of Shanghai Informatization Youth Talent Association.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Reporting Period.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations

Shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 0268) and the Company is headquartered
in Shenzhen, PRC. Adhering to the core values of “acting in all conscience, with integrity
and righteousness”, the Company’s mission is to “Empower every enterprise to achieve
phenomenal success”. It strives to become “the most trusted corporate service platform”.
Through persistent efforts to explore China’s Cloud enterprise services market, according
to IDC reports, Kingdee has retained the largest share in the enterprise application software
sector for fast-growing enterprises for 20 consecutive years, and has grasped the biggest
share in the enterprise-application SaaS ERM (as known as Cloud ERP) services industry
for the sixth consecutive year.

Many cloud service products of Kingdee have won the favor of benchmark enterprises,
which included Kingdee Cloud Cosmic (Enterprise-level Al Platform), Kingdee Cloud
Constellation (SaaS solution for large-sized enterprises), Kingdee Cloud-Galaxy (SaaS
solution for medium-sized enterprises) and Kingdee Cloud Stellar (SaaS solution for micro
and small enterprises). Kingdee has provided digital management solutions for more than
7.4 million enterprises, governments and other organizations around the world.

The revenue and loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Reporting Period
were approximately RMB6,255,684,000 and approximately RMB142,068,000, respectively.
Of such revenue, approximately 18.4% was derived from the sales of the ERP business
and others and approximately 81.6% was derived from the Cloud services business. For
details, please refer to the consolidated income statement set out on page 86.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the Reporting Period as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”),
including (i) a discussion of the principal business risks and uncertainties facing the
Group; (ii) an indication of likely future developments of the Group’s business; (iii) key
financial performance indicators of the development, performance and position of the
Group’s business; and (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance and the Group’s compliance with the laws and regulations having significant
impact on the Group’s business are provided in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section, on pages 16 to 26 of this annual report, Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements and the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report published
online at the same time of this annual report.
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Results and Final Dividend

The performance for the Reporting Period is set out in the consolidated income statement
on page 86.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future business growth. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the
Group’s financial results and cashflow, its Shareholders’ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirements,
taxation considerations, statutory and regulatory restrictions, and any other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

The recommendation of the payment of dividend is subject to the determination of the
Board, and any declaration of final dividend for the year will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rule and regulations,
and the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

The Board does not recommend the declaration and payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 16 May 2025 to
Thursday, 22 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during which periods no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend, participate in and vote at the annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) to be held on Thursday, 22 May 2025, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712—1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15 May 2025.

Bank Borrowings

Details of bank loans and other borrowings for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable reserves to its Shareholders
amounting to RMB6,027,545,000 (2023: RMB6,428,683,000). Details of movements in
the reserves of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 89 of this annual report.
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Donations

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to
approximately RMB2,313,757 (2023: RMB300,000).

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

Fixed Assets

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interests of the Directors in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” and
“Related Party Transactions” in this annual report, no Director or an entity connected with
a Director has or had a material direct or indirect interest in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the Group’s business for the Reporting Period in which the
Group was a party.

Please also refer to Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements for other details.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands
or the Articles of Association, which would oblige the Company to issue new shares to its
existing Shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings.

Major Properties

Details of the principal properties held for development and/or sale and for investment
purposes are set out on page 25 of this annual report.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to its Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
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Share Capital and Options BS 2 % B Bs: 48

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. 1,972,500 Shares
with an aggregate nominal value of HK$49,312.5 were issued during the Reporting
Period as a result of the exercise of share options. The Company had received
HK$7,846,450 in total from such issuances. Details about the issue of Shares are
also set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the section headed
“Share Option Schemes” in this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Purchase

During the Reporting Period, the Company purchased 21,321,000 Shares on the
Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$179,711,160

pursuant to the share award scheme as adopted by the Company on 4 December
2015 (the “2015 Share Award Scheme”).
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Repurchase of Shares o1 8 B% {5
During the Reporting Period, the Company had repurchased the following shares WEEA - ARFRBRAEBRRM T

on the Stock Exchange:

Number
of Shares Highest Lowest Aggregate
Trading day repurchased Price Paid Price Paid Price Paid
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
x5H ElfERR 8 E SRESE SRRERE Mz HER
BT BT BT
8/1/2024 1,839,000 10.08 10.02 18,548,874.55
9/1/2024 500,000 10.02 10.02 5,020,545.86
10/1/2024 1,287,000 10.02 9.83 12,872,773.79
17/1/2024 942,000 9.9 9.7 9,250,948.29
18/1/2024 3,000,000 9.6 9.46 28,597,802.95
19/1/2024 745,000 9.43 9.3 7,027,071.40
22/1/2024 12,000,000 9 8.38 102,939,131.36
23/1/2024 100,000 9.05 9.05 906,905.03
25/1/2024 100,000 9.2 9.2 921,936.60
26/1/2024 2,220,000 8.85 8.76 19,631,036.25
29/1/2024 1,907,000 8.63 8.54 16,417,188.48
30/1/2024 1,200,000 8.2 8.08 9,834,713.35
31/1/2024 3,300,000 7.9 75 25,496,449.98
2/2/2024 200,000 7.6 76 1,523,199.60
5/2/2024 4,378,000 7.63 7.33 32,812,402.27
7/2/2024 3,077,000 791 7.74 24,199,491.71
9/2/2024 1,900,000 7.7 755 14,557,960.41
28/3/2024 1,700,000 8.91 8.8 15,090,879.43
3/4/2024 100,000 8.9 8.89 891,633.18
11/4/2024 100,000 8.2 8.2 821,726.10
16/4/2024 975,000 797 79 7,739,704.00
17/4/2024 1,000,000 7.8 7.75 7,794,247.05
19/4/2024 1,000,000 7.49 721 7,321,052.71
25/4/2024 200,000 7.87 7.87 1,577,313.27
8/5/2024 200,000 8.83 8.83 1,769,717.43
24/5/2024 497,000 8.2 8.2 4,083,979.32
28/5/2024 200,000 8.3 8.28 1,660,789.32
29/5/2024 200,000 8.13 8.13 1,629,422.73
31/5/2024 200,000 8 8 1,603,368.00
3/6/2024 200,000 7.87 7.87 1,577,313.27
7/6/2024 300,000 797 797 2,396,033.06
12/6/2024 200,000 7.93 7.93 1,589,338.53
14/6/2024 200,000 7.7 7.7 1,543,241.70
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Number
of Shares Highest Lowest Aggregate
Trading day repurchased Price Paid Price Paid Price Paid
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
x5H EfER 8 E SRESE SREERE M3 HEE
BT BT BT
17/6/2024 200,000 78 78 1,563,283.80
20/6/2024 309,000 7.7 7.55 2,367,924.06
24/6/2024 200,000 7.37 7.37 1,477,102.77
27/6/2024 200,000 7.31 7.31 1,465,077.51
2/7/2024 200,000 7.25 7.25 1,453,052.25
11/7/2024 230,000 1.72 7.7 1,777,775.31
20/8/2024 1,351,000 591 5.75 7,843,550.44
21/8/2024 600,000 5.6 56 3,360,000.00
22/8/2024 1,323,000 5.6 557 7,385,970.00
23/8/2024 1,416,000 5.87 559 8,158,080.00
26/8/2024 437,000 6.06 6 2,636,220.00
27/8/2024 500,000 6.09 6.05 3,040,630.00
28/8/2024 4,700,000 5.98 5.88 27,866,460.00
29/8/2024 1,000,000 5.88 5.84 5,866,070.00
30/8/2024 2,000,000 6.22 6.11 12,401,410.00
2/9/2024 1,700,000 6.07 5.94 10,178,040.00
3/9/2024 500,000 6.1 6.09 3,049,130.00
4/9/2024 1,400,000 6.05 597 8,415,260.00
9/9/2024 2,466,000 6.13 597 14,891,450.00
10/9/2024 2,200,000 6.1 5.85 13,113,980.00
11/9/2024 737,000 6 59 4,405,200.00
12/9/2024 2,300,000 6 5.85 13,688,290.00
13/9/2024 3,700,000 5.98 58 21,782,660.00
16/9/2024 4,000,000 5.46 5.4 21,756,500.00
17/9/2024 500,000 54 53 2,670,000.00
19/9/2024 1,000,000 5.5 55 5,500,000.00
Total 81,136,000 597,761,307
&&F

38,695,000, 8,611,000 and 33,830,000 of the above repurchased Shares were cancelled 4l [B] B A% 15+ #938,695,0000% - 8,611,0000% &

on 23 February 2024, 18 July 2024 and 24 February 2025, respectively. 33,830,000k P RN T -—MF_A=+=H ==&
—HHFELATNBRERZE-_AFE A -+ B T

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had  BRIA_FFTIREESN » KA RIS EIM FARIMEES -
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities. HE KB AR GHER LT ESH o
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Share Option Schemes

The share option schemes were adopted by the Company to encourage and reward the
contribution of eligible persons to the Company. Eligible persons include employees,
directors, partners, consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Scheme”) and the adjustment made due to the bonus
issue and the refreshment on the scheme limit in 2011, an aggregate of 529,501,600
share options were granted, of which 323,426,693 share options were exercised and
206,074,907 share options lapsed since its adoption. Thus, no share options remained
outstanding as at 31 December 2024.

At the AGM of the Company convened on 8 May 2015, the Company terminated the 2005
Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015 Scheme”) with a validity
period of ten years. The 2015 Scheme will expire in May 2025. As at 31 December 2024,
2,953,500 share options remained outstanding. According to the scheme mandate limit of
the 2015 Scheme (being 259,264,096 share options), less the 40,000,000 share options
granted by the Company and plus 12,045,000 lapsed share options since the adoption,
the Company may further grant 231,309,096 share options as of 31 December 2024 (as of
1 January 2024: 228,409,096). Hence, the number of Shares available for issue under the
2015 Scheme is 234,262,596, representing approximately 6.60% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon the exercise of the share options granted
under the 2015 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding share options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The grant of any share option to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of grant and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the shares of the Company as at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the issue of a circular by the Company
and the approval of the Shareholders in advance at a general meeting. The grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from voting at
such general meeting.
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A non-refundable nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of a share option. The validity period of a share option may not end later than
ten (10) years from the date of grant. The terms of the 2015 Scheme do not specify the
period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee or the vesting period,
but specify that the Board may, at their absolute discretion, fix the period within which a
share option may be exercised, the vesting period, any performance targets that must be
achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the share options can be
exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determined by the Board, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Details of the movements of the share options pursuant to the 2005 Scheme and the 2015

AEBRANERRBRER AN TIRENEER
E100ETT - BRENERATBEBRTRHHR
B H(10)F - —FT— A FFFEERFARAEAR AT
TEBRENHRAFEN EPRRRETERES
AEEEEITEBRENDR  BEMS  BAED
MEMKRRBR  URETEBRENLATEDN
LAV E A IGRAF ©

BREZTEERESTIET  EMSERTII=
EzmReE (BOHRRLER (BWEARXSH)HE
BRXABRMEBRAINZETE : (IROHRERER
HE AR AERS A EBIAE A RERAIZF
BUYTE ¢ R 2 miE e

BEHARE_ZSTRFEEEAE R T -1F

Scheme during the Reporting Period are as follows: BB SNBSS FEOT ¢
Closing
Options  price of the Options Options
Options granted Options  exercised lapsed Options
Exercise ~ heldat31  duringthe immediately  duringthe  duringthe  held at 31
Exercise price per ~ December  Reporting  heforethe  Reporting  Reporting  December
Date of grant  period share 2023 Period date of grant Period Period 2024
(Note 1) (HKD)
B® R®
- o REER —ZCmE
+ZR  ®EHA  BEAE #EHA  BEER +=A
=t+-H2 e ZHily e KuE =t-HZ
Category of participants ~ 2HEER JREHAK  TEH fTHRER WEENE BEEBE BTES BRERE HERENE WEESE
(&) (#7)
Employees &8 23[04/2014 23/04/2014T0 266 1,485,000 - 256 632,500 852,500 0
22/0412024
120052015 12/05/201570 46 7,193,500 - 475 1,340,000 2,900,000 2,953,500
11/05/2025
TOTAL &t 8,678,500 1,972,500 3,752,500 2,953,500

T CUFFR

SRERRGFERERAT 39



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

Notes:

(1) The vesting period of the share options granted was four (4) years, and all of the options
had been vested.

(2) The weighted average closing price prior to exercise of share options by the employees
of the Group was approximately HK$8.77.

(3) During the Reporting Period, no share option was cancelled.

For further details, please refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
Share Award Schemes
2015 Share Award Scheme

The 2015 Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Company on 4 December 2015 to
provide incentives and reward the contributions of key employees and Directors of the
Group. The 2015 Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the adoption date and it has been terminated on 21 January 2025.
No further award Shares can be granted under the 2015 Share Award Scheme. Prior to
its termination, the Board may, from time to time, in its absolute discretion select the
participants, including (i) employees (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive director), consultants or advisers of or to the Group, and (ii) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Group, after taking into
account various factors as they deem appropriate and determine the number of award
shares to be awarded to each of the selected participants.

The award Shares will comprise Shares subscribed for or purchased by the trustee out of
cash arranged by the Company out of the Company’s funds to the trustee and be held on
trust for the selected participants until such Shares are vested with the selected participants
in accordance with the provisions of the 2015 Share Award Scheme. As at the date of this
annual report, the award Shares granted under the 2015 Share Award Scheme involve only
existing Shares. No consideration is required to be paid for the acceptance or vesting of
the award shares.

The terms of the 2015 Share Award Scheme do not specify (i) any period for an award to
be vested; (ii) any amount required to be paid on acceptance of an award nor the payment
period; and (iii) any basis of determining the purchase price (if any) of award Shares.
A selected participant shall be entitled to receive the award Shares held by the trustee
appointed by the Company for the purpose of the 2015 Share Award Scheme in accordance
with the vesting schedule upon satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions specified
by the Board in the offer of the grant of the relevant award Shares.
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The Board shall not make any award of award Shares which will result in the nominal value
of the Shares awarded by the Board under the 2015 Share Award Scheme exceeding 3% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time (106,427,663 Shares as at the
date of this annual report). For the avoidance of doubt, the 3% limit provided above shall
exclude any Shares which have been vested. The maximum number of Shares which may
be awarded to a selected participant under the 2015 Share Award Scheme in any twelve
(12)-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

For details of the 2015 Share Award Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 18 December 2015.

2025 Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted a new share award scheme on 21 January 2025 (the “2025 Share
Award Scheme”), to provide incentives and reward the contributions of key employees,
directors and external professional consultants of the Group. The 2025 Share Award
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the adoption
date. The remaining life of the 2025 Share Award Scheme as at the date of this annual
report is approximately 9 years and 10 months. The Board may, from time to time, in its
absolute discretion select the participants, including (i) employees (whether full-time or
part-time and including any executive director), (i) any non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Group, and (iii) any external professional
consultant who provides strategic planning or guidance to any member of the Group in
various area of business or business development, after taking into factors as it deems
appropriate and grant such number of award Shares to any selected participant.

The Company may cause to be paid to the trust (from which award Shares may be granted
to selected participants) cash from the Group’s internal resources for the purchase of
award Shares on the market by the trustee, and/or instruct the trustee to accept the transfer
of Shares from any Shareholders or any designated party of the Company. Once purchased
or transferred, the Shares are to be held by the trustee for the benefit of the selected
participants and subject to the terms and conditions of the scheme. The 2025 Share Award
Scheme will be funded solely by existing Shares. No consideration is required to be paid
for the acceptance or vesting of the award shares.

The terms of the 2025 Share Award Scheme do not specify (i) any period for an award to
be vested; (ii) any amount required to be paid on acceptance of an award nor the payment
period; and (iii) any basis of determining the purchase price (if any) of award Shares.
A selected participant shall be entitled to receive the award Shares held by the trustee
appointed by the Company for the purpose of the 2025 Share Award Scheme in accordance
with the vesting schedule upon satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions specified
by the Board in the offer of the grant of the relevant award Shares.
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The Board shall not make any award of award Shares which will result in the number of
Shares awarded by the Board under the 2025 Share Award Scheme exceeding 5% of the
total number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares) as at the date of adoption of
the scheme (i.e. 179,301,213 Shares). For the avoidance of doubt, the 5% limit provided
above shall exclude any award Shares that have lapsed. The maximum number of Shares
which may be awarded to a selected participant under the 2025 Share Award Scheme in
any twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue
(excluding treasury Shares).

For details of the 2025 Share Award Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 24 January 2025.

The number of award Shares available for grant under the 2015 Share Award Scheme at the
beginning of the Reporting Period was 88,942,233 and at the end of the Reporting Period
was 83,054,853. During the Reporting Period, the Company had granted 13,741,200

[T
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award Shares pursuant to the 2015 Share Award Scheme, with details of the movements of ~ H113,741,2008% 52 Eh A% 15 - SR &5 ER eV SR @D AR 1) B 8D ¢
the award shares during the Reporting Period as follows: BT
Number of Closing price Number of
Award Shares of the Shares Award Shares
notyetvested as  Granted during immediately ~ Vested during  Lapsed during not yet vested as
at 31 December  the Reporting hefore the date  the Reporting  the Reporting at 31 December
Date of grant 2023 Period of grant Period Period 2024
ES HES
k- Sl —BmE
Name or the +ZB=+- RERD +ZHB=1+-
categories MaN HRkREH BEN SHAMZwW wEM WEY HAXRBELSH
of the grantee 2HEER e Edh BmEnBE ARl  ERTHEE hRE REN BEEROHE
Directors £
Xu Shao Chun "oE 26/8/2020 75,000 - 1820 75,000 - -
20/5/2021 100,000 - 26.05 50,000 - 50,000
28/3/2022 112,500 - 16.74 37,500 - 75,000
20/3/2023 100,000 - 16.30 25,000 - 75,000
Sub-total it 387,500 - 187,500 - 200,000
LinBo W 26/8/2020 62,500 - 1820 62,500 - -
20/5/2021 75,000 - 26.05 37,500 - 37,500
28/3/2022 112,500 - 16.74 37,500 - 75,000
20/3/2023 100,000 - 16.30 25,000 - 75,000
08/5/2024 - 150,000 9.21 - - 150,000
Sub-total It 350,000 150,000 162,500 - 337,500
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Number of Closing price Number of
Award Shares of the Shares Award Shares
notyetvestedas  Granted during immediately ~ Vested during  Lapsed during not yet vested as
at 31 December  the Reporting  before the date  the Reporting  the Reporting at 31 December
Date of grant 2023 Period of grant Period Period 2024
BE #E
—®-= LA
Name or the +ZRA=+- RREM +ZRA=+-
categories £ HRKEBMH HER BHAMZE HEH BEH HRAXEEM
of the grantee $HZEY  BTFAY BBRANE MEH  HRTEE BB h%N BRBRONE
Thefive highestpaid & Bl = 19/3/2020 125,000 - 8.44 125,000 - -
individuals 58 At
13/4/2021 285,000 N 23.70 142,500 - 142,500
21/3/2022 427500 - 16.38 142,500 - 285,000
31/5/2023 1,670,000 - 10.56 667,500 500,000 502,500
19/412024 - 4,570,000 1.12 - - 4,570,000
Sub-total Uiy 2,507,500 4,570,000 1,077,500 500,000 5,500,000
Other employees HitlES 19/3/2020 2,398,750 - 8.44 2,042,750 356,000 -
12/11/2020 47,075 - 230 32,075 15,000 -
13/4/2021 2,682,250 - 23.70 1,106,375 230,500 1,345,375
6/12/2021 480,000 - 2210 185,000 55,000 240,000
21/3/2022 4,678,125 - 16.38 1,425,625 133,750 3,118,750
28/11/2022 150,000 - 12.52 50,000 - 100,000
31/5/2023 6,127,000 - 10.56 1,545,375 61375 4,520,250
5/10/2023 190,000 - 8.92 47500 - 142,500
19/04/2024 - 7,661,280 .12 - - 7,661,280
03/06/2024 - 440,000 8.00 - - 440,000
16/09/2024 N 100,000 542 - - 100,000
17/12/2024 - 819,920 9.03 - - 819,920
Sub-total it 16,753,200 9,021,200 6,434,700 851,625 18,488,075
Total &kt 19,998,200 13,741,200 7,862,200 1,351,625 24,525,575
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(1) The vesting period of the award shares is four (4) years.

2) No consideration is required to be paid for the acceptance or vesting of the award
shares.

(3) For the award shares granted in 2024, the Company used the market price of the Shares
at the respective grant date as the basis for fair value measurement and had incorporated
the expected dividends into the measurement of fair value. Further details of determining
the fair value of the award shares are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(4) The weighted average closing price of the Shares was approximately HK$8.47
immediately before the date of 30 April 2024 of the vesting of the award shares onto Mr.
Xu Shao Chun, Mr. Lin Bo, the five highest paid individuals and other employees during
the Reporting Period.

(5) Performance targets for each grant include the Company’s financial performance
indicators and the individual performance indicators of the selected participants.

(6) During the Reporting Period, no award share was cancelled.

During the Reporting Period, the number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all share schemes of the Company, including the 2005
Scheme, 2015 Scheme and the 2015 Share Award Scheme, divided by the weighted
average number of Shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding treasury Shares) for the
Reporting Period is 0%, as no option was granted during the Reporting Period, and the
award Shares granted thus far relate to existing Shares only.

Since 1 January 2024, unless separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and such eligible participant’s close associates
(with the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules) (or such eligible participant’s
associates if such eligible participant is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting), no eligible participant shall be granted a share option or award if such
grant will result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
share options and awards granted (excluding any lapsed share options and awards) to
such eligible participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant would in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of issued Shares. The maximum
number of Shares which may be awarded to a Director in any twelve (12)-month period
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued Share capital from time to time. Any award of Shares
to a Director in excess of 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company is subject to the
issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of the Shareholders of the Company in
advance at a general meeting. The Director, his/her associates and all other core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting at such general meeting.

For further details, please refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity-linked agreement
2023 subscription of new Shares

On 10 December 2023, the Company and Al-Rayyan Holdings LLC (the “Subscriber”)
entered into the subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Subscriber subscribed for 154,627,000 new Shares (the “Subscription Shares”) at the
price of HK$10.10 per Subscription Share (the “Subscription Price”) under the general
mandate granted to the Board at the AGM held on 18 May 2023 (the “Subscription”).

The Company completed the Subscription on 14 December 2023. The Subscription Price
was determined on an arm's length basis between the Company and the Subscriber with
reference to the then prevailing market price of the Shares. The closing price per Share on
8 December 2023 as quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$10.38, being the trading date
preceding the date of signing of the Subscription Agreement. The aggregate nominal value
of the Subscription Shares is HK$3,865,675. The Directors considered the reasons for the
Subscription were that the Subscription would further support the Company’s international
strategy and optimize the capital structure of the Company, and the Subscription is in
the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. The gross proceeds and
net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses) from the Subscription
amounted to HK$1,561,732,700 and approximately HK$1,560,982,700, respectively. The
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net price per Subscription Share was approximately HK$10.095. The intended and actual ¢ -i—f A=T—HNRENKREERRAENT
use of proceeds from the Subscription up to 31 December 2024 are set out as follows:
Proceeds Proceeds Unutilized
utilized during utilized up to fundsasat  Expected timeline
Proceeds from the Reporting 31 December 31 December  for utilizing
the Subscription Period 2024 2024  unutilized funds
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000  (Note)
8E BE
—EmE —E-mE
HEMRBER +ZA=+—H +-A=+—H *EAHLE
wEka WeEE CHEANSE HXERANSE FHEEARMEE
BABTTR ATTR BTTR BETTRET (&)
Potential capital market ~ BEEATERH 1,248,786 900,318 900,318 348468  December 2025
transactions (80.0%) (80.0%) 2025512 A
General operation and —BEER 312,197 224,298 312,197 0 -
working capital 2EES
(20.0%) (20.0%)

Note: The expected timeline for utilizing the unutilized funds is based on the best estimation of
the future market conditions made by the Group. It may be subject to change based on
the current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, there was no equity-linked agreement being entered into during
the Reporting Period or subsisting at the end of the Reporting Period.
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Directors £

The composition of the Board during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual ~ SREFIRAREEARFRTIEBE - EFSAKMT
report is as follows:

Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) BOEXRE(BEECXERERHTE)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WESTE(BRMBE)
Non-executive Directors FEMITES

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu EHKLZ T

Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle%t &=

Independent non-executive Directors BIAFERITES

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang AL E

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz &=

Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEER A

According to the Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once  RIEZR BUEFTREZLVEBE=FHESE— X

every three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-lection at the AGM inthat ~ FTERATEFTHAERNEFRRBF RS LEE

year. At the forthcoming AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms. Dong Ming ~ 3&{f - REERRBGERE =L EE - BRI HF

Zhu and Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang shall retire by rotation and be eligible for re-election. Sk ERRXTRAEFESESRESRIEGE
T PER AT o

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-election at the forthcoming BN R EERERAEASREINIEREENEET -
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which 5 £ £ AKX &) 8k B E{A] MY B & ) 5T 32 % K ) B 9 AR
is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory ~ 1  ZEE —ERN T K IEM A TEE O
compensation. TERSERRIN) o

The Company received a written confirmation from each independent non-executive 1R 45 E R BIEE3 13015 - R AR B WEI SR B IF

Director of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The ~ #ITEERRHBIY U7 EEMHER - AR FRAEE
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent. ARV IENTEETEBELAL -
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kang) (the “SFQ”)), which will be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3

EFEREEITHRARREKG - HHREKG
BRRGFHERRRE

R-Z-MNFE+-_A=+—HB ARAZLEFR
BRRITRABEARRINEREER (EER(ES
KRG IRGI(EBEGIENE) ([EF REBEE )
SEXVER ) MR - IRRER D KB E T B R
BESMABGROIEXVED ETRSENREF 28
HMARBME BB RBEESF LG ERDIE
NGFHRERAEFE 2B LM LsE SRR EHR
AIFERC3 2 EM R RIEFEITEF R ZHIRESTA)
(MEEESP A W R EF 2B AA R B ME BB

to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions/short positions in shares/underlying shares of the

Company

ZREBBORBT

FAFIHE KB HRARGRZES

Number of shares/
underlying shares

Percentage of
total number of
issued shares

(where appropriate)  Capacity (approximate)
B3, 1R HERTERE
Name of Directors EENS KA (nER) #akH" bor=R2 014
Xu Shao Chun ®rILHE 682,198,624(L) Interests of controlled corporation (Note 1)
REER AT 2 = (1)
200,000(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 2)
FrEXm A (f5E2)
20,905,065(L)  Beneficial owner
BEHEEA
Aggregate: = 703,303,689 19.61%
Lin Bo MO 1,770127(L)  Beneficial owner
EnEAA
337,500(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 3)
Ert2 = A (MEE3)
Aggregate: &5 2,107,627 0.06%
Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle 1,230,000(L)  Beneficial owner
EmEA A
Aggregate: &5 1,230,000 0.03%
Dong Ming Zhu EHIK 400,000(L)  Beneficial owner
EHEEA
Aggregate: A 400,000 0.01%
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Notes:

The percentage of the total number of issued Shares was calculated by the number of the
aforesaid interests divided by the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 of
3,586,014,271.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, 386,312,000 shares were held through Oriental Tao Limited
and 295,886,624 shares were held through Billion Tao Limited. Easy Key Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Xu Shao Chun, which wholly owns Oriental Tao Limited
and Billion Tao Limited. Therefore, Mr. Xu Shao Chun is deemed to be interested in
those 682,198,624 Shares.

2. The 200,000 shares are the award shares granted to Mr. Xu Shao Chun and held by the
trustee to the 2015 Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited.
Details of the award shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Schemes” of
this annual report.

3. The 337,500 shares are the award shares granted to Mr. Lin Bo and held by the trustee
to the 2015 Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited. Details of
the award shares are set out in the section headed “Share Award Schemes” of this annual
report.

4, (L) denotes long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which will be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will
be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” above, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) was granted
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, any rights or options to acquire shares or
debentures in the Company during the Reporting Period.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, as far as the Directors were aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO and are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

FEERERAMATIREFEGRES
HERRRE

BEEMA R_Z_MF+_A=+—B KT
AL (RRREERESTHRABRIN RARQE
B tn Ko 4B BB o B B AR 1B R 5 S A B 1R I SEXVER
R ERBMARRKE RIREE SRS GO
BIEREREFEZECMAAP RS ZEEIAR

Interests in shares/underlying shares of the Company ELTFRG ARARGhZER
Percentage
Number of shares/ of issued
underlying shares share capital
(where appropriate)  Capacity (approximate)
B R R ER A% {7 B HERTEX
Name BRRMEE B(mBA) ®#EIKH ESI=R2d A
Easy Key Holdings Limited (Note 1) Easy Key Holdings Limited (Fff 5%1) 682,198,624 (L) Interest of controlled corporation 19.02%
i ST UNCIPA - £
Oriental Tao Limited (Note 1) Oriental Tao Limited (P 5E1) 386,312,000 (L)  Beneficial owner 10.77%
BB
Billion Tao Limited (Note 1) Billion Tao Limited (Bff 5£1) 295,886,624 (L) Beneficial owner 8.25%
E=BBA
China Asset Management Co., Ltd. ~ EBEESEBRERA A 181,296,466 (L) Investment manager 5.06%
REKE

Notes:

The percentage of the total issued shares was calculated by the number of the aforesaid interests
or short positions divided by the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 of
3,586,014,271.

1. 0f the 682,198,624 shares, (i) 386,312,000 shares were held by Oriental Tao Limited;
and (ii) 295,886,624 Shares were held by Billion Tao Limited, each a company wholly
owned by Easy Key Holdings Limited.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this annual report.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement between Kingdee China
and CloudHub

On 29 December 2023, Kingdee China (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
and CloudHub Network (Chongging) Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen CloudHub
Network Co., Ltd.) (“CloudHub”), which to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is owned as to 7.5373% by the Group
through Shenzhen Hongjin Investment Company Limited and 62.7640% by Diechuang
Holdings Limited* (a company owned as to 99% by Mr. Xu Shao Chun), entered into the
2024 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement: CloudHub appoints Kingdee China as
a distributor for Kingdee China to purchase its products and services (including but not
limited to the PrivateCloud Products, CloudHub's Intelligent Collaboration Cloud* (£ 2
K& B 19 [F1 5£), Bao Biao Xiu Xiu* (¥ 2% 75 75), Ecosystem* (4 82 H&l), CloudHub’s
CRM, various Light App* (2% /& ), data products and other products of CloudHub, etc.)
from CloudHub and further distribution in the PRC (including Hong Kong) (the “CloudHub
Distributorship”). The pricing for the transactions under the CloudHub Distributorship
is determined by reference to the market prices offered to any independent third party by
CloudHub for the distribution of similar products and provision of similar services. The
annual cap for the Reporting Period approved by the Board was RMB100,000,000 and the
actual transaction amount was approximately RMB62,347,874. The term of the agreement
was one year from 1 January 2024.

As the 2024 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2024 and the transactions contemplated thereunder shall continue to be entered into
on a recurring basis, on 31 December 2024, Kingdee China and CloudHub entered into
the 2025 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to continue the existing cooperation as disclosed above with each other for a term
of one year commencing from 1 January 2025. The annual cap for the year ending 31
December 2025, approved by the Board, is RMB100,000,000 under the 2025 Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement. As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
the Listing Rules) in respect of the transactions contemplated under the 2025 Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement are more than 0.1% and less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated under the 2025 Strategic Cooperation Framework Agreement are subject
to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 December 2023 and 31
December 2024, respectively, for further details.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) considered that the terms of the above transaction and its annual
cap discussed above have been entered into (i) according to the agreements on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole,
(i) on normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company and Shareholders as
awhole, and (iii) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the Company’s auditor
to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions set out above on a sample basis. The auditor has reported their factual
findings on the selected samples based on the agreed procedures to the Board and has
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out above have complied with the
requirements under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the above mentioned connected transactions. Save as disclosed above,
during the Reporting Period, there were no other connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company which are subject to any of the reporting,
announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of
the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as otherwise disclosed in “Continuing Connected Transactions” above and several
related party transactions as disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
that constitute continuing pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the rest of the
related party transactions set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
did not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Competing Interest

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an
interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

Management Contracts
No management contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning the whole or

any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Reporting Period.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers and suppliers, respectively, are as follows:

Sales

- the largest customer 0.68%
- the five largest customers in aggregate 2.54%
Purchases

- the largest supplier 19.66%
- the five largest suppliers in aggregate 47.22%

At no time during the Reporting Period had the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major customers or suppliers set
out above.

Indemnity of Directors

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During the Reporting Period,
there was appropriate Directors’ and senior officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and senior officers of the Group.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the places where the Group operates
in all material respects.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance as well as the Group’s
relationships with its stakeholders during the Reporting Period will be included in the 2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report published by the Company at the same date
of this annual report.

Retirement Scheme

Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in Note 28 to the financial statements.
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Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for
the year of 2024, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the
preceding three years. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere thanks to all our management
and staff for their dedication during the Reporting Period. Also, | would like to thank our
Shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 17 March 2025

This annual report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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Corporate Culture
“Acting in all Conscience with Integrity and Righteousness”

The Company’s core value is to act in all conscience with integrity and righteousness. With
the mission to “Empower every enterprise to achieve phenomenal success”, the Company
is committed to providing the best and most suitable services to its clients, and becoming
areliable service provider.

Impact on Performance

The performance of the Group is measured through key performance indicators such as
revenue growth, profit margins, return on equity and market share. The Group emphasizes
the importance of conducting business with conscience and places emphasis on the
working moral and values of its employees and management team. The Group beligves
by creating a fair and equitable working environment, it encourages collaboration in the
Group and thus leading to sustainable growth to the Company. With the collaboration of
its employees, the Company has been playing a leading role.

Assessing and Monitoring Culture

The Company values its employees for their innovation and hard work for the development
of the Company’s business. The Company has been assessing and monitoring its culture
by evaluating the employee turnover rate, whistleblowing data, and employees surveys.
Communication of Desired Culture

The Company welcomes feedback from its employees. The Company has established
communication channels with its employees so that the Company can promote its
corporate culture thoroughly.

Dealing with Misconduct or Deviation from Values

The Company has established a whistle blowing policy and an anti-corruption policy to
safeguard its corporate culture. The Company will investigate all concerns and complaints
carefully and thoroughly and take appropriate actions if needed.

Financial and Non-Financial Incentives

The Company has adopted various share schemes to provide incentives and reward the

contribution of its employees. The Company also provides trainings to the employees to
promote its corporate culture.
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Board Evaluations

We conduct board evaluations regularly to assess governance practices and the alignment
of the Company’s corporate culture. The board evaluations are communicated to the
stakeholders for transparency and accountability.

The Company believes that by promoting the corporate culture, it will enhance the
performance of the Company, helping the Company in achieving its goals.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group consistently promotes good corporate governance by pursuing the five key
principles: ensuring the rights and interests of Shareholders; strictly abiding by the
responsibilities of the Board and management; promoting full disclosure and transparency;
ensuring the equal treatment of stakeholders; and strengthening internal controls and
supervision. The Company endeavors to enhance its enterprise value, so as to ensure
the Company’s long-term and stable development and safeguard the interests of its
Shareholders. The details of the corporate governance practices of the Company are set
out below.

The Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules throughout
the Reporting Period except for code provision C.2.1. For details and reasons for the
deviation, please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

Board of Directors
. The responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the core of corporate governance of the Company. Its major
responsibilities are as follows:

(1) to convene general meetings, report to Shareholders and implement the
resolutions of general meetings;

(2)  to review and approve the mid-and long-term strategic plans and
management strategies of the Group;

(3)  to review and approve critical investment and acquisition projects, the
issuance and repurchase of securities, and other plans for financings,
amalgamation, compensation, recruitment and dismissals;

(4)  to review and approve the Group’s budget plans, profit distribution plans
and loss remedy plans;

(5)  to propose amendments to the Articles of Association, and changes in
authorized share capital;

(6)  to approve Directors’ remuneration plans as recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and authorized by Shareholders;
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(7)  to listen to the working report of the Chief Executive Officer and to review
the work of the Chief Executive Officer; and

(8)  toreview and approve incentive schemes of the Company.

(9)  performing the duties in relation to the compliance with provision A.2.1 of
the Code.

The Board empowers the senior management of the Company to implement Board
decisions, with all senior management members being appointed by the Board. In
entrusting management and administrative functions to the senior management,
the Board provides clear instructions regarding the powers delegated to them,
and prior approval of the Board is required before the senior management
makes any key decisions and commitments on behalf of the Group. The senior
management and the Company Secretary will report to the Board on updates on
legal and regulatory developments, business and market changes and the strategic
development of the Group to facilitate the performance of the Board's duties. The
Board has maintained effective supervision over the Group’s strategic plans, key
policies, management, risk assessment and business operations. The members of
the Board and senior management have fully committed to their roles, ensured that
the Group’s development strategies are in line with the changes in the economy
and market, and acted in good faith with a view to furthering the Shareholders’
long-term interests.

Composition of the Board

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report
were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang

Ms. Katherine Rong Xin
Mr. Bo Lian Ming
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Throughout the Reporting Period, the number of independent non-executive
Directors exceeded one-third of the Board. As shown in the table below, the
Directors have professional backgrounds in finance, technology and management,
respectively. They have extensive experience and independent views in their
respective areas of expertise so that they can provide professional advice in
respect of the long-term development of the Company. There are also established
mechanisms for the Directors to seek independent professional advice to discharge
their duties and responsibilities, and to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board and the Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness
of such mechanisms annually. The biographies of the Directors are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 27 to 31 of this annual
report.

RAEAFEREHN  BUFERITESHES
GABBB=DZ— - EEZNHBEEYE -
MEREBECZEEES (FRATR)  RE
FENEXEEBERRCEHRUARB LR -
BEMARRRREEREHRIEER - LM
EECEREV TR AESEBEIREMNET
ERBIYMNEEER  THREARMESSREHE
BYWERLFEA T & TFEEZES
ERBEANERE EEBEHNAFERE
NENE[EEREREERE]—F-o

Technology

Corporate Innovation and
Strategy and Finance & Risk  Information Industry  International
Management Management Security Experience Perspective

LEERE MBEERKE LR R Ak
Name of Directors EENS mER BTE HERR2 TERER [l B iR B
Xu Shao Chun Rb&E v v/ v v v
Lin Bo 794 v v v v v
Dong Ming Zhu EZER v v/ v v v
Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle v v v/ v
Zhou Jun Xiang & v/ v v v
Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong Xin v v v
Bo Lian Ming SEiE A v v v v v

The term of appointment of each of the Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) is two years. According to the
Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once every
three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM in
that year. At the forthcoming AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms.
Dong Ming Zhu and Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang shall retire by rotation and be eligible for
re-glection.

None of the Directors who shall retire and be proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Board and save
as disclosed in this annual report, there is no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship among the Board members, the chairman and the
chief executive officer.
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Board Meetings/General Meeting

For the Reporting Period, the Company convened seven Board meetings and one
AGM. The following table shows the details of the Directors’ attendance:

(Z) EXETEl BEXE

BERMA ARRHARTLRESTSSH
—RBERBEREG BRAESZHEHBH
FIEnT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERR FERB
Board Meetings AGM

Directors BE=E EFEgeE RWEAFXK®
Executive Directors BITESF
Mr. Xu Shao Chun

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) BROBEE(EESXEREFEHITE) 717 1/1
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WSS (BRIHE) 77 11
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu EWRKZ T 77 1/1
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle%t &= 77 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIUERTES
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang EERE S 77 11
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZZ 4= 77 11
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEER A 77 1/1

Directors were given sufficient notice of Board meetings in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Directors were consulted in advance
regarding the agenda of Board meetings. Notices of regular Board meetings were
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance of the meetings. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notices were given. The agenda and other relevant,
complete and reliable accompanying materials were sent to the Directors at least
three days before each meeting. Each Director is aware of his/her obligation to
allocate adequate time to deal with the Company’s affairs.

At the meetings of the Board held during the Reporting Period, the matters dealt
with by the Directors included but were not limited to the following: formulating
the overall development strategy of the Company, considering and approving the
Company’s 2023 annual report and 2024 interim report, approving the grant of
award Shares, approving the continuing connected transactions and discussing
other major matters. The secretary of the Board has recorded the proceedings of
each Board meeting by maintaining detailed minutes, including all decisions made
by the Board and matters discussed together with concerns raised and dissenting
views expressed (if any) by the Directors. All minutes are kept by the secretariat of
the Board and any relevant files including the agenda, documents and minutes are
open for any Directors’ inspection.

Apart from regular Board meetings, Mr. Xu Shao Chun (as Chairman of the Board)
also held meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.
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IV.  Continuous professional development of Directors

(1)

To fully comply with the requirements of the Code on the continuous
professional development of Directors, the Company has provided all
Directors with documents and information aiming at developing and
refreshing their professional knowledge and skills, together with other
information (including monthly updates) on the development of the
business, operations, activities and corporate governance of the Company
from time to time to assist them to fulfill their responsibilities. Each of the
Directors has been provided with a comprehensive induction when they
were first appointed to ensure that they are fully aware of the business
and operations of the Group, and the responsibilities and obligations
of Directors under the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.
The Company has organized regular trainings for Directors regarding
their roles, functions and duties to assist them in understanding their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other related laws and
regulations through real case studies; and to ensure the Directors are timely
and completely informed of the operations of the Company. Pursuant to
the requirements of the Code, all Directors should provide their training
records to the Company. Based on the records provided by the Directors,
their participation in continuous professional development activities during
the Reporting Period is summarized as follows:

(M) EXEZFATRTR

(1)

ARHALEERTAIANSETEXERR
ZRE - ARRERESFHTHREA
ARAESFRERUNEEERRENA
BEERgEcEEMME - REBEAEEE
HERELNARRE ARAEXNED
REEREREEER 2EMME - U
BREEITHRE - ARRMAEESY
REBREZEREZZ 2@ ARSI
MR ETRAKRERBEMEE &
ANBRALTRAREESTARENR
EREZHRBENEERTE - ARFIF
EHRREESRUBAN LT ARES
ZAE BERBEZEI  BBEE
ROIEHESHERE EHHRASHEER
FERAENETEENRE Y REY
ARRLEEBRALF2E THE - RIET
Q28R MBEFARARABRHER
ERAZTIILE - REEFREHMT
B EERMEHRN2ANSEEER
RIGE RIEFIMENT :

Training on Corporate
Governance, Regulatory
Developments and

other Relevant Topics
LRELR EETEBEERR

Director EE H 4858 E E Al
Executive Directors BITEF

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) R > &H L E(BEE S EFREFHTE) v
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer) WREE (BREIBE) 4
Non-executive Directors FERITES

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu R S v
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle5t 4 v/
Independent non-executive Directors BIUERTES

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang BEELEE 4
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz 4= v
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SHERLE 4

When Directors are asked to express their views on the Company’s
connected transactions (if any), incentive schemes, internal controls, etc.,
the Company retains auditors, financial advisers and/or lawyers and other
relevant independent professionals to provide independent professional
advice to assist the Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities.

T CUFFR

ARBEREZTERANRAIBERS
(nE) BB R - AEMESIF =R
RERR  mERMHRENE - M BER
R/ REMERFEEALTNBYEE
BR - HBHESFEITHERMT

SRERRGFERERAT 59



I —_———

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EERRE

(3)  With regard to insurance coverage in respect of possible legal actions
against the Directors when performing their duties, the Board had entered
into a “Liability Insurance Contract of Directors, Supervisors and Officers”
with the People’s Insurance Company (Group) of China Limited.

Board Committees

The Board has set up four specialized committees, namely the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee, the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the strategy and sustainable
development committee of the Company (the “Strategy and Sustainable Development
Committee”) to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The compositions of
these committees are set out below. The meeting procedures of the committees follow the
statutory procedures and the respective Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (Chairman) and Mr. Bo Lian Ming, and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Gary Clark Biddle.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(1)

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, considering any questions of resignation
or dismissal of the auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's
independence, the objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee shall discuss with the
external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences, and act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor;

developing and implementing policies on engaging an external auditor to supply
non-audit services, and identifying and making recommendations on any matters
where action or improvement is needed;

meeting with the Company’s external auditor at least twice a year to review and
monitor the completeness of the Company’s financial statements and annual
reports and accounts, half-year reports and, continuing connected transactions
announcements and/or circulars, and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them;

reviewing the management letter to the management issued by the external auditor,
any material queries raised by the external auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s
response, and ensuring that the Board responds promptly to the matters raised by
the external auditor in the management letter;

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Q) EFgNE=FRTHBEYUELHEE
HARITEMNRBR T HE - £¢IAE%

ERBBAERATNWE T (EF -
ERERERABERLRRIER
EFEERE

ExeXUTHEAZMEZES  BREAQREZE
B8g ([BEZEE8g]) ¥FHEZES ARFRERZE
B ([REEE8C)MARABKATNBERES
B ([HEEMFHEEREZES])  UWEBETRE
BOARARER ZESNE ZEAMFEHRT - &
SREFL2RBRERESEBEER -

FEEAE

RZEZWNF+_A=+—H EXZELHMSE
BN ERITERMAR  BIEAGHLE(ERE) 8
BRAL A - & — B IEE 1T E SGary Clark Biddlest A48
B o
ERZEGZHERNEETERE:
MINEZBANEZT EFZIRELAE
EERMHEE - TN AZ ZED A B K BE

PR - T B B AT {r] 75 8 7% 1% SR B 5 sk B
RZZEAMMREE  REROEERN RE
RNERHEMETBYRELEARFED
BN ERZESENET TIERGAT LS
SNEZ BRI AR B E R & R R R
B WIEABBREREEADAHEIMNEZ
HED 2 R

—
—
=

2 FINEEEENREHIFRBRGHERR I
TUBIT BRZESERREMARRTH

KRR ENFRANEFTERELREER
Q) BRZEGAZIEFEARFANIMNEZK
B &M ERARBNMEREALF
fﬁiﬁﬁﬁ FEERENTRI  BE
SRER/RBR TEBBRRBREMN
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁméﬁi

4) BEIEZBEMATERENEREZERE
SMEZBEI L R AT L8 MBRE KEER
FRREEEROINENEAREAREEEE
HEEE : RESSHIMNSRBMHRNE
BREZREOFEEFEHREDE

Annual Report 2024



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

(5)  considering any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts;

(6)  reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, and
discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have effective systems;

(7)  considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control
matters;

(8)  performing the internal audit function by ensuring co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and by ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

(9)  reporting to the Board on the matters in the provisions of the Code; and

(10)  reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to

raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Audit Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings, at which the Audit
Committee:

(1)

)

reviewed the Company’s annual financial report and internal control report for the
year 2023, and submitted them to the Board for approval;

discussed the Company’s internal control and risk management systems and
reviewed the Company's interim financial report of 2024, and submitted it to the
Board for approval;

communicated with the external auditor regarding the 2024 annual audit work and
audit plans; and

reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with the senior management and the auditors of the
Company.
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Details of attendance at the Audit Committee meetings during the Reporting Period are set

BENBERZESERLEFBHIIMOT

out below:
2024 Attendance/
Number of Meetings
—E-mE
Audit Committee Members BREX®R HEFRRH
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang (Chairman) BB E (EFE) 2/2
Mr. Bo Lian Ming SEER L E 2/2
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark BiddleZt 4 22

The Audit Committee, having reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, was satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Company’s internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprised two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Bo Lian Ming (Chairman) and Ms. Katherine Rong Xin,
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies, structures and
packages revolving around remuneration, long-term incentives and performance
management of the Directors and senior management, and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing such policies and structures,
and the principles and criteria for remuneration and long-term incentive models,
implementing such policies and reviewing the same periodically;

(2)  asauthorized by the Board, drawing up proposals for and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of Directors and senior management,
and the remuneration schemes (including non-monetary benefits, pension rights
and compensation (including compensation for loss of or termination of office or
appointment)) of individual executive directors and senior management (the model
discussed in code provision E.1.2(C)(ii) of the Code was adopted);

(3)  reviewing and assessing the annual performance of Directors and senior
management, and reviewing and approving their remuneration, by reference to the
corporate goals and objectives set up by the Board;

(4)  drawing up and reviewing proposals for remuneration and making
recommendations to the Board on the adjustment of such remuneration from
time to time, by reference to the Company’s development strategies and goals as
approved by the Board and the operating strategies as adjusted by the Board from
time to time;
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(5)  considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitments and the
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(6)  reviewing and ensuring that the appointment and termination terms for the
Directors and senior management are fair;

(7)  reviewing and approving compensation arrangements (if any) relating to any loss
or termination of office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct
in respect of executive Directors and senior management to ensure that they
are consistent with their contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

(8)  ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration, and that the remuneration of a non-executive Director who
is a member of the Remuneration Committee shall be determined by the other
members of the Remuneration Committee; and

(9)  reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes as described in
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Remuneration
Committee published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further
details on the principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to review the
performance, and remuneration policy and package of Directors and senior management,
discuss the grant of awarded shares pursuant to the Company’s share award scheme, and
submit proposals to the Board.

Details of attendance at the Remuneration Committee meetings during the Reporting
Period are set out below:
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Remuneration Committee Members BREX® HEFRRH
Mr. Bo Lian Ming (Chairman) SEERSAE (EF) 2/2
Mr. Xu Shao Chun "I BRE 2/2
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong XinZz == 2/2

The Group’s remuneration policy is in evaluating the amount of remuneration payable
to Directors and senior management, the factors to be considered by the remuneration
committee of the Company include the salaries paid by similar companies, tenure
of Directors and senior management, commitment, responsibilities and individual
performance (as the case may be), etc.
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Regarding remuneration payable to members of senior management (which include two
directors, namely Mr. XU Shao Chun and Mr. LIN Bo, and another individual) by band:
(i) details of remuneration of the two directors are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements; and (ii) the other individual’s emolument (including but not limited
to salaries and share-based compensation) falls under the band of HKD26,000,001—
HKD26,500,000..

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director,
namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman), and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Katherine Rong Xin and Mr. Bo Lian Ming.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board which will include and make good
use of the differences in skills, backgrounds and industry experience, gender, knowledge
and other qualities of the members of the Board. These differences will be considered in
determining the optimum composition of the Board and all Board appointments will be
based on merits, having due regard to the overall effective functioning of the Board as a
whole. The Company believes that diversity can strengthen the performance of the Board,
promote effective decision-making and better corporate governance and monitoring. The
Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and reports to the Board on the achievement of the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity under this policy. All Board appointments are made on a merit basis with due
regard to the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity considerations, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made based on the merits and contributions that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. At present, two of the seven members of
the Board are women, which improves the gender diversity of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and was
satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

For the Reporting Period, the Group had 12,149 full-time employees, of which 7,841
were male and 4,308 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) was approximately 1 female to 1.82 male. The Company is aiming to achieve
amore balanced gender ratio in the workforce together with an appropriate level of female
members on the Board. While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil
its pledges, all Board appointments will be made on a merit basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.
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The Board will continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified and the Nomination
Committee and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Board will
also consider appointing suitable female members of the Board as the chairperson of the
committees of the Board. The Group will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid- to senior-level and engage more resources in career development
and training female staff with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Company; and will continue to apply the principle of appointments
based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity Policy as a whole.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, which includes
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
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Directors. Details of the current members of the Board are set out as follows: EFTEREBKNERBOT
Gender Male Female
i3 B i
5 2
Nationality American Chinese
El 48 E ] FE
2 5
Age group 50-59 60-69 70-79
FiR 2 3 2
Length of service of Directors 5 years or below 6-10 years Over 10 years
EEERER S5EFERLT 6-10%F K¥105E
3 1 3
Nomination Policy 1’2 BUE

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Company on 15
March 2023.

The Company embraces high transparency in the Board member selection process. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and
a diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated the responsibility of identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately
responsible for the selection and appointment of new Directors.
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(1)

66

formulating, reviewing and updating, as appropriate, the Nomination Policy for the
identification, selection and nomination of candidates for the role of Director for the
Board’s consideration;

formulating, reviewing and updating, as appropriate, the Board Diversity Policy for
the Board's approval having due regard to the requirements of the Listing Rules,
reviewing and updating the objectives that the Board has set for implementing such
policy, and monitoring the progress made;

reviewing the structure, size, composition and the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience, length of service and diversity (including as to gender and ethnicity)
of the Board and other factors which may be relevant to its effectiveness at least
annually;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy and composition
profile requirements and ensuring that such individuals will be considered on
merit and against objective criteria and have the time and ability to contribute to the
Board;

making recommendations to the Board with regard to its composition profile
including, where appropriate, preparing a description of the capabilities required
for any particular appointment and on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate objectives and strategy;

assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors including
any conflict which a Director may have with the interests of the Group and
reviewing the independent non-executive Directors™ annual confirmations on
their independence; and making disclosures of its review results in the corporate
governance report in the annual report of the Company;

reviewing annually the time commitment required from a Director (especially
independent non-executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities;

giving full consideration and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and reviewing such plan periodically;

developing the procedures for the performance evaluation of the Board and the
committees of the Board, evaluating the performance of the Nomination Committee
following such procedure and reviewing these terms of reference to ensure that the
Nomination Committee is operating at its maximum effectiveness;

recommending candidates to the Board to fill vacancies or new positions on the
committees of the Board as necessary or desirable; and

reviewing the feedback in relation to the role and effectiveness of the committees

of the Board arising from the evaluation of the Board and/or any committees of the
Board and making recommendations of any changes.
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Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Nomination Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two meetings, during
which the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size, composition and the
balance of skills, knowledge, experience, length of service and diversity of the Board,
as well as the time commitment required from a Director (especially independent non-
executive Directors) to perform his or her responsibilities. The criteria of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship adopted by the Nomination Committee include
considerations of the qualifications and skills of such candidates, coupled with the goals
and development strategy of the Company.

Details of attendance at the Nomination Committee meetings during the Reporting Period
are set out below:
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Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee comprised
two executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman) and Mr. Lin Bo, one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Dong Ming Zhu, and one independent non-gxecutive
Director, namely Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang.

The main responsibilities of the Strategy and Sustainable Development committee set out
in the rules of the Board are as follows:

(1) considering and formulating the mid- and long-term strategies of the Company;
(2)  assessing the effects of the implementation of the Company’s strategies;

(3)  making recommendations on critical issues prescribed in the Articles of Association
and other issues requiring approval from the Board, including those related to
investments, financings, etc.;

(4)  formulate the vision, strategy and goals of the Company's environment, society and
governance, and supervise their implementation, regularly review the achievement
of goals and report and make recommendations to the Board;

(5)  evaluate and identify ESG-related risks and opportunities that have a significant
impact on the Company; and

(6)  annually review whether the resources, employee qualifications and experience
related to environmental, social and governance performance and reporting, as well
as the training courses and related budgets received by employees, are sufficient.

During the Reporting Period, the Strategy and Sustainable Development Committee had
reviewed and performed the corporate governance duties as mentioned in (1)-(6) above.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Xu Shao Chun assumed the roles of both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company which deviated from code provision C.2.1 of
the Code which specifies that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board considers that
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, as the founder of the Group, has abundant knowledge of the IT industry
and unique strategic perspectives. The Board believes that he can lead the Group to
formulate effective strategies and react promptly to market changes. His continual service
in both roles is beneficial to the stable and healthy development of the Company. However,
the Board will review and make appropriate changes when necessary in order to enhance
the level of corporate governance.
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Code of Conduct Regarding Director’s Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code. The Company, having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, confirms
that the Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct and the Model Code throughout
the accounting period covered by this annual report. The Code of Conduct and the Model
Code are also applicable to other specified senior management of the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The whistleblowing policy has been put in place for all employees and those who have
business dealings with the Group (including customers and suppliers) to deal with
concerns related to fraudulent or unethical acts or non-compliances with laws and the
Group’s policies that have or could have significant adverse financial, legal or reputational
impacts on the Group. They may raise concerns about the possible improprieties in
any matters related to the Group, in person or in writing to the company secretary of the
Company who shall report to the chairman of the Audit Committee in confidence and
anonymity. The chairman of the Audit Committee shall then determine the course of action
to pursue, with power to delegate, with respect to the report.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group has formulated its own anti-corruption policy to ensure the Directors and
employees within the Group comply with the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC, where applicable. The policy sets out the integrity and
conduct requirements and policies or controls in place which applies to all Directors and
employees of the Group at all levels, and external parties doing business with the Group
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group (e.g., agents,
consultants and contractors). The policy is reviewed from time to time to ensure that it
remains appropriate.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

1.

70

Risk Management and Internal Control Governance Framework

The Group has an internal audit function which conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is responsible for reviewing the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems annually and will take necessary and appropriate measures to
maintain such system and control the effect of risk management for the purpose
of safeguarding Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The Audit
Committee is responsible for evaluating and manitoring the risk level borne by the
Group, the design and operation effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reporting to the Board. The management has specially
established an internal audit department, which is responsible for supervising
and auditing the Company’s risk management and internal control systems and
business operations and using internal audit procedures to conduct independent
assessments to ensure that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal monitoring systems. At the same time,
business organization and functional operation departments identify, assess and
handle the risks in their respective departments according to their duties and
carry out risk management procedures and internal control measures within their
respective business and functional operation scopes, and the management reports
to the Board. Such systems are designed for operational management, cannot
completely eliminate the risk of possible failure to achieve business objectives, and
provide only reasonable, but not exclusive, assurance against significant failure
and loss.

The Company has appointed personnel to supervise the Company’s continuous
compliance with the relevant Chinese laws and regulations. In addition, we
continue to provide training courses to Directors, senior management and
relevant employees to actively identify any problems related to any potential non-
compliance.

Risk Management

The Company has been committed to continuously improving the risk management
system, including its structure, process and culture, and ensuring the long-term
growth and sustainable development of the Company’s business by improving the
Company’s risk management ability. The Board has received a confirmation from
the management that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate.
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2.1 Risk Management Procedure

The Company has designed its major risk management criteria, including risk
identification, risk assessment, risk response and risk control and reporting:

° Risk identification: The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems each year and will
urge all business units and functional departments to identify the internal
and external risks that may exist during the course of operation.

° Risk assessment: All business units and functional departments must assess
the possibility of the occurrence of identified risks and the extent of their

impact and screen out major risks.

° Risk response: The risk responsibility department properly uses risk
avoidance, reduction, sharing or tolerance measures to draw up a risk
response scheme according to identified major risks and the Group’s risk
tolerance, so that the Group can reasonably allocate resources for risk
response and reduce its overall risk level to an acceptable level.

° Risk control and reporting: The Group's risks are controlled and reported
through the comprehensive use of risk pre-warning indicators, internal

audits and regular risk summary reports.

2.2 Internal Control

The Company has designed an internal control system according to the Group’s
business management features and has established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal controls, conducting risk-oriented internal control
gvaluations with respect to daily fund management, financial report management,
purchase and asset management, business operations and the flow of income on
an annual basis and to follow up with the completion of any rectification measures
in respect of internal controls on a regular basis. The management has reviewed
and assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s systems for risk management
and internal control and such review covered financial monitoring, operation
monitoring, compliance control and other major monitoring and risk management

functions.
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2.3

72

Response to Major Risks

During the Reporting Period, the Group audited and assessed the Company’s risk
according to the enterprise’s risk management framework and finalized measures
for major risk response and control to prevent or reduce the possibility of the
occurrence of any major risk to the Company.

The Company has steadily developed its operational business in the past year. Due
to the fierce market competition of the industry, the Company’s market competition
in relation to key customers and cloud services may be intensified and customers
may continue to change their preferences and have a higher expectation of cloud
services. The marketing costs of the Company’s cloud services remain high and
the launch of a new business is faced with inherent market risks. At the same time, as
the Company’s brand influence grows, its intellectual property rights are infringed
more frequently and infringers conceal or destroy tort evidence so that it becomes
more difficult for the Company to safeguard its intellectual property rights. At the
same time, with the promulgation of the Network Security Law, Data Security Law,
Personal Information Protection Law and relevant administrative regulations, rules
and norms, the state’s supervision of Internet platform enterprises in the PRC
has become increasingly strict, and the Company also faces increasingly strict
compliance requirements and legal liabilities in terms of network security, data and
privacy protection, unfair competition, intellectual property rights and so on.

In order to respond to possible operational risks and guarantee the healthy and
sustainable development of the operational business, the Company (i) has formed
a cloud service development framework based on mutually synergetic development
by optimizing and adjusting its strategic organization; (ii) has allocated a lot of
resources to research and develop new technologies and enhance product value;
(iii) has encouraged its employees to conduct constant product innovation and
optimize customer experience; (iv) has improved the ecological chain of customer
service; and (v) has committed to creating a very competitive cloud platform. In
order to reduce the marketing risk of new business, the Company has established a
major marketing review procedure to strictly review marketing schemes, reasonably
control promotional costs and budget, conduct internal control over promotional
effect and decrease the operational risk caused by marketing. To strengthen the
protection of its intellectual property rights, the Company has enhanced the entire
staff’'s consciousness of such protection through legal advocacy and training, has
further reinforced the market monitoring for the protection of intellectual property
rights and has preserved and notarized tort evidence to prevent its intellectual
property rights from being infringed. The Company has set up special departments
and specialist teams, as well as engaged external professional consultants to work
closely with management to keep track of changes in relevant laws and regulations,
and take appropriate actions or measures to ensure the Company is in compliance
with such applicable laws and regulations. The Company has taken practical
measures and invested a lot of resources in many aspects and efforts to ensure
compliance with regulatory requirements.
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3. Inside Information and connected transaction

With respect to the procedure and internal control measures for handling and
disclosing inside information, the Company understands its liabilities under the
Listing Rules and the SFO and the major principle that any inside information must
be announced on a timely basis. The Company has formed comprehensive and
proper procedures for internal processing and the announcement of information
and comprehensive and proper internal control measures according to the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information as promulgated by the Securities
and Futures Commission, so as to disclose relevant information to its Shareholders
and the regulator in a timely, accurate and appropriate manner.

The Company is committed to strengthening the promotion and education of
its internal controls relating to connected transactions and the development of
a proper internal control system. During the Reporting Period, the Company
focused on aspects such as pre-transaction reporting, information disclosure,
continuous monitoring of transactions and regular exchange meetings. All
departments of the Company collaborated to further standardize the internal control
management system related to connected transactions, improving the scientificity,
standardization and effectiveness of the Company’s management and operations,
and enhanced the Company’s risk prevention ability.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, after reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control systems, considered that such
systems were adequate and effective, and the Company had complied with the code
provisions relating to internal controls under the Code and had not discovered any
material matter that may affect the Group’s financial, operational and compliance
control and risk management functions.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with investors. The Company
has set up a specialized department with staff to attend to investor relations affairs. The
Company actively participates in various investor forums physically or via conference
calls, provides investors with the information necessary for them to form their views on
the Company’s performance and reports investors’ feedback to management in a timely
manner in order to improve operations and the corporate governance of the Company. To
promote transparency, the Company has announced its operational performance results
to Shareholders and other stakeholders. These disclosures include: (1) publishing interim
and annual reports; (2) making press releases; (3) meeting regularly with investors; (4)
publishing analysts’ reports on the Company; and (5) conducting market consultations.

The Company firmly believes that increased transparency in the capital market will improve
corporate governance and will be beneficial to the long-term development of the Company.
The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and Shareholders in relation to
the development of the Company to the Company’s investor relations team via email or
telephone.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures and Rights for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meetings

The Shareholders’ rights are set out in the Articles of Association. Pursuant to Article 72 of
the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any
one or more members of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office, specifying the objects of the meetings and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, share(s)
representing not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them may convene
the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) in convening the meeting as a result
of the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”), whereby any inquiry is welcome to be presented to the Board
by Shareholders and any proposal relating to the business, strategy and management of
the Company is welcome to be presented at general meeting for review and discussion.
Shareholders’ inquiries and relevant proposals to the Board can be submitted in writing to
the Company Secretary and will be dealt with by the Chief Executive Officer or the chairman
of the relevant board committees or other senior management members. The Board reviews
the Shareholders” Communication Policy on a regular basis, and upon its review during
the Reporting Period based on the communications received from the Shareholders,
determined the implementation and effectiveness of such policy was satisfactory.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Send Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary and the detailed information is stated below:

Address: 25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2845 9292
Email: simonsiu@sfks.com.hk

Putting forward Proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

The Shareholders shall make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at 25A, United Centre, 95 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the Shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at shareholders’ meeting of
the Company regarding any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held the AGM on 16 May 2024. All
Shareholders were given at least 21 days’ notice for the AGM. The chairman of the Board,
executive Directors and the auditor attended the AGM to communicate with Shareholders
and answer questions from Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all resolutions of the general meetings should be voted on
by poll on the basis that one vote is attached to one share (except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands), and the poll results would be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.kingdee.com).

Amendments to the Articles of Association
The second amended and restated memorandum and the third amended and restated

articles of association of the Company (the “M&A”) were adopted on 16 May 2024 to
comply with the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

A copy of the M&A is posted on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (https://investor.kingdee.com/).

Save as disclosed above, there was no further change in the M&A during the Reporting
Period.
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External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for the year
of 2024, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the preceding
three years. During the Reporting Period, PricewaterhouseCoopers provided audit to the
Company, the remuneration paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers was approximately
RMB3,170,000 for audit services, and approximately RMB1,227,000 for non-audit
services, which included project implementation and consulting services. A resolution
for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the appropriate preparation of accounts, and the
accuracy, fairness and comprehensiveness of the financial statements of the Company. The
statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent
Auditor's Report” section on pages 77 to 83 of this annual report.

Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company secretary services,
and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon being the main contact person of the external service provider,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary, and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon has complied
with the 15 hours training requirement. The Company Secretary may contact Ms. Yi Wei,
the Board secretary of the Company pursuant to code provision C.6.1 of the Code.

Improving Corporate Governance

The Company will continue to regularly review its corporate governance measures
and practices to ensure that they are on par with the corporate governance standards
of international corporations and in light of the changing regulatory requirements and
investors’ needs. This will also help in the long term to continuously develop the Company
and enhance its corporate value.

Appreciation

The Board would like to express its sincere appreciation to its Shareholders, customers,
suppliers and bankers for their continued support to the Group. The Board also wishes to
thank the Group’s management and staff for achieving remarkable progress in the Group’s
business and their dedication and commitment to improving the Group’s management.

On behalf of the Board

KINGDEE INTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 17 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Kingdee International Software Group Company

Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 84
to 200, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended:;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Recognition of enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) and cloud implementation
revenue
o Impairment assessment of goodwill
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ FHE@EHEE EEHPNAEHRREHER
Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue ERPR E R MM A B 22

Refer to Notes 2.7(b), 4.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation
contracts recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately RMB1,759,077,000
which represented approximately 28.12% of total
TRVENU.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts
is recognised over the period of the contracts by
reference to the progress of work performed, which
is established according to the value of efforts put in
each task (measured by standard man days for each
fask) over total value of efforts of the implementation
project with support by progress reports
acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding
implementation costs are recognised s incurred
under cost of sales.

We focus on this area due to the significance of
ERP and cloud implementation revenue to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant
judgments and estimates made by management in
determining the progress of work performed, which
are subject to high degree of estimation uncertainty.

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
matter;

Understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over revenue
recognition of ERP and cloud implementation contracts and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

Understood, evaluated and tested the IT general controls and IT
application controls over the system where the information of the ERP
and cloud implementation contracts are recorded and maintained.

Inquired of management about the accounting policies of recognition
of ERP and cloud implementation revenue and inspecting the terms
of contracts with customers on sample basis to evaluate whether the
accounting policies of recognition of ERP and cloud implementation
revenue complies with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

Selected ERP and cloud implementation contracts, on a sample basis,
and performed the following audit procedures:

(i) Agreed the key contract information (contract price, payment
terms and list of work tasks with standard man days for each task
ic.) used in the revenue calculation to the relevant contracts;

(i) Agreed the progress of work performed recorded by management
o the position set out in the progress reports acknowledged by
the customers;

(iif) Obtained confirmations from customers in respect of the
progress of work performed and compared such to the progress
reports used by management in estimating the progress of work
performed; and

(iv) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
progress of work performed and the revenue recognised based on
that.

We found the significant judgments and estimates applied in
determining the progress of work performed were supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter ~ FRRE:HHE EFHPNAEHREEHEE
Impairment assessment of goodwill AR ETE

Refer to Notes 2.4(a), 4.2 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total
amount of goodwill of RMB258,657,000 which was
arisen from the acquisitions of Shanghai Guanyi
Cloud Computing Software Co., Ltd. (*Guanyi") in
2016 and Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co.,
Ltd. (*Yunji") in 2021. As at 31 December 2024, an
accumulated impairment of RMBT74,177,000 has
been recognised, and no impairment charge was
made during the year ended 31 December 2024,

Management engaged an independent valuer to
assist them in carrying out the goodwill impairment
assessment. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, the Group considered that each of
Guanyi and Yunji is a separate group of cash-
generated-units (the “CGU") and the goodwill is
allocated to the related CGU. Management assessed
the impairment of goodwill by determining the
recoverable amount of the CGU, representing the
higher of its fair value less cost of disposal and
value-in-use which is calculated using cash flow
forecasts based on the financial budgets approved by
management. The goodwill impairment assessment
involves significant judgments and estimates which
include the adoption of appropriate valuation method
and the use of key assumptions (mainly revenue
growth rate and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (‘EBITDA") margin
during the forecast period, terminal growth rate and
pre-fax discount ratg).

We focus on this area due to that the goodwill
impairment assessment involves significant
judgments and estimates, which are subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty.

We have performed the following procedures to address this key audit
mater:

(i) Understood, evaluated and tested management's key controls in
relation to the goodwill impairment assessment and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

(i) Assessed the appropriateness of the Group's identification of
06U and allocation of goodwill based on the Group’s accounting
nolicies and our understanding of the Group's business;

(iii) Assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

(iv) Obtained the valuation report of goodwill impairment and
engaged our in-house valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of valuation method adopted by management and
the reasonableness of pre-tax discount rate used by management;

(v

Challenged and assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the assessment with the involvement of our
in-house valuation experts. For revenue growth rate and EBITDA
margin during the forecast period, we compared them with the
historical data and the approved financial budgets with reference
o market statistics and orders secured; for terminal growth rate,
we assessed it with reference to the long-term expected inflation
rate based on our independent research;

(vi

Performed a retrospective review by comparing the prior year's
cash flow forecasts with the current year's results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of management's prior year's
cash flow forecasts;

(vil) Evaluated the reasonableness of sensitivity analysis performed by
management on the key assumptions to understand the impact
of reasonable changes in assumptions on the estimated goodwill
impairment; and

(viii) Checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculations in the
goodwill impairment assessment,

We found the significant judgments and estimates applied in the
goodwill impairment assessment were supported by the evidence we
obtained.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZRBMRE

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBMBRE

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely

to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

82

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZRBMRE

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong
Fu Shing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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FEMBRRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December

®»+=-—B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AER®TT AREETF T
Assets gE
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE  TRREE 6 1,744,118 1,919,498
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 7 188,074 203,446
Intangible assets BEE 8 1,231,892 1,231,955
Investment properties LE MY E 9 2,164,691 1,726,750
Investments in associates Bt &5 & 10 523,449 434,461
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSHEE 22 102,696 49,055
Financial assets at fair value through UAREBEFEBEEHTA
profit or loss BN mERE 12 872,587 964,748
Financial assets at fair value through other AR BEFEEEESH:TA
comprehensive income HtmeRanemEE 4,463 4,463
Trade and other receivables JFEE U5 B 35K B HL i JE R 13 92,656 131,503
Loans to third parties BFEZRER 13 130,255 90,071
Long-term bank deposits REBIRITIE K 15 1,094,000 1,680,000
8,148,881 8,435,950
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 14 46,165 45,611
Trade and other receivables 7 AT BR R N H A JIE R 13 416,239 364,332
Loans to third parties BTE=ZHER 13 240,862 231,596
Contract assets ARIEE 5 365,707 362,378
Contract obtaining costs & R 5 906,426 643,497
Financial assets at fair value through AR BEFEAHEESH:TA
profit or loss BamMEemEE 12 575,561 43,182
Pledged bank deposits BEMIRITER 15 14,472 3,928
Short-term bank deposits G EBIR 1T 3K 15 1,537,000 1,045,000
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFALEED 15 1,529,682 2,963,723
5,632,114 5,703,247
Total assets HEE 13,780,995 14,139,197
Liabilities A\
Non-current liabilities FRBAR
Bank borrowings R 21 - 756,700
Lease liabilities HEEE 7 25,961 38,159
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFGHAE 22 146,435 112,972
172,396 907,831
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRRE

As at 31 December

®»+=-ZBR=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mE —To=#
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b= AR®TT AREEF T
Current liabilities nEARE
Trade and other payables FEATBR F R E Ath FE T 3K 23 1,487,683 1,231,203
Contract liabilities ARARE 3,723,569 3,176,589
Bank borrowings & 21 205,082 20,200
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 22,291 26,451
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHaE 16,242 22,787
Deferred income IRIEUT A 24 24,951 51,984
5,479,818 4529214
Total liabilities HaE 5,652,214 5,437,045
Net assets REE 8,128,781 8,702,152
Equity ga
Equity attributable to owners of the NFIRBERR
Company
Share capital & s 17 86,068 87,098
Share premium & A B 17 6,174,163 6,512,406
Other reserves HEE 18 911,387 979,146
Retained earnings Bz 19 878,338 1,020,406
8,049,956 8,599,056
Non-controlling interests FEHHNER 78,825 103,096
Total equity HES 8,128,781 8,702,152

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 90 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 17 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Director
EE

LHlERA M BMRON R T IER M L — B o

FUEEBENEMNFEREREHEETEN =R

FoATER#ER  URKREFZTGEE -

Director
EE
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
meFMER

Year ended 31 December
#EFE+-"A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AER®TT ARBEF T
Revenue from contracts with customers HEPR 7 HNEREENKA 5,25 6,255,684 5,679,073
Cost of sales SHERK A 26 (2,185,012) (2,035,084)
Gross profit EF 4,070,672 3,643,989
Selling and marketing expenses HEMEREER 26 (2,502,852) (2,319,645)
Administrative expenses THEA 26 (538,687) (489,964)
Net impairment losses on financial assetsand ~ £ ELE E k& REEREEKXFE
contract assets 26 (40,890) (71,055)
Research and development costs T 9 K A 3 A AR 26 (1,514,433) (1,439,671)
Fair value losses on investment properties KEMEMERAREBEEEIELX 9 (55,170) (28,858)
Other income and gains — net Ha A R FIE —H5E 27 246,098 285,257
Operating loss BEFRR (335,262) (419,947)
Finance income B 5 W 2 110,415 112,268
Finance costs B %55 A (16,626) (21,953)
Finance income — net Bz — B R 29 93,789 90,315
Share of profits of associates ZEBMERENRERNE 10 11,745 28,506
Loss before income tax MRS RABR (229,728) (301,126)
Income tax credit FrS % e 30 45,389 31,320
Loss for the year FEEEBER (184,339) (269,806)
Loss attributable to: BEREER -
Owners of the Company ARREZREFEA (142,068) (209,890)
Non-controlling interests FET2 I 1 A 2 (42,271) (59,916)
(184,339) (269,806)
Losses per share for loss attributableto ZEAFERISHAEGESIEN
owners of the Company (expressed in SRER(LUSBEARBESH)
RMB cents per share)
— Basic — B 32 (4.01) (6.07)
~ Diluted PR 32 (4.01) (6.07)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the |- it 424 F) B 3= S5 5@ R 3 — B RO3E o
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HeRERER

Year ended 31 December
#E+-_A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_lE —ECo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARBEF T
Loss for the year FEEGR (184,339) (269,806)
Other comprehensive income: Hthizalha :
ltems that may be reclassified to income or loss: Hignjpt B HEBm i) B H
Currency translation differences SNEEITE =5 (2,756) (1,785)
Items that will not be reclassified to income or loss R T@ESBEEmAEH
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from property, ~ T REFRE AL E UM EF 2 E
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to investment EFE - B TEIE
properties, net of tax 210,301 68,866
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ZFFEHMFSUIE - MEXRIE 207,545 67,081
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year TERESWE (HE) 23,206 (202,725)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:  #GESKE (HiB)EBER :
Owners of the Company RARETFEA 65,477 (142,809)
Non-controlling interests FEIEHI MR (42,271) (59,916)
23,206 (202,725)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHSBEER

Atributable to owners of the Company

RARERRE AER
Share Share Other Retained Non-controling Tolal
capital premium TBSEIVES eamings Total inferests equity
SRR
Br BREEE AbfE ETien Bt En ety
Notes RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00D
Wi ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 ZBIZE-B-RER 83537 5,084,953 866,567 123029 7265353 102 7407583
Loss for the year FEFE - - - (209.890) 209.890) (59916) (269.806)
Other comprehensive income igaka
Curtency tanslaton diferences HEREER - - (1785) - (1785) - (1785)
Revaluaion gans on properties upon tanster fom 4691 + B~ REMLE R EE
roperty, plentand equipmentand right-otuse  BEIRAME R EE A (RR)
assels to investment propertes, net of ax - - 66,866 - 66,866 - 6,666
Total comprehensive loss SAUER - - 67,081 (209890) (142809) (59.91) (20272%)
Transactions with owners RERKEANRS
Issuing new shares B1RG 17 3519 1408328 - - 1411847 - 141847
Employess s opton scheme; BIRORErE:
- Proceeds from shares ssued -BRHAER 17 £ 5481 - - 5503 - 5503
Share award pla: R REiE -
~Valug ofemployee servis received -BIRKEE 17 - %278 - - %278 - %278
= Transfer shars o e awarcees wponvesting — ~REBBHRNELRERPA 1718 - (82634) 79,866 - (2769) - (2769)
- Buy-back of shares for the purpose of - BRO R ETERR
share award plan 18 - - (61,13) - (61,138) - (61,138)
Trnsactionsvithnon-controling nfeesls BRI ERRR S 18 - - 28710 - %710 078 4758
Total transactions with owners, HERKTANRREAR
recognised directly in equity SRETNRAHRE 3561 1427453 449 - 1476512 2,782 1497294
Balance at 31 December 2023 “EZCETZRZT-RER 87,008 6512406 979,146 1020406 8,599,056 1030% 8,702,152
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HREERBEX
Attributable to owners of the Company
FARRERE AR
Share Share Other Retained Non-controlling Total
capital premium eserves ganmings Total interests equity
Fian
k* [ ¥ii R LAV ait #a afs
Notes RIMB'000 RNB'000 RMB’000 RIB'000 RNB'000 RMB’000 RIB'000
fE  ARRTT ARBTRT ABRTR ABRRTR ARBTT ARRTT ARRTR
Balance at 1 January 2024 —EB-mE-f-R&R 87,098 6,912,406 979,146 1,020,406 8,599,056 103,006 8,702,152
Loss for the year FEFR - - - (142,068) (142,068) (42,211) (184,339)
Other comprehensive income Eisaka
Curtency tianslaton diferences NEREEE - - (2,756) - (2,756) - (2,756)
Revaluaton gains on properties upon bransfer rom #41% + B - BRI L EREE
propery,plantand equipmentand right-otuse. BERENEBMERRE (K%)
asses o investment properties, net o fax - - 210,301 - 210,301 - 210,301
Total comprehensive loss GoubE - - 207,545 (142,068) 05,477 (42,211) 23,206
Transactions with owners HERREANZR
Employess share opion scheme; BIRORETE:
~Proceeds from shares ssued -BRAAER 1 45 7,208 - - 7,28 - 1,28
Share award plan: O CHER
~Valug of employee services received -BIRKER 17 - 85,169 - - 85,169 - 85,169
= Transer shares to e awercees iponvesing. -~ REBEBRNEHLERBA 1718 - (69,158) 69,310 - 152 - 152
~Buy-back of shars for e pupose of shre. B BNt EIEA IR 7
adpn 18 - - (185N - (1835%) - (1635
Buy-Dack of shares for the purose of cancellion SR (A FTER 18 - - (543,618) - (543,618) - (543,618)
Cancellation ofshares TRt 1718 (1,075) (361,462) 362,537 - - - -
Caplta imecton fom non-controlling nferesls ~ JERI T - - - - - 18,000 18,000
Total transactions with owners, RESKBAURBEADSH
tecognised direcly n equty G Lo | (1030 (823 (530 - (bum) 800 (5957)
Balance at 31 December 2024 ZECmE+ZRE+-RER 86,068 6,174,163 911,387 878,338 8,049,956 18,825 8,128,781
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with Ll AR E ISR — RS -

the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HFEReERER

T ————

Year ended 31 December
BE+-_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=5F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR®TT ARBEFT
Cash flows from operating activities BETHHNHERE
Cash generated from operations KEEENTRE 33 951,584 675,222
Interest paid B FE (12,991) (18,172)
Income tax paid [EERIZECE ) (5,063) (3,731)
Net cash inflow from operating activities RETHELERNS 933,530 653,319
Cash flows from investing activities BREFTHHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BETHE  ITHERE (191,190) (417,120
Proceeds from disposals of property, HETEE TREREMEREEEMR
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets /R 33 2,039 2,618
Purchases of intangible assets BEEREEE (489,390) (479,475)
Pledged bank deposits and short-term and BRI FERA R EHMRBARITERT
long-term bank deposits placed — net ANFE 83,456 (375,560)
Interest received BFIE 89,518 42715
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BEUAABENEZZH T ABEZNS/
profit or loss BE (1,812,685) (134,635)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BRENAABHEFEZHTABRZNESH
at fair value through profit or loss BEMBXN 1,314,851 61,142
Dividend received B AR A 19,469 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired WET AR ME HAR & FE - (9,056)
Investments in an associate NI E 2 (90,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of associates BEBEARMER - 4818
Net cash outflow from investing activities BRETHFRARHS (1,073,932) (1,304,553)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHHHESRE
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITRRD FT1S 3K 17 - 1,411,847
Proceeds from issue of shares as a result of MRDFTREFTIS AR
exercise of options 17 7,253 5,523
Capital injection from non-controlling interests BRI H RSN S 18,000 45,000
Proceeds from borrowings ERFTBR 33 5,082 480,000
Repayments of borrowings EERBR 33 (576,900) (173,100)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRO AR I H 33 (37,560) (37,141)
Payments for purchase of shares for share award plan 37 < & B A& (7 22 B 51 2 A% (D B0 7B 18 (163,533) (61,138)
Payments for buy-back of shares ST PR R B B O RROE 18 (543,618) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing MEFE (FA) ELXBE:
activities (1,291,276) 1,670,991
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents IR & M IR & S EYF CR4), 120 (1,431,678) 1,019,757
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and EREHUR S RRSFBYNTE
cash equivalents (2,363) 1,231
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FYHReRBREFEY 15 2,963,723 1,942,735
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FEXRBERFEEERD 15 1,529,682 2,963,723

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.
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General information

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands in 1999 as an exempted company with
limited liability. The address of its place of business is Kingdee Software Park,
No.2 Kejinan 12 Road, South district, Hi-tech Industrial Park, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud services
and industry cloud services; and ERP business, including development and sales
of software products, sales of hardware products, provision of implementation,
software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade software and other supporting
Services.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) since 15 February 2001.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 17
March 2025.

Material accounting policy information

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and
its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(a)

92

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards as issued
by the IASB (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

IFRS Accounting Standards comprise the following authoritative literature:
° IFRS Accounting Standards
° IAS Standards

° Interpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC
Interpretations) or its predecessor body, the Standing Interpretations
Committee (SIC Interpretations).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and other comprehensive income(“OCI") and investment properties,
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current
liabilities with covenants — Amendments to IAS 1;
° Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16; and

° Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised
in prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2  Material accounting policy information (Continued) 2 EETHBEHREGE)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(HE)
(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet been adopted (b)) MEREHNRFRERRREFHOFHED -

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2024 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These new
standards and interpretations are:

YR EE

TG EAMMBRBEACEG Bk
Af @R —T-_NF+-_A=+—HMRK
EHATREHER - B AW EEIRATF
Bl RFER

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

EWERE
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
Bl e ACCHD) RZ Al A Bt —E-RE-A—H
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026

Instruments

BB B B AR (B5]) HERR I SRIASBREFE (BF]) —Z-RXF¥-A—H
WEERIETSE (BFT)
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity 1 January 2026
BB B AR (B3] RERME  KBEEARREEENNGR —E-RE-A—H
WEERETSE (BFT)
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards-Volume 11 1 January 2026
FEUE BB B 7 S g R BN R Ot — —E-RE-A—H
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
I % B 75 i o R R S5 185 TSR T R R —E-+E—-H—H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate To be determined
BB B TS R R A B 105% (18 7T) R & REEHBE AR ANEELESTE FiE
STAERIZE285% (153T)
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
I % B 75 i 5 2R R S5 195% FAHZABETFLANER —E-+5—-F—H

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and
amended standards and has concluded on a preliminary basis that adoption of
these new and amended standards is not expected to have significant impacts on
the financial performance and positions of the Group when they become effective,
except for IFRS 18 which will impact the presentation of profit and loss statements.
The Group is still in progress of evaluating the impact of IFRS 18.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.2.3 below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals
or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME
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FaRES e GR)

2  Material accounting policy information (Continued) 2
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued) 2.2

2.2.3 Equity method (Continued) 2.2.3 @& (HE)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

2.2.4 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in
a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in
ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because
of a loss of control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified permitted by applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.2

2.2.5

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a

business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value

or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net

identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

I those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the

business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.2

2.2.5

2.2.6

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable
in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange.
The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate
at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier
under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Concentration test as prescribed by IFRS 3 “Business Combination” has been
applied by the Group to consider whether the set of activities and assets of
subsidiaries acquired are individually businesses. If the fair value of total net
assets acquired substantially equals to the fair value of an identifiable asset
acquired, the transaction would be accounted for as asset acquisition instead of
business acquisition. The consideration is then directly allocated to the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3

2.4

(a)

98

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings, are
held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not
occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values
are recorded in the consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain or
loss in “fair value gains and losses on investment properties”.

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied
property, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair
value at the date of change in use.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units (“CGU”) or groups
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the
operating segments (Note 5).

The carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs including the allocated goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. An impairment loss, being the amount by
which the carrying amount of the CGU or group of CGUs exceeded its recoverable
amount, is recognised immediately under “Other income and gains — net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.4

(b)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred

on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new and improved
software) are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available
for use;

management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software;

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future
economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense is
not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised
from when the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 9 months to 43 months.
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Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)
Acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights

Separately acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights are shown at historical
cost. Trademarks, licenses and copyrights acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks, licenses and
copyrights have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of trademarks, licenses and copyrights over their estimated useful lives of
310 10 years.

Computer software for own use

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 1to 5 years.

Acquired customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationship is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation, amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of customer relationship over 5 years.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.5

2.5.2

2.5.3

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. The
gain or loss derived from loans to third parties is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in ‘Other income and gains — net’ together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2  Material accounting policy information (Continued) 2 EETHBEREE)
2.5 Financial assets (Continued) 25 £MBEE(E)
2.5.3 Measurement (Continued) 2.5.3 5t E (#)

Debt instruments (Continued) EFT A (&)

. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for o HRFBAUKNRERRERERLES
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely MEEMNEE  WRZEEMNRESRE
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in ERRERSMA BN - BIZEE
the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of UARBEFEEESSHTAHLMES
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains Iz o BRI EF S B LR - FLEW A
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset K& H FIBMBAF ARSI BREE
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI ENZFHir A\Efrs = - ZE5em
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/ BAERIEERE  ZAFFAREMERS K
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance HWRF RSB ERENEERE
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains W WEFAEMAIE (BX) - %%
and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment expenses SRMEEZFBWRATHIRERR R AR
are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. ARSI o B 5 FI15 F 18 2K 11 H b A
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. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are e NURAREEFEBHEHAEBD T
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently FEUNBBR AT EIUNAAREETE
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within BEEHFTAELMGE R IZENS R
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Equity instruments #am TH

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the AEBURAABEEMEERKREETRE
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity AE-NRASEEEEERESESKEN
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and NAEBEMGSMERGTAHLMES W - A
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends ERIERAZBERER T2 AR EETF
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income BMBAXENEZED HRBRFA  84&%
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Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in ‘Other gains/ HRUAABEMFEEEEHT ABENE

losses — net’ in the income statement as applicable. Changes in the fair value of BEE EAREBEEDININEZENHE

equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other i FB/(BR)(WEA) - HRUAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.5

2.5.4

2.6

(a)

(b)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and
considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.6

(b)

2.7

104 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Revenue recognition

The Group derives revenue separately or in combination, from the cloud services,
including enterprise cloud services, small & micro business finance cloud services
and industry cloud services; and ERP business and other services, including
software and hardware products, software implementation services, software
solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and other supporting services.

The Group generates part of the cloud services business revenue through
subscription basis to provide customers with access to cloud services. The Group’s
subscription service arrangements are non-cancellable and do not contain refund-
type provisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.7

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group enters into contracts with end customers that can include combination
of standard software, hardware and services which are accounted for as separate
performance obligations because they are capable of being distinct and generally
there is no significant modification or integration and they are not highly dependent
with each other. The Group sells standard software to distributors and end
customers. Both distributors and end customers are regarded as direct customers
of the Group as distributors can control the software and further resell it or sell
combined with other product and related services to end customers.

The transaction price is the price after discount and is a fixed amount upon signing
the contract. The products cannot be returned unless significant problems found,
which rarely happens. The transaction price in an arrangement is allocated to
each separate performance obligation based on the relative observable standalone
selling prices of the products or services being provided to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue when control of the promised products or services
is transferred to the customer. The customer obtains control of a product or service
if it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from that product or service.

Sales of standard software and hardware

Standard software is a right to use license because the software has standalone
functionality and the customer can use the software as it is available at a point in
time. Licenses are typically delivered by providing the customer an activation code
with access to download the software. The Group recognises revenue for such
licenses at a point in time when the customer has received licenses or the activation
code and thus has control over the software and the Group has present right to
payment. In case there is an update of the standard software, end customers or
distributors are required to pay additional consideration to buy upgraded version.

Sales of hardware and related products are recognised at a point in time when the
products are delivered and the end customers have physical possession, that is
control over the hardware and related products.
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2.7
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106 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
ERP and cloud implementation contracts

Sometimes, customers will request customisation of ERP and cloud based on
customers’ demands and business operations.

Revenue of ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over the period
of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed, which is established
according to the value of efforts put in each task (measured by standard man
days for each task) over total value of efforts of the implementation project with
support by progress reports acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding
implementation costs are recognised as incurred under cost of sales.

Variations in implementation work and incentive payments are included in
transaction price to the extent that would have been agreed with the customer.

Cloud and other services

Cloud services, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrading, training and
other supporting services are provided mainly in the form of fixed-price contracts.
Revenue related to these services are recognised ratably over the service contract
period. The Group provides cloud services directly to end customers or through its
channel partners. For cloud services provided through channel partners, the Group
is responsible for delivering the services, paying server fees to external cloud
server vendors to ensure the services are accessible and stable, and the Group
has discretion in establishing the prices for these services. The channel partners
have the contractual obligation to follow the Group’s pricing guidance and are not
primarily obligated to the customers for the quality or performance of the services.
Therefore the Group is the principal to the end customers and recognises revenue
at the gross amount billed to the end customers.

Contract assets and liabilities

The Group recognises receivables for performance obligations satisfied over
time gradually as the performance obligation is satisfied and the right to
consideration is unconditional. Judgment is required in determining whether a
right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable. When
the performance obligation satisfied over time while a right to consideration is
conditional, contract asset is recognised. Contract liabilities primarily reflect
invoices due or payments received in advance of revenue recognition. They are
recognised as revenue upon transfer of control to the customers of the promised
license, products and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.7

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Rebates to distributors

The Group offers rebates to distributors based on the respective purchase volume
of distributors. The rebate is not in the form of cash, but as a coupon to be used
on future purchase order, thus it is regarded as a customer option that provides
material right and be treated as a separate performance obligation. The rebate
expires after 12 months from grant date.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised software products to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of
the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract primarily consisting of sales
commissions which are capitalised as an asset. The Group amortises assets
recognised from capitalising costs to obtain a contract on a systematic basis to
profit or loss, consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition to which the asset
relates.

Micro-credit business

The Group's micro-credit business revenue derives from interest income. The
Group generates interest income from providing micro-credit loans to borrowers.
Interest income is recognised and accrued based on the effective interest rate
agreed with each borrower over the loanperiod.
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3.1

(a)
(1)
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Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised as follows:

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the PRC.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk facing the Group mainly comes from
movements in the US dollars (“USD”)/RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”")/RMB
exchange rates.

At 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any derivative financial instrument
for which hedging accounting was applied.

At 31 December 2024, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB2,200,000 (2023: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB7,463,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2024, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for the year would have
been lower/higher by approximately RMB437,000 (2023: loss before tax for the
year would have been lower/higher by approximately RMB6,693,000), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated cash at
bank and in hand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.1

(a)
(i)

(iii)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings, details of which have been disclosed in Note 21. Bank borrowings
carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the Group will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing at
floating rates amounted to RMB200,000,000 (2023: RMB776,900,000). As at 31
December 2024, if the interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the years
ended 31 December 2024 would have been approximately RMB900,000 (2023:
RMB3,496,050) higher/lower.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk from its investments in minority stakes
in unlisted companies which are classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income. To manage its equity price risk, the Group diversifies its portfolio.

3.1

(a)
(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.1

(b)

(1)

110 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt
instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables.

Risk management

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and short-term and long-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned financial
institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in mainland China and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two kinds of
distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is sales to end
customers.

For sales to distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by management. The compliance with credit limits by
distributors is regularly monitored by management.

For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is composed of
numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads over a large number of
customers.

The Group’s investments in debt instruments, including loans to third parties, are
considered to be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are
monitored for credit deterioration.

For other receivables, management considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an on-going basis. The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables.

3.1

(b)

(1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

3.1

(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to credit risk
assessment:

° Cash deposits and at banks
° Trade receivables and contract assets

° Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments),

° Note receivables
Cash deposits at banks and notes receivable

While cash deposits at banks and notes receivable are also subject to the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the invoice days. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables within aging bucket for the same types
of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for
trade receivables within aging bucket are a reasonable approximation of the loss
rates for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on the roll rate approach considering
the invoice days of trade receivables across historical years and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group
has identified production price index, broad measure of money supply (M2), and
fixed asset investment price index as the main influencing factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. The
Group would also monitor the counterparties individually and identify specific
counterparties with distinct characteristics for individual impairment assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMT
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MERREEE(HE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERMBEERE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) () EEERE(HE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) ZEHEEREE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) EUERAEREE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 Bt - BEZF-_WNF+-A=1+—HMNMZ=
was determined as follows for trade receivables and contract assets: To=F+ZA=+T—8 EWREZFNEX
BE BT
Collective impairment
HemE
31 December 2024 ZE_mME+ZRA=+-AH 0-1year 1-2 years 2-3years  Over3 years Total
—ElR —EmE ARE=F ZENE &t
N/A
Expected loss rate EHEABAR 4.93% 30.94% 57.77% 100.00% ~ER
Gross carrying amount - Trade receivables 85 7 4848 — FE I BR 3¢
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 134,838 13,513 10,989 113,075 272,415
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REREAERTT) 6,643 5,307 6,348 113,075 131,463
Collective impairment
HEE
31 December 2023 Z2_Zf+ZRA=t+-H 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Over 3 years Total
—EHR —ZEfF ME=F ZEHE G
N/A
Expected loss rate TEEAE ELE 5.33% 35.09% 60.24% 100.00% A
Gross carrying amount — Trade B /] 4258 — FE UK BR 3k
receivables (RMB'000) (AR®EF7T) 111,982 16,314 12215 105,481 245,992
Loss allowance (RMB’000) REBH(AER®TT) 5974 5,725 7,358 105,481 124538
The loss allowances of contract assets were estimated by considering the expected A RIEENBXREEZIBIEIRERFER K EU
credit loss rates of trade receivables within aging bucket. The maximum exposure BEZXMBEEHEABAREAN - RI|EE K
to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class M AREHROASBESHEENEREE -

of financial assets.

112 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.1

(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

3.1

(b)
(i)

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December

reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

MEBRRETE (H)

RS MR E R ()

L E))

SHEENRE ()

FE MR M A (R A E (D)
AEBRBRERNERAEER+ = A

=+ AMEREARE AL RYIEAR
% BBmT

Contract assets

Trade receivables

cREE T Wz R 3R
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EClE —T-o=F ZEWME —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®BTRE ARETT AR®BTRE AR®TT
Opening loss allowance — B — B B WiR (B # i
at 1 January 148,032 84,589 124,538 140,244
Increase in loss allowance recognised in AN E 5+ AR EFIB X
profit or loss during the year B BR8N 27,252 63,443 6,925 9,702
Receivables written off during the year as 7N 4F J& #% & £ 48 S Uiz [0 19 e
uncollectible sk - - - (25,408)
Closing loss allowance +-A=+—HHX
at 31 December i {B 2 fig 175,284 148,032 131,463 124,538

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 3

years past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts

previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MERREEE(HE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERMBEERE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) () EEERE(HE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) ZEHEEREE)
Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments) FE=HERE A EU K GBS FRIEBRIN)
For loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments), in order FLAE T 58 = 5 B R E b R UGN (FE S FRIEBR
to minimise the credit risk, the Group has established policies and systems for SN BEREREKEERR  AEET WK
monitoring and control of credit risk. The management has delegated different RERGEEREREGHEERR -BEED
divisions responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other PETRAFFAEBEREEERTE EEHZ
monitoring processes to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue MEMEREFABRELES BETEHR
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts of loan and DafEs - BE TEENESEAREAR
interest collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate allowance for BRIEREMNE 2K EHE  BREH
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. DAl EIEEBE L DB EBERE -
The loss allowance for loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding R+ A=+—H B=ZFERMEMER
prepayments) as at 31 December reconciles to the opening loss allowances as KB FIERIN BB XEFHS BB
follows: EHBSEIRWT ¢
Other receivables
(excluding
Loans to third parties prepayments)
3 fth FE U 3%
BEZHER (FR T RRIBERRSL)
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET T AREF T
Opening loss allowance as at W-E_=%—H—H
1 January 2023 3,347 16,524
Decrease in the allowance recognised in profitor AN HiRI &+ A& BB 2 A0 BB & R 2
loss during the year (78) (2,012)
Receivables written off during the year as RERZH
uncollectible (20) (1,419)
Closing loss allowance as at R-E_=%+"A=+—H
31 December 2023 3,249 13,093
Opening loss allowance as at ®-_Z_mME—A—AH
1 January 2024 3,249 13,093
Increase in the allowance recognised in profitor R EARSET A E BRIB A0 EE & 12 0
loss during the year 500 6,213
Receivables written off during the year as RERZIH
uncollectible - (8)
Closing loss allowance as at R-E_WM=f¢+_"_A=+—H
31 December 2024 3,749 19,298
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

3  Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Loans to third parties and other receivables (excluding prepayments) (Continued)
Based on historical experience, majority of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were settled within 12 months, and had no historical default at
gach reporting period end, therefore, most of the other receivables (excluding
prepayments) were categorised in stage 1.
However, certain counterparty failed to make demanded repayment when
they fall due, the Group made 100% provision for these receivables (“Non-
performing Receivables”). As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of
RMB11,571,000(2023: RMB11,890,000) of other receivable was assessed as Non-

performing Receivables and RMB11,571,000 (2023: RMB11,890,000) of loss
allowance was recognised.

Note receivables

The management assessed that the expected credit losses was immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

meEMBHRRHE
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MERREEE(HE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MERMBEERE)
(¢) Liquidity risk (c) MmEIVHEREE
The Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by reviewing forecast cash AEBBRSTERHBHRSHE Uit
balances on a quarterly basis to maintain sufficient cash levels and the availability HOTBRENRDESEERE  #F2H0
of an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to ensure the availability of He2ARTHNEEEEURREHNA
sufficient cash flows to meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in the MRS A EEKESE R T AEETER
course of ordinary business. The Group has no significant exposure to liquidity MHMEANREETRK NEETEEXNRE
risk. TR o
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on TRINRAEBR AT RE EERAR
a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at MEHAR  REREEAZANIHARN
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts T BHRETON EXRANBEENSEAS
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due HERMENRERE - ARBBEHNTET
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not Ao ERE AR BN EHRESHNER
significant. [EIRERC
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years Total
—£NA -—-E@mE WERLFE LML @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTTE ARBTE ARBTE ARBTE ARBTR

116 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

At 31 December 2024 R-E_ME+ZA=+—H
Bank borrowings(including interest) ER(BREHNE) 208,546 - - - 208,546
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes & 1 BE 2 I -t FE 5 74 (R & 2 (E A

payables and salary and staf welfare payables) REMBE  ENHeRETEF) 1,186,348 - - - 1,186,348
Lease liabilities HEERE 31,623 17,716 9,159 - 58,498
Total financial liahilities A E#H 1,426,517 17,716 9,159 - 1,453,392
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=+—H
Bank borrowings(including interest) ER(BEME) 220 579,18 197557 - 818,952
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes  FE{ BR 50 I E- it FE A 30 (R B 3B

payables and salary and staf welfare payables) LEMBE - BRHERETREF) 929927 - - - 929,927
Lease liabilities HEER 34,311 25,087 15,149 - 74547
Total financial liabilities eRaFEE 1,006,448 604,272 212,706 - 1,823,426

There were no derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MBEEREEE(H)
3.2 Fair value estimation 3.2 AREEMGE

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as TRBIEEFTE D 2 EE G ERNTHR AT

at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used BERINBANER »TAEER -

to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair —WFE+ A=+ —HMZZE=_=ZF+=A4
value hierarchy as follows: —t+—HRAAREBEARNESMIT A -FL
BAZBARBEERRBEANT=E

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or — HAREZEXEELERTSEHSRE CR
liabilities (level 1). wRE)(EBIE) -

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable - BRTBIEMBENREIN  ZEEM
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, BEMIERMEMEA - 1] aEE (A
derived from prices) (level 2). Blan(E) sk (BUREAER) ($2E) -

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data - EBEMABRYIFKEITERMHERN
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). i A\ (BIIERI RS Eg A ) (FE3/E) -

At 31 December 2024 R-E-_ME+-A=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

E1B E2R I #zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR®TT AR®TT ARBTT

Financial assets at fair value through DARBEGEEEESH AL

profit or loss AMEREE

— Investments designated at fair value —“EEANLREEGFEEH
through profit or loss R ABRNRENS

REE 95,373 - 1,352,775 1,448,148

Financial assets at fair value through other DARBENEBEZHH AL

comprehensive income firaREneREE

~ Investments designated at fair value -BERNAABEFEEH
through ather comprehensive income BT AEMERE R

SREE - - 4,463 4,463

Total @t 95,373 - 1,357,238 1,452,611

T CUFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMEBERREE(E)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 LAREEMRRGE)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+ZA=1+-H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E FE LR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Financial asses at fair value through WRREEFEEEEDHABR
profit or loss HEeREE
~ Investments designated at fair value through ~ — 5 E AR A BEFEEEES
profit or loss FABRNRENGREE 37,182 - 970,748 1,007,930
Financial asses at fair value through other WRREBEFEEEEHH ALD
comprenensive income BEBRNEREE
— Investments designated at fair value through ~ — 8 E AR A BEFTEBEE)
other comprehensive income FAEMGANENEREE - - 4,463 4,463
Total @t 37,182 - 975,211 1,012,393

118 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to measure the fair

value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MBEEREEE(H)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 LARE{EMEE)

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: AAfEE:R T AEMFEHERMNRE

—  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments. - REATIANTMEREXZIERE -

—  Discounted cash flow analysis. —  BRRBEFERON -

TRERNEE T _NFMN_ZT_=ZF+=
A=+—BLFEFRIELMITANES -

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive

Financial assets at
fair value through

profit or loss income

AREEHE

LREEEE BHESEFA

BHEBHARS Htifzaka

HEmEE HMEmMEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTFT ARBTT

At1 January 2024 R-E-—mE—F—8 970,748 4,463

Additions Bl 1,812,657 -

Transfer to level 1 E (155,924) -

Disposals BE (1,314,851) -

Gains recognised in profit or loss TEEEEROTE 40,145 -

At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+"A=+—H 1,352,775 4,463
Changes in unrealised gains for the year included B X T RN EREARBEEFEN

in profit or loss at the end of the year o 40,145 =

At 1 January 2023 W-E_=Z%—HA—H 950,365 4463

Additions b Bl 122,192 -

Disposals BE (60,601) -

Losses recognised in profit or loss EiERERNAE (41,208) -

At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%F+"A=+—H 970,748 4,463
Changes in unrealised losses for the year included B &k PR FE R EIRBAN

in profit or loss at the end of the year HE) (41,208) -

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMT
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 MERREEE(HE)
3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 LAREEMRRGE)
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant TREOETETENEIR AR BEREFE
unobservable inputs used in the major level 3 fair value measurements. ANEZNTABERNEANTEEA
Range of inputs
Description Fair value at (probability-weighted average)
e REofifREE BAERE (BEMEFY)
Relationship of
31 December 31 December unobservable inputs
2024 2023 Un-observable inputs 2024 2023 tofair value
ot -3 ZEZZE FURBHMEAE —Z2mE ZECZE AREEEFTHE
+ZB=+-B +tZA=1+-H WAENRE
RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TT ARETT
Unlisted equity investments 872,587 964,748 Expected volatility 42.63%-60.72% 46.50%-61.30%  The higher the expected volatilty,
the higher the fair value
FLTRERE 872,587 %4748 EERHE 42.63%-60.72% 1650%6130% BEEHELS
LA EEES
Risk-free rate 1.10%-3.37% 2.24%-4.16%  The higher the risk-freg rate, the
lower the fair value
BERTE 1.10%-3.37% 2u%416% EEBRAELSE
D EEUE
Business enterprise value/ sales multiple 3.30X-4.40X 310X-8.90X  The higher the multiple, the higher
the fair value
EEE/HEEH 3.30X-4.40X 3IK-890K  BEHE - AAEEER
Lack of liquidity discount rate 25.00%-30.00% 11.00%-30.00%  The higher the lack of liquidity
discount rate, the lower the fair
value
i eiot il 25.00%-30.00% 100%-3000% BeRBETRELES 2
AEELE
Wealth management products 480,188 6,000  Expected annual retum rate 1.65%-4.98% 1.05%-2.30%  The higher the expected annual
refurn rate, the higher the fair
value
EEEBEM 480,188 6000 TEHFEFE 1.65%-4.98% 106%-230% EEFEHEES AnE
Edm
Increase/decrease of lack of liquidity discount rate by 50 basis points (bps) would 2 R BT IR L0, AB0EE R - AR
decrease/increase fair value of unlisted equity investments by RMB138,000 (2023: FARERENDA R BEBRD EMAR
RMB48,000). Increase/decrease in the expected annual return rate by 50 bps would #£138,0007T (20234 : A KR #48,0007T) o 78 HA
increase/decrease the fair value of wealth management products by RMB6,000 [ 3R L A0, AS0EI AL, - B IR B E T
(2023: RMB300). ANREBEREI,H D ARES,0007T (20234 :

AR HE3007T) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

3.3

B BS AR MR

Financial risk management (Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for owners and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to owners, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “current and non-current
borrowings” and “current and non-current lease liabilities” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

3.3

M ¥ B EE ()

HeRBER

FAEENASETRRR  RREEBENE
B ARRFIREEIRA A METRA
ABRGETEE - B A 1 MR 0 R A 1 DA
K& S HRA -

RTEBIPRBRENERE  AEETRESH
EXNTERROBRMNEER  ARREREEAR
BT EEENRIKET -

HENEMAR—&K AEBEFNBEREE
LR EEREHE AR o bbb RIRRE S IF R A
BEXRGTE - BB FHEABER(BELEEHY
AR TSI 8 [ 8 & IE R B & 510 F1 [k
HRFENBEEEE) BRERENREER
Yy o BN R R | (WERE VMBI RKETF)
IMERGFEE

E-Z-_MER-_T_=F+_A=+—81"

REBOWERBELERNT :
2024 2023
ko 11 =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®EF T
Total borrowings (Note 21) ek (B EE21) 205,082 776,900
Total lease liabilities (Note 7) %@Tﬂf%ﬁ (MF5ET) 48,252 64,610
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 15) B RES RIBSEEY (HFE5) (1,529,682) (2,963,723)
Net cash BeRHE (1,276,348) (2,122,213)
Total equity wnEs 8,128,781 8,702,152
Total capital H#HEF 6,852,433 6,579,939

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group was in net cash position. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group’s capital risk is manageable.

T CUFFR

BE_T_HWUFt+_A=t—RAM-_FT_=

FT-A=1T—H SEHERNFRENAE-
EEZMRA/LEENELRRBRE -
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41

4.2

4.3

122 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Recognition of ERP and cloud implementation revenue

Revenue from ERP and cloud implementation contracts is recognised over
the period of the contracts by reference to the progress of work performed
and acknowledged by the customers. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
revenue of approximately RMB1,759,077,000 is generated from ERP and cloud
implementation contracts (2023: RMB1,625,107,000). The Group has to estimate
the progress of work performed. If the progress of work performed were to differ by
10% from management’s estimates (for example, 33% instead of 30%), the amount
of revenue recognised in 2024 would have been higher/lower by approximately
RMB175,908,000 (2023: RMB162,511,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the Group considered that the evaluated
unit is a separate group of cash-generated-units (the “CGU”) and the goodwill
is allocated to the CGU. Management assessed the impairment of goodwill by
determining the recoverable amount of the CGU, representing the higher of its
fair value less cost of disposal and value-in-use which is calculated using cash
flow forecasts based on the financial budgets approved by management. The
goodwill impairment assessment involves significant judgments and estimates
which include the adoption of appropriate valuation method and the use of key
assumptions (mainly revenue growth rate and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) margin during the forecast period,
terminal growth rate and pre-tax discount rate). Details of the impairment test are
set out in Note 8.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation technique.
Details of the judgments and assumptions have been disclosed in Note 9.

41

4.2

4.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

4.4

4.5

4.6

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Capitalisation of development costs

Development costs incurred are capitalised as intangible assets when recognition
criteria as detailed in Note 2.4(b) are fulfilled. Management has applied its
professional judgment in determining whether the related software products could
generate probable future economic benefits to the Group based on the historical
experience of the existing products and the prospects of the markets. Any severe
change in market performance or technology advancement will have an impact on
the development costs capitalised.

Estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs

The useful lives of capitalised development costs are estimated based on historical
experience, which include actual useful lives of similar assets and changes in
technology. If the estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs were
to shorter or longer by 10% from management’s estimates, the amortisation
charge for 2024 would have been higher by approximately RMB68,336,000
(2023: RMB52,125,000) or lower by approximately RMB50,210,000 (2023:
RMB50,089,000).

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

4.4

4.5

4.6

T CUFFR

o $8 & Bt B B FUER (4R)
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4.7

(a)

(b)
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgment
is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which
such determination is made.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were each entitled to a preferential enterprise
income tax rate for a specified period subject to certain conditions. Management
generally applies the applicable preferential tax rate to calculate current income
tax and deferred income tax (Note 30) on the assumption that the subsidiaries
will continue to meet the conditions and qualify for the preferential treatment as
gvidenced by past records. The consequence of any failure to meet the conditions
and any change in the applicable tax rate is adjusted in the year when the
information becomes known.

Deferred income taxes

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately
RMB519,609,000 (2023: RMB460,439,000) had not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of approximately
RMB5,196,088,000 (2023: RMB4,604,391,000) of certain subsidiaries in the
PRC as these earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries for
reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to their overseas holding
companies in the foreseeable future based on management’s estimation on the
Group's overseas funding requirements.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent
that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB573,533,000 (2023: RMB420,770,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to RMB4,580,686,000 (2023: RMB3,880,869,000) of certain Group’s
subsidiaries, which can be carried forward to offset against future taxable income,
all of which will expire in 2025 to 2034, respectively.

4.7

(a)

(b)
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mEMBRRME

4.8

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial assets at level 3 fair value
hierarchy

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of financial assets at level 3 fair value hierarchy see Note 3.2.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has been identified as executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the Group’s internal
reporting to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

Starting from 2024, the Group revised its internal reporting structure to separately
measure and review the performance of investment properties and equity
investments as a segment. Previously, equity investments were included within the
cloud services segment for segment results measurement. Accordingly, the Group
has identified the following operating segments and has recasted the comparative
segment information to align with the updated segment structure:

Cloud services -
business

Including enterprise cloud services, small & micro
business finance cloud services and industry cloud
SEIVices.

ERP business — Including sales of software and hardware products,
provision of software implementation, software
solution consulting, maintenance, upgrade and
other supporting services.

Investment — Including the investment properties, the
investments in associates, the listed equity
investments included in level 1 and the unlisted
equity investments included in level 3.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on the
profit or loss for the year of each segment. There were no segment assets and
segment liabilities information provided to the CODM, as CODM does not use this
information to allocate resources or to evaluate the performance of the operating
segments. Substantially all the businesses of the Group are carried out in the
PRC.

4.8
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meEMBHRRHE
5  Segment information (Continued) 5 HEIPEM(IE)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows: BHE-_Z_NF+_A=1+—HIFEDI
BRI
Cloud
services ERP The Group
business business Investment total
CEERER
ERBEE HEER BE sES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TRT AER®TT AR®TRT
Revenue (from external customers) WA (RESNEEF) 5,106,725 1,148,959 - 6,255,684
~ Products transferred at a point in time —EnEX—FEYER - 271,511 - 271,511
— Services transferred over time —REEXEFREER 5,106,725 877,448 - 5,984,173
Cost of sales SR A (1,744,918)  (440,004) - (2,185,012
Fair value losses on investment properties ~ REEME AR BEEH
Bk = - (55,170) (55,170)
Operating loss EEER (240,648)  (46,085)  (48,529)  (335,262)
Finance income B 7 U e 89,023 21,392 - 110,415
Finance costs B 75 A AR (13,241) (3,385) - (16,626)
Finance income - net BN —BE 75,782 18,007 - 93,789
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENBT MR = = 11,745 11,745
Loss hefore income tax MBS RAER (164,866) (28,078) (36,784)  (229,728)
Income tax credit/(expense) 8 &ismm,/ (B H) 32,292 14,470 (1,373) 45,389
Segment results SR (132,574) (13,608) (38,157)  (184,339)
Rental income HEWA - - 58,995 58,995
Depreciation and amortisation e R (410,614)  (188,441) - (599,055)
Realised and unrealised net losses on equity BEERRARERRERE
investment FEE - - (49,062) (49,062)
Net impairment losses on financial assets and SREEMAREEN
contract assets FREE K (728) (40,162) - (40,890)
Share-based payments LARR D B B B S A (66,111) (19,058) - (85,169)
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REMBHRRMT
5  Segment information (Continued) 5 SEEME)
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—"HIEFE»B
(recasted): AR (FEa) -
Cloud
Services ERP The Group
business business Investment total
TEER
TG ER BEHEES HE SEAF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFLT ARETT ARETR
Revenue (from external customers) WA (REIINBEF) 4,504,983 1,174,090 - 5,679,073
— Products transferred at a point in time —EmfEX -KEMER - 284,305 - 284,305
— Services transferred over time — IR R R HER 4,504,983 889,785 - 5,394,768
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,577,714) (457 370) - (2,035,084)
Fair value losses on investment properties ~ REMME QL BES
Bk - - (28,858) (28,858)
Operating loss EEEE (344,705) (72,755) (2,487) (419,947)
Finance income B 75 2 88,064 24,204 - 112,268
Finance costs B 75 K AR (17,148) (4,805) - (21,953)
Finance income - net MBBKA -8 70,916 19,399 - 90,315
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENANNDEE - - 28,506 28,506
Loss before income tax HMEmEBRAEGR (273,789) (53,356) 26,019 (301,126)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris®ishm,(BH) 32,435 580 (1,695) 31,320
Segment results SEER (241,354) (52,776) 24,324 (269,806)
Rental income A WA - - 66,087 66,087
Depreciation and amortisation T N H 8 (374,994) (124,023) - (499,017)
Impairment of goodwill EENEAED (20,109) - - (20,109)
Realised and unrealised net losses on equity EERRARERRERE
investment FIE1E - - (31,347) (31,347)
Net impairment losses on financial assets and 4 &t & & M & [ B &= 5
contract assets ENEAEREEN 1,289 (72,344) - (71,055)
Share-based payments VAR 00 B E AR &) 2 A (79,584) (16,694) - (96,278)
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(a)

(i)

128 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Segment information (Continued)

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands while the Group mainly
operates its business in the PRC. Revenue from external customers from the
PRC and other locations is RMB6,185,824,000 (2023: RMB5,636,312,000) and
RMB69,860,000 (2023: RMB42,761,000), respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2024.

There was no single customer that contributed to over 10% of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

(a)

SEBEM (48)

AAFRRBERFASHERERIEESR
AR -HE—ET-_WNF+_A=+—HItF
ERAPEREANIINBEFBELENE
A & A FR#56,185,824,0007C (B - =4 : A
IR #5,636,312,00070) + R BB INRI SN IR P UK
A B ARKB9,860000C (T =4 ARK
42,761,0007T) °

HE_Z_WFEM_ZTZ-_=F+_A=+—
ALFEERRBEE " BFRHEENKRAER
iR E10% °

BEFARARNRENAR

At 31 December
BE+_"_A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_mE —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT AR®EF T
Current contract assets relating to ERP and cloud ERPREE A FAEEM
implementation contracts mBEREE 540,991 510,410
Loss allowance BRERH (175,284) (148,032)
Total BEtr 365,707 362,378
Contract obtaining costs (i) & RS A AN() 906,426 643,497
Contract liabilities — Cloud services business ARBE-ERBES 3,462,546 2,867,294
Contract liabilities — ERP business and others AREBE-DEERER
FHEIFES R HAL 261,023 309,295
Total B\Er 3,723,569 3,176,589
Contract obtaining costs () ESFAREEF

Management expects the incremental costs, primarily sale commissions paid/
payable, as a result of obtaining the cloud services contracts are recoverable.
The Group capitalised these incremental costs and amortised them in “Sales
promotion” expenses when the related revenue is recognised. There was no
impairment loss in relation to the costs capitalised.
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mEMBRRME

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

Segment information (Continued)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

(Continued)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current

reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

(a)

(ii)

SEBEM (48)

BEFARARMNRENAR(E)

BEAARARCREHKA

TRETEMRSHACEROB AR ELS
BARBEHEMBNESE -

Year ended 31 December
BE+_HA=+—H

2024 2023
—E_mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Cloud services business ERBEEE 2,156,999 1,773,859
ERP business and others rEEREEITEES
K E A 309,295 391,562
2,466,294 2,165,421
Unsatisfied long-term cloud services contracts (i) KBEITHRBERBERA

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from long-

term fixed-price cloud services contracts.

TRERTRABEEBNERF ARG K
BITE B HI%E 5 -

At 31 December
B#E+-"HA=+—H

204 2023

—E_mE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ABR®TT AREEF T
Aggregate amount of the transaction price excluding tax allocated A+ = A=+—B D4
to long-term cloud services contracts that are partially or fully NEEBRBEITHRAE
unsatisfied as at 31 December REERNTESHARS

B 1,603,306 1,223,046

Management expects that approximately 43.79% of the transaction price allocated
to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2024 will be recognised as revenue
during the next reporting period (RMB702,119,000). The remaining approximately
56.21% (RMB901,187,000) will be recognised in and after the 2026 financial year.

All other cloud services and ERP business contracts are for periods of one year
or less or are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

T CUFFR
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meEMBHRRHE
6 Property, plant and equipment 6 ABHE -IBREME
Computer and
related Office Motor Leasehold  Construction

Buildings equipment equipment vehicles  improvements in process Total
B TEREMRE  WORE i BoMxEE  £RIE ait
RIB000 RMBO00 RIBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00
ARETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  AREFn  ARETR  ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-SCZETIACT-RLER
Opening net book amourt BOEEEE 582815 71569 0om 8213 13309 69011 13766
Addtions AR - 16428 504 537 ) 516,383 w01
Disposdls RE - (149) ] (665) - - (2505)
Trenser from consruction nprcess FEIEE 19740 - - - - (197471 -
Trensfer from investment properies REWFHESD 150522 - - - - - 1505
Trensfr o nvstmentpropefes REHEHEE) (12467) - - - - (6703 (99.499)
Depreciaton charge T (23220 (23,746 228) 23m (4930) - (56,501
Closing net book amount HRETESE 89,131 64702 1320 10968 1294 922491 119,49

At 31 December 2023 RIBZZE+ZAZT-A

Cost A 1,090,097 0512 Hin 31,108 90,634 920491 230,966
Accumleted depreciation ZiE (194 966) (105,810) (2188) (20,140) (77.690) - (i20468)
Net ook amount FESE 895,131 64702 1320 10968 1294 920491 1919.498

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-B-MEtZAST-RLEE
Opening et book amount BEREA 895,131 64,702 13,262 10,968 12,04 02491 1,919,498
Addtions HfER - 14,052 10,208 5,200 4797 108,516 142,860
Digasls B2 : (247 (316) o) - - (290
Trensfe from consruction n prcess FEIEER 936,326 - - - - (956,326) -
Trensfer from investment poperies RERRIHEEL 4810 - - = - = 4510
Trensler o investmentproerts RERFHEE) (238,250) - - - - - (238,290)
Depreciation charge Vit (51,126) (18,965) (3,522) (2,763) (5,620) - (81,99)
Closing e ok amun HREERE T I A

At 31 December 2024 RZBZME+ZA=+-AR

Cost s 1,801,838 114,113 42,557 34,264 95,430 74,681 2,003,483
cumiaed Geecion gifiiE o) (T (%0 %) (550 - ()
Net ook amount RESE 1,566,991 57415 19,621 13,283 12,12 14,681 1,744,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

(a)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 6
Depreciation of approximately RMB4,320,000 (2023: RMB5,364,000),
RMB273,000 (2023: nil), RMB66,519,000 (2023: RMB39,520,000) and
RMB1,217,000 (2023: RMB1,819,000) has been charged to selling and marketing

expenses, research and development costs, administrative expenses and cost of
sales, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the property, plant and equipment was used as

security for bank borrowings (2023: nil).

Leases 7
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position (a)

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

TEE - TR (&)

FEHARBLI000T (ZZ2 =4 AR
#45,364,0007T) - AREE273,0007T (Z T =% :
/) ARE66,519000t (ZZE =% AR
#:39,520,0007T) 1 A R 61,217,000 (2 ==
F: ARM18190007T) B D BIETAHE &
HEM MERA EBRERMBEEKR -

BE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—BYLUEUTH
E -IRRZBERERNORITENR (=T
T=FE) .

HE
AHTHRHBR AR BERREANEE S -
MBRARAEROLHE

FRRARBE R T BEEEMO NS

At 31 December
BE+_"-HA=+—H

2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Right-of-use assets EHERE
Land use rights (i) -+ {5 A3 () 135,478 143,236
Buildings BE 52,596 60,210
188,074 203,446
Lease liabilities HEAR
Current T ED 22,291 26,451
Non-current SERED 25,961 38,159
48,252 64,610

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2024 financial year were
RMB21,202,000 (2023: RMB37,857,000).

() The Group has land lease arrangement with Mainland China government.
The land use rights are located in the PRC and held on leases of between
27 to 38 years, and for self-use.

E_T_NHEEER - FHEEEEN
ARE21202000 (- =4F: AR
37,857,0007%,) °

() AEERESAEAMBTETELHREL -
T EAECRPEARKMBEEA -
THE R =38 - HHEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMT
7  Leases (Continued) 7 HE#E)
(b)  Amounts recognised in the income statement (h) WERAWIEHEE
The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases: BHFINTH T EEEEESRH -
2024 2023
—E_mE —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TE AR®EF T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets CHRESENHESER
Land use rights T Hb{E 5,543 3,717
Buildings BE 25,787 25,602
31,330 29,319
Interest expense (included in finance cost) FEBAGIAMBER) 3,311 3,298
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of HEREREHEESRHE
sales and administrative expenses) EEEEHEHRENER
GTABHERAREEER) 5,577 10,157
The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was RMB43,416,000 (2023: —ZE -4 .Tﬂﬁ?‘iﬁ’]fﬁi\ﬁ A A
RMB47,298,000). ARMEAZ 6000 (ZEZZF : AR
47,298,0007T)
(¢) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for (c) FTKEWHEFTHRETHER
The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed NREBHEZERAZE - HEARAT 2
periods of 1 to 8 years, but may have extension options as described in (d) below. FHARR - 1FEE8F T EOIREB S T ()T
LB TE R SR o
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of THEKFIEREEEBENER LHEm 2888
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants BIAENERMEE BEHEAFENEE
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. BEMEREZRI  BEWZE T NEMRZ
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. 4 FAEBETSEAEIRIER-
(d) Extension and termination options (d) EHEBFEMKLEASHIZE

132 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases
across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the

respective lessor.

AEBNZERAZHERSEREZEN
WIFTRERER  WEASECLEHANE
EEBTASAREMESESHNEE T -
AEEHENABERREEMREEE
BIBEERAEETE  MIEHERHDA
AFTHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
8 Intangible assets 8 EEEE
Trademarks, Computer Acquired
Development  licensesand  software for customer
Goodwill costs copyrights ownuse relationship Total
[l K
He MREE HROEEE BRERRG ERRE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETLT ARETE AR®ETRT ARETFT ARETT AR®ETR
Yearended 31 December HE-E-Z=f+=AH
2023 =+—HLEEE
Opening net book amount YRR SE 204,589 886,942 83,577 8,211 9,056 1192,375
Additions H g - 478,349 - 4335 - 482,684
Amortisation charge LY - (408,101) (10,844) (2968) (1,082 (422.995)
Impairment loss WERKX (20,109) - - - - (20,109)
Closing net book amount 4% 9 0 184,460 957,190 72733 9578 o 1231955
At 31 December 2023 RZIBZZH§
+=R=+-H
Cost A 258,657 4963,74 293,862 62,135 36,749 5,615,144
Accumulated amortisation Rt - (4,006,551) (221129) (52,557) (28,775) (4,309,012)
Accumulated Impairment 2 RE (14.177) - - - (74.177)
Net book amount IRERE 184,480 957,190 72,133 9578 7974 1,231,955
Yearended 31 December HE_E-ME+ZA
2024 =t+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount HREEE 184,480 957,190 12,733 9,578 1,974 1,231,955
Additions Hp R - 484,284 - 11,049 - 495,333
Amortisation charge B - (482,794) (9,157 (2,363) (1,082) (495,396)
Closing net book amount M IR B 8 184,480 958,680 63,576 13,264 6,802 1,231,802
At 31 December 2024 R-S-mF
+ZR=+-H
Cost A 258,657 5,448,024 293,862 13,183 36,749 6,110,475
Accumulated amortisation g £ - (4,489,344) (230,286) (54,919) (29,857) (4,804,406)
Accumulated Impairment ZFRE (74,177) - - - - (74,177)
Net book amount IRE#E 184,480 958,680 63,576 18,264 6,892 1,231,892

Amortisation charge of RMB2,423,000 (2023:RMB4,880,000), RMB484,482,000
(2023:RMB408,101,000), RMB8,364,000 (2023:9,628,000) and RMB127,000
(2023:386,000) has been charged to administrative expenses, research and
development costs, selling and marketing expenses and cost of sales respectively.

BHEHBER DR ARB2423000T (Z T - =
F: AR 14,880,0007T) - A R #484,482,0007C
(ZZ =% : AR¥408,101,0007T) - AR
8,364,0007C (—ZZE =4 : AK¥9,628,0007T)
AER#127,0007 (ZZ = =4F - ARKE386,0007T)
DRFATHER MBEEM HEREH
ERMBERA -

T CUFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

134 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Intangible assets (Continued) 8 E|EEEEGE)
Impairment test for goodwill e E

The goodwill amounting to RMB181,245,000 arises from the Group’s acquisition of
Shanghai Guanyi Cloud Computing Software Co., Ltd. (“Guanyi”) was determined
at the date of acquisition on 29 February 2016, being the difference between the
purchase considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of Guanyi.
Goodwill has been allocated to the CGU of Guanyi for impairment testing.

The goodwill amounting to RMB77,412,000 arises from the Group’s acquisition
of Beijing Kingdee Yunji Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yunji”) was determined at the
date of acquisition on 28 July 2021, being the difference between the purchase
considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of Yunji. Goodwill has
been allocated to the CGU of Yunji for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of its fair
value less cost of disposal and value-in-use, which is calculated using discounted
cash flows based on five-year financial projections plus a terminal value related
to cash flows beyond the projection period extrapolated at an estimated terminal
growth rate of 2.00% (2023: 2.50%). Management determined a forecast
period based on expected development trend of Guanyi and Yunji with industry
experience. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to
the relevant industry.
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P A R#181,245,000C 5k B A A EE H
HESEFERMHERAR(ES]) MU -
HEE-ZS—RNE-_A-TNLhBWERKER-
ZHERESUHRFEEAABERIH
HEMNEZE HEZAHEANBEDLRA
B EENETET TRERR -

8 b A R #577,412,0007T 2k B P AN £ B 4
REREEMBZERQA ([EE£]) K-
HEZZ-_—F+A- T \BKEA®R -
ZHEREENHRFEEAAEERAXN
HEMZRE HUEEAHELANHECKSR
BRSERETET TREN -

ReELSUMAKDSERENEAAE
BERERERAMNERBEEME RS EE
TR EREEIERARKAFOMEIEN
MERERFEBRNESRE (RA200%(=
T =51 250%) WEETREPERRETHD)
RREEFE - EEERBEEZINEENT
HBERBE RITEERETEEAL - M
MR ERHAT NS RRT EZEETER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
8 Intangible assets (Continued) 8 J|EEEGE)
Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) mERKE(E)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for 2024 and 2023 are as CECNFNM-_E_=FFEREENEEA
follows: BEZRBJFLT -
Guanyi: EH:
2024 2023
—Z-mE —T-=F
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period TEORIHA P IR A 38 = 3 12.41%-21.35% 9.08%-21.20%
EBITDA margin during the forecast period TERIERA BRI B SH A R =R 14.25%-31.38% 20.95%-28.39%
Terminal growth rate KB R & 2.00% 2.50%
Pre-tax discount rate FATRL IR = 18.26% 18.93%
As of 31 December 2024, recoverable amount of the CGU exceeding its carrying R-FE-—mE+—/F=+—8  CGUAT Kk E 4
amount to RMB1,309,000. 26488 B I (B (E AR 51,309,000 °
Yuniji: EBH:
2024 2023
—E-mE —T=F
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period TEORIER A R A3 R = 20.07%-58.31%  19.50%-181.40%
EBITDA margin during the forecast period TE ORI ER 79 BB 4T 85 5 8 AT R R = -4.34%-26.83% 0.13%-28.67%
Terminal growth rate KB R & 2.00% 2.50%
Pre-tax discount rate TRTALIR = 20.46% 20.90%
Recoverable amount of the CGU exceeding its CoURI Yz E ¢ BB BRMEEEI D
carrying amount (RMB'000) (AR®EFT) 21,990 8,886
EBITDA margin equals to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and BT EHMEINANBEBRRETEL ST E -
amortisation divided by total revenue. & MEREEAENEGRAEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

8 Intangible assets (Continued)
Leasing arrangements (Continued)
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

Based on management’s assessment on the recoverable amounts of the Group
acquired, no impairment charge was made during the year ended 31 December
2024.

As at 31 December 2024, analysis has been performed by the management
of the Group on the reasonably possible changes in each of the following key
assumptions, with all other variables held constant, of goodwill impairment tests of
the CGUs (excludes Guanyi's)above:

For Yuniji, the recoverable amount of this CGU would equal its carrying amount if
the key assumptions were to change as follows:

==,

EEEE(K)
BE R ()
MEBESTERESLOBE

BEEEEHKESE T KRE BT -
HE-_Z-_NWE+-_A=+—HBIEE" X
FHEREER -

HE-_Z-_NWE+_-_A=1+—0 XEEE
BEEoS i SREIS (TeEEES) 8
HeEABTCUNBERBRERET IO
N ESERRERENEET S (KRR
RIRFTE) o

WRER MEWRBREENT R &
CGUEY 7T 1 Bl 4 38 45 2 3 KL AR T 08

2024
—E|mE
From To
e E

Revenue growth rate (% annual growth rate)
EBITDA margin (%)

Pre-tax discount rate (%) T ATREER % (%)

AR R (FREERY)
BT B 5E B R 2R (%)

20.07%-58.31%
-4.34%-26.83%
20.46%

18.74%-54.46%
-5.88%-24.61%
22.10%

Based on the results of the analysis, reasonably possible changes in the above
key assumptions would not cause the above CGUs (excludes Guanyi's) carrying
amount to exceed their recoverable amount as at 31 December 2024.

For Guanyi, the Group performs a sensitivity analysis based on the reasonably
possible changes in assumptions, the recoverable amount of this CGU would equal
its carrying amount if the key assumptions were to change as follows:

BEAMER  ERHRBR0S 2T L2
ETEEH L RRSELET (TREES)
E-T-mE+- A+ BNEEEERS
BEAYE 5 -

HKNE S FEBZRNRRHAETEEL
EATERME ST - M RBRB RN TR
b ZHSEEETOTHESEESNE
B (E -

2024
—ZE_mE
From To
(] £

Revenue growth rate (% annual growth rate)
EBITDA margin (%)

Pre-tax discount rate (%) TR B3R (%)

B SRE (F HRES)
25057 25 5 AT B 35 0)

12.37%-21.29%
10.18%-31.25%
18.36%

12.41%-21.35%
14.25%-31.38%
18.26%
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REMBRRH T
9 Investment properties 9 BEMYE
2024 2023
ko 11 - 3 =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®EF T
At fair value LREE
At 1 January ®—B—H 1,726,750 1,734,079
Transfer to property, plant and equipment and HEUMEENEEEEREH
right-of-use assets BEE (5,060) (197,709)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment TEE ITHREEEEAKREN
LS 238,250 99,499
Transfer from right-of-use assets FREEEE AREEME 1,950 1,638
Addition E b 3E 0 24,303 41,582
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss EERRTERAN A BEE S (55,170) (28,858)
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from T i RIEFRE AR E Y EE]
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 2 EHAE
assets to investment properties 233,668 76,519
At 31 December ®R+=-—A=+—H 2,164,691 1,726,750
(a) Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties (a) BRAMMERCERSARBHBET :
2024 2023
—E_mE —Eo=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARBTT
Rental income He WA 58,995 66,087
Direct operating expenses from property that generates ~ EEF S WA R EEDER
rental income HELZER (192) (379)

An independent valuation of the Group’s investment properties was performed by
the valuer, Avista Group, to determine the fair value of the investment properties
based on highest and best use as at 31 December 2024. The Group’s investment
properties, which comprised office buildings in the PRC, were carried at fair value
and measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December

2024 and 2023.

REMELD
=t—8Rk

HEMYEREREAEBNRENESE
OTBYHE UWBZ2-ZTE-_MF+=A
Tt BB NREFEREEAERET

NABE RZZE-_NF+=A
—E-o=®#+=-A=+—H '8

EHERABEANNYEARRBEIEK
WEAEBATATER AR (B AE -

T CUFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

(b)

138 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Investment properties (Continued)
Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases, but
there are no other variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. Where
considered necessary to reduce credit risk, the Group required the tenants to
provide deposits for the term of lease contract.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the
current leases, the Group typically enters into new operating leases and therefore
will not immediately realise any reduction in residual value at the end of these
leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in the fair value
of the properties.

For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties, refer
to Note 34.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. This
team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO). Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held among the CFO, the valuation team and the
valuers at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s interim and annual
reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period the finance department:

—  Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

—  Assesses property valuations movements when compared to the prior year
valuation report;

—  Holds discussions with the independent valuer.

As part of this discussion, the team presents a report that explains the reasons for
the fair value movements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

(b)

Investment properties (Continued)

Leasing arrangements (Continued)

Valuation techniques

For completed and construction in progress office buildings, the valuation was

determined using income approach based on significant unobservable inputs.
These inputs include:

9 HREMMERGE)
(b) TEEEH ()
1

ECERAMEERAKRENHER AW EZE
BEANTABRGAETE - BLHABRE:

Unobservable inputs  Description
FARREBA fii

Range of unobservahle Relationship of unobservable
inputs inputs to fair value
FURRBANEE FURRBAHLORRENRE

Term yields Based on yields extracting from terms of current leases

THHA = REEMERITNAESNET  MaEEROYEE

Reversionary yields Based on expected yields after expiry of any current lease

THE M = REEMERITNAEESNET BB S BRI
Weg & ;

Fair market rents Based on the actual location, type and quality of the properties and

supported by the terms of any existing lease, other contracts and
external evidence such as current market rents for similar properties

[iiorika RENENERDY  BUNG R YAEAREEEN
% Htt e RN EEE PImEUnENE TS
TRIE)ATSH

4.75% (2023: 4.75%) The higher the term yields rate, the lower the
fair value

475%(ZF 2= 475%) BHAKERHES AABEME

5% (2023: 5%) The higher the reversionary yields, the lower
the fair value

S(ZT =% - 5%) BEMNREEES  AABEYE

RMB49- RMB155 per month per  The higher the rental value, the higher the fair
square meter (2023: RMB49- valug
RMB137 per month per square
meter)

BRETFRARBOL- mHEeHE  AnBEES
AREIBST (Z22=
F:BAGTHRAR
49T - N RE137 L)

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

FARGBERMLEES -
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e MBRRME

10 Investments in associates 10 BERS

2024 2023

—Z_M{mE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARBFIT

At 1 January ®»—BA—H 434,461 421,593
Additions 2 0 90,000 -
Disposal RE - (6,329)
Deemed disposal RIERE - (7,583)
Impairment of an associate Bk w2 95 & KO R E = (1,726)
Dividend received W B 9 AR F) (12,757) -
Share of profits of associates ZEBERENBTGEE 11,745 28,506
At 31 December »+=B=+—H 523,449 434,461

(a) SEEXHBERS

AEEEER R AEEEERNBE
BE - ERAERERENIFEABER
BmR B EMERMT

(a) Individually immaterial associates

In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the
Group. Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method are as

following:
2024 2023
—E_mE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTIT
Aggregate carrying amounts of individually immaterial FFE K KB & QAR RMA S 58
associates 523,449 434,461
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: REBEFTE BB
Profit for the year FEAF 11,745 28,506
Other comprehensive income HMima s - -
Total comprehensive income GERaWE 11,745 28,506

(b) AEERBEMERRIYAIFLTRRE
WA BIRPER S - AN B 15 B i s
AEBBEHEBNEASFAEE -

(b)  Allthe associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in Mainland China.
There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to liabilities of the
associates for which the Group is severally liable.

140 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

(c)  Unrecognised share of losses of associates (c) FERIELEBMELTEGIE
2024 2023
—E-plE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
At 1 January —B—H 40,586 36,862
Unrecognised share of losses during the year FERNARERANEERNE 1,418 3,724
At 31 December +=-—BA=+—H 42,004 40,586

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
11 Financial instruments by category 11 BRI EMIA
The Group holds the following financial instruments: REERBUTEMIE
2024 2023
—Z-mE =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost DESEFHENERMEE
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and & U BR 5k Kz L i JiE Ug 5% (R & B 3%

VAT recoverable) (Note 13) RA[RE 2 IBER) (H513) 418,096 420,984
Loans to third parties (Note 13) BT E=HE R (FIFE3) 371,117 321,667
Pledged bank deposits (Note 15) B HRITE R (M 5E15) 14,472 3,928
Short-term bank deposits (Note 15) RAERSRITF R (M 3E15) 1,537,000 1,045,000
Long-term bank deposits (Note 15) REASRITIF R (MI3E15) 1,094,000 1,680,000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 15) Re kRS FEY (MFE15) 1,529,682 2,963,723

4,964,367 6,435,302
Financial assets at fair value DARBEMEHEMEE
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 12) AR BESEAEHTAEREN
& E (M5E12) 1,448,148 1,007,930
Financial assets at FVOCI UARBEEBES A AEME
SUWRN TR EE 4,463 4,463
1,452,611 1,012,393
Financial liabilities eMAaR
Liabilities at amortised cost DT ENSBER
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes & 1~F B 3% K2 L b 1< 5% (R S 3 EH

payables and salary and staff welfare payables) MEMHS  BRAEFEREIEF)

(Note 23) (Pft5E23) 1,186,348 929,927
Bank borrowings (Note 21) fEx (FsE21) 205,082 776,900
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEaE (M) 48,252 64,610

1,439,682 1,771,437
The Group's exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is AEEEMEI0)F w7 REBTAAR
discussed in Note 3.1(b). The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the MEERER REMKTHEERBRNKZK
reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned WMAALLMEEeMEENREEE -
above.

—TOMEFR SRERSGERERAT 14



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at FVPL:

° Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised
cost or FVOCI

° Equity investments that are held for trading, and

° Equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise fair
value gains and losses through OCI

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following:

12

(a)

LoRBAEAEAREBAARE
&R E

LoanREAEAREBAARGHEM
RESW

AEBHUATEREES D RARABER
EAHEHIABRENEREE

s THEEBRALDIAEBEEEHAR
iR & Wt ERENEBRE

° RREMBANKERE ARk

s AEEREEEZEBBAABEEDIA
Hipfra WSt B RERE

UNorBEABAZHAAEENEREE
BEATAR

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss 5 7E A 72 BEEZ B ABZENIRE

Wealth management products (i) BEEEER) 480,188 6,000
Listed equity securities TR EE A 95,373 37,182
Unlisted equity investments (ii) I - IR A (i) 872,587 964,748
1,448,148 1,007,930

Less: non-current portion B IERE I (872,587) (964,748)
575,561 43182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management
products issued by commercial banks. These product have a term ranging
from 1 days to 12 months(2023: 7 days) with an expected annual return
rate ranging from 1.67% to 2.55% (2023: 1.05% to 2.30%). No single
wealth management product investment accounted for over 5% of the
Group’s total assets. The fair values of these investments were determined
based on income approach, details of which refer to Note 3.2.

(i) This represented the Group’s investments in various unlisted investments,
including companies in software industry.
Amounts recognised in profit or loss

The losses were recognised in profits or loss are as following:

12 LARKREFELREBHHARRE

&R EE ()
(a) HMAAMENEARSHHARSHSR
HEDE (W)

(1)

(i

AEERERBERTEITHSEEY
Eme BHNERBRMRENREA (=
T_=F TR BRI FREE/E
167%ZE255% 2 (ZZ == : 1.05% %=
230%) < R A —HEMERKREGEHE
BEENL ERIBEI% - BEREN AR
BEEREBEWZERER - EmE RN
32

ERTAEENZBIF LTRERE
BREERITENRF -

(b)) HRBRIHEH

THBRANAFASER BB

2024 2023
—E_ME TE-=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Fair value losses on investments at FVPL recognised UAanEBEFEEEZEEH AER
in other gains (Note 27) NEeRMEENAAEBEZHEX
(B 5E27) (45,652) (50,539)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

13
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Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties

13 BEREXRRAMERR RETH

=HFER
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER%TT AR®EF T
Trade receivables (a) JE U BR 7R (a) 272,415 245,992
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables B EAEOR B 2 (FTRE3.1(D))
(Note 3.1(b)) (131,463) (124,538)
Trade receivables — net FEMBR I —F K 140,952 121,454
Notes receivable FEME % 40,396 58,854
Other receivables H fib FE UK
— Advances to employees (b) —mEEREEASD) 5,816 5,457
— Prepayments — TR 63,199 43428
— VAT recoverable —EEBRB 27,600 31,423
— Interest receivables — U F B, 181,565 174,742
— Receivables from related parties (c) (Note 35(c)) — JE 5 B8 55 75 3R IA(c) (P 3E35(c)) 10,027 22,457
— Receivables from non-controlling shareholders — FEUR JEE A 2 40,403 40,415
— Others —Hh 18,235 10,698
— Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables — - H AR FURE R (T
(excluding prepayments) (Note 3.1(b)) T ERIERR SN (B 7E3.1(b)) (19,298) (13,093)
508,895 495,835
Less: non-current portion B IEREE D (92,656) (131,503)
Current portion mEE D 416,239 364,332
Loans to third parties (d) BFE=HERW)
— Current portion —mEER D 240,862 231,596
— Non-current portion —FEmBE D 130,255 90,071
371,117 321,667

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.
The Group’s trade and other receivables are mainly denominated in RMB.

WREZUAREEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRRHE
13 Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 13 FEUREREEXMERDR  RIGTE
(Continued) =H R (E)
(a)  Sales are generally made without prescribed credit terms in the sales contracts but ~ (a) ZANEBEEHE S R P EWIR R EE TR
customers usually take 1 to 3 months to settle the receivables. At 31 December B ExFARE—Z=Z=-@ARAZNHRE-
2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date were TECNFEER-ZE-_=F+=-A=+—HE
as follows: WER A BRER D AT A0 T
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEF T
0-90 days 0—90K 113,172 80,207
91 —180 days 91—180K 12,894 20,402
181 - 360 days 181—360% 8,772 11,373
QOver 360 days B iB360K 137,577 134,010
272,415 245,992
(b) Advances to employees (h) MEERHFEAS
The amounts advanced to employees were restricted for business purpose MEBREMNERSERKEELSE  flmn
only, such as advances for selling expenses. Such advances were interest free, ARHERZ ZERE LB EEER
unsecured and repayable on demand. During the years ended on 31 December ARERFEE BLEE-_ZT-_NFR_-F
2024 and 2023, the Group did not advance any cash to the directors. —=F+ZA=t+—HB AEBVERES
TEZ AR -
(c)  Receivables from related parties were unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on~ (¢) FEUKEFE H BV EEF R EF S RIFE
demand and denominated in RMB. KERFE  UARBEE -
(d) Loans to third parties (d HPFBE=ZFAHER
2024 2023
—E_mE —EC-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTT ARETT

Loans to third parties KTIEZANER 374,866 324,916
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment B BREER

of the loans (3,749) (3,249)
Loans to third parties, net of provision BTEZHANER—FE 371,117 321,667
Less: non-current portion B IERE I D (130,255) (90,071)
Current portion MBS 240,862 231,596
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

meEMBHRRHE
13 Trade and other receivables, and loans to third parties 13 FEUREREEMERDR  RIETE
(Continued) =HE®(E)
(d)  Loans to third parties (Continued) (d) HPE=ZFHER(HE)
The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit business, BRTF-—ITMERABNEEEEXEKEANE
which bear interest from 4.28% to 24.00% (2023: 4.28% to 24.00%) per annum R BRENREL28%F24.00%( - T - =4
and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all denominated 4.28%%24.00%) 2 [ - WHEEE i E R EE
in RMB. HfAEE  BHUAREEHE -
The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying amounts. ZRTEZRFERN AR EEHEAAEEER
The interest accrued was due within 12 months and presented in interest Bl o AFFHRMEYCR S 128 A R EIE
receivables. WHIBRRFENFIE A -
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and AEEEETCEERVBRBZEEENNA
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis Bl UREERAREPHEEERKRESHE
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase ﬁ EREEN - BTHEERRKREEBEERE
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at le] AEBBEEERSTAHBLEENNR
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. bR ER )RR B BB B MM RBRETTEL 8 ©
The Group performed expected credit loss assessment of loans to third parties AEEBBAYEBEUERARBREZRNE
collectively by grouping loans with similar credit risk characteristics. During the RETHE HKREHE= EE RHETT T IEH
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the majority of the loans were in stage 1 B {= A KET 13 EHE-ZE-_MNF+=A
and there was no significant change in credit quality for loans for both years. =t+—HMZE=-=F+=-A=+—HHF
B RZHUERERE —BE LHEM
FHEREAESHRBEEERNE L -
14 Inventories 14 &8
2024 2023
S E T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER%TT AR®EF T
Software products and related parts B E o SR AR R BC 1 46,165 45611

146 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales”
amounted to approximately RMB247,095,000 (2023: RMB203,912,000) (Note 26).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

REMBHRRMT
15 Cash and cash equivalents 15 RERBEEED
2024 2023
ko 11 - 3 =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTIT
Cash at bank and in hand (a) RITREFER () 4,175,154 5,692,651
Less: Short-term bank deposits (b) R EERTTIE (D) (1,537,000) (1,045,000)
Long-term bank deposits (c) RHIRITIFR(C) (1,094,000) (1,680,000)
Pledged bank deposits (d) EEHIRTER() (14,472) (3,928)
Cash and cash equivalents RERFAEEED 1,529,682 2,963,723
Cash at bank and in hand was denominated in the following (a) BITREFRSLUTIEWEE:
currencies:
2024 2023
—E_mE —Eo=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR ARBTT
RMB AR 4,115,341 5,408,005
usb ETT 8,733 133,852
HKD ki 44,009 149,254
Others Hi 7,071 1,540
4,175,154 5,692,651

(b)

(c)

(d)

The weighted-average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 3.28% (b)
(2023: 2.68%) with terms ranging from 1 months to 10 months.

The weighted-average effective interest rate on long-term bank deposits was 2.80% (c)
(2023: 3.52%) with terms ranging from 13 months to 36 months.

The bank deposits were pledged to banks as required in certain projects the Group (d)
was tendering. Such pledged deposits will be released upon the closure of the

tendering.

T CUFFR

HEA =108 A R BRI EROERAEXR

328%(=ZF =4 :268%) °

EHRITEROBRANED280%(—F—=
& 1 352%)  HARR A 13 = 361E A -

SEE2ESFERERER  RERHRT
FREWGRITERER - WREMWRTT
TS ERIZE RIS S RAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRWE
16 Subsidiaries 16 F2F
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024: UTAR-_Z-_MF+_A=+—HBXEFR
a)
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation  Principal activities Particulars of issued shares directly ~ ordinary shares held non-controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital held by parent (%) hy the Group (%) interests (%)
fdilanit HBAREEREEN BEEEHEN BEEHLEE
1) RiERERERN IERBREENE BETR&HE BERLA() BERWLA) HHOERLAC)
Kingdeg Software (Ching] Co., Lid. The PRC, limited liability ~ Development, manufacturing and selling RVIB330,000,000 10 100 -
(‘Kingde Ching') company o software and hardware products and
provision of sofware-related ervices in the
PRC
£ GEN1 N hEARERRE  FE BEREEHAREMER: RMB30,000,000 m 1 -
(E22aE0) RBER A ERRIRY
EF'
Kingdee International Softwere Group Hong Kong, limited iability  Sales of sofware products in Hong Kong USD1,000,000 10 10 -
(H.K) Co, Lid. company
SRERYNEE (R ERDA AR AREARE  AHERHE TR (SD1,000,000 100 1 -
Crofona Asses Limited BUI,limited iablity company  Merketing and promation of software products USD50,000 10 10 -
inHong Kong
Crotona Asses Limied ABEREE BRE QHERTRER BE USD30,000 10 11 -
N
Kingdeg Apusic Cloud Computing Co, Lid. ~~ The PRC, limitec iabiliy el of software products in the PRC RIB40,000,000 - Q0 60
(‘Kingdeg Apusic’) (Note (2) cororafion
MITeSRARHERRERLD T8 RBARLA  FHEREE # RMB0,000,000 - 0 8
(2 8RE])(H3H)
Shanghai Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing ~ The PRC, limited liabiiy el of software products in the PRC RIB20,000,000 - 100 -
Co., Lid (*Shanghai Kingdee") company
LEEREEEHEARAT hE BREMLE  EAERES TE RI1B20,000,000 - 100 -
([La2%))
Kingdeg Degking Cloudcomputing Co., Ltd ~ The PRC, limited iability ~ Sales o software products in the PRC RVIB50,000,000 - 10 -
(‘Kingdeg Degking’) company
SRR ENRARRA hEAREARE  RHERHE HE RHBS0,000,000 - 10 -
([e5%2))
Kingdee Vehicle Network Technology The PRC, limited liabiiy ~ Development of intemet echnology i the RIVB100,000,000 - 5 @
Co., Lid. (‘Kingdee Vehicke') company PRC
SRAERERRERAT hE EREMLT  EBERERE RE RVB100,000,000 - 5 1
([e%A8])
Guanyi The PRC, limited liability el of software products in the PRC RIB16,238,000 - 80 ]
compeny
€5 hE EREERE  AHEREE ® RIIB16,536,000 - 8 0
Hunan Kingdee Softwere Technology Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited iability ~ Sales of software products in the PRC R1B20,000,000 - 10 -
compeny
HERRNRINERAT T AREELT  BHEREE -4 RMB20,000,000 - ] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024:

16 F2F ()

UNTFAER-_Z-_NWFEF+_A=+—HEXEFR

(Continued) A (&)
Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of ordinary Proportion of shares held by
Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities Particulars of issued shares directly ~ ordinary shares held non-controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital held by parent (%) by the Group (%) interests (%)
MR HBLFEERAN HFEEHAEY BB EE
&% RERTREAN TEERRUEEDS ERTREHE LEB A% BREBLA%) HHOEERLE)
Xiamen Kingdeg Software Co., Lid. The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Sales of software products n the PRC RVIB10,000,000 - 10 -
company
EFeREMERAT hE BREMLE  BAERES T8 RMB10,000,000 - 1 -
Beijing Kingdee Management Software The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RIB20,000,000 - 10 -
Co, Ltd. (‘Befiing Kingdeg') company
IREBEEERERAR hE BREMLE  EAEREES T8 RMB20,000,000 - 11 -
([krek])
Kingdes Credit Technology (Shenzhen) The PRC, limited iabilty ~ Online financial intermediation services RIB87 500,000 - i 3%
Co, Ltd company inthe PRC
SRERMB R ERAT hEBRERLT  BLeRANRE - HE RMBST 500,000 - 4 %
Shanghai Kingdeg Internet Technology The PRC, limited iability ~ Sales of software products n the PRC RVIB10,000,000 - 10 -
Co, Ltd company
LESRREREERAR hE BREMLE  BAERES T8 RMB10,000,000 - 10 -
Kingdes Cloud Technology Co,, Lid. The PRC, limited iabilty ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RIB30,000,000 - 10 -
company
SREMRARAT (RERR]) =8 EREFAT HHEGEE 1E RMB30,000,000 - 11 -
Guangzhou Degking Small-Loan Co,, L1d. The PRC, limited iabilty ~ Provision of onling financial services RN1B200,000,000 - 10 -
company inthe PR
ENmGe  EEHERAT RE - EREFLE  KEHBRE RE RMB200,000,000 - 10 -
Shenzhen Kingdee Jingdou Cloud Intermgt ~ The PR, limited fiability ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RVIB12,000,000 - - -
Technology Co., Lid. (Note (b)) company
MIBRZERERERAT hE BREMLE  BHEREES TE RMB12000,000 - - -
(Pt k()
Kingdes Credit Co,, Lt (Note () The PRC, limited izbilty ~ Development and service of software RMBA0,000,000 - - -
company inthe PRC
SREEERAT (W) hE BRERLE  BARERE 8 RMB30,000,000 - - -
Shenzhen Hong Jin Investment The PRC, limited iabilty ~ Investment holding in the PRC RMB1,000,000 - - -
Co, Ltd. (Note (0) company
MITLEREERAA (M) +8 AREARE  REBR +F RMB1,000,000 - - -
Shenzhen Kingdee Cloud Computing The PRC, limited iabiity ~ Sales of software products in the PRC RN1B200,000,000 - - -
Co, Ltd. (Note (0) company
MISGENFERAAMHY) R8 FREFAT FHEREE 9E RMB200,000,000 - - -
Yinj The PRC, limited izbilty ~ Development and service of software RMB70,510,000 - 5% L]
company inthe PRC
X hEBRERLE  BARERE 8 RMB0,510,000 - 5 £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

16 Subsidiaries (Continued)

The directors of the Company considered that the non-controlling interests
in respect of the subsidiaries are not material to the Group, and therefore, no
summarised financial information of the relevant subsidiaries is presented

separately.
Note:
(a) Although the Group owns less than half of the equity interests in Kingdee

150 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Apusic, it is able to gain power over more than one half of the voting rights by
virtue of an agreement. Consequently, the Group consolidates Kingdee Apusic
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Beijing Kingdee Middleware Software System
Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Kingdee Middleware Software Systems Co., Ltd.

The Group does not have legal ownership in the equity of these operating
companies. The Group has entered into several contractual arrangements with
them and their equity holders since their incorporation. These contractual
arrangements are irrevocable and enable the Group to:

- exercise effective financial and operational control over these operating
companies;

- exercise more than one half of the equity holders voting rights of these
operating companies;

- receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by
these operating companies in consideration for the business support;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity
interest in these operating companies from the equity holders;

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of these operating
companies from their equity holders as collateral for all the payments
due to the Group and as security for performance of obligations under
the contractual arrangements.

As a result of such contractual arrangements, the Group has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with them and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over these operating companies (“VIEs”) and is considered
to control them. Consequently, the Group regards them as controlled structured
entities in the consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over these VIEs and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of these VIEs. The Group
believes that these contractual arrangements are in compliance with relevant
PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
17 Share capital and share premium 17 BREMBERE
Number of shares Share capital ~ Share premium Total
BFHE B EEE BFERE it
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
(Fi%) AREFL ARETFT ARETT
At1 January 2023 ZEZ-§¥—-P—HER 3474399 83,537 5,084,953 5,168,490
Issue of new shares R 1T 154,627 3519 1,408,328 1411847
Employee share option scheme BIRREE
— Exercise of share options (Note 20) — 7R (M aT20) 2322 4 5,481 5523
Share award plan H1n @zt 2
—Vialue of services received -R%EE - - 96,278 96,278
—Transfer shares to the awardees upon vesting  — R B BB IR HEBLELRA - - (82,634) (82,634)
At 31 December 2023 ZEZ=E+ZRAEt+—-HER 3,631,348 87,098 6,512,406 6,599,504
At1 January 2024 —E-mE-A-BER 3,631,348 87,08 6,512,406 6,599,504
Employee share option scheme BIRREE
— Exercise of share options (Note 20) —1T{E BB AR (F17E20) 1,973 45 7,208 7,253
Share award plan Bt 2Bt 8l
—Vialue of services received -RBEE - - 85,169 85,169
—Transfer shares to the awardees upon vesting  — R 53 BRI H BB R EREA - - (69,158) (69,158)
Cancellation of shares R 7t 88 (47,306) (1,075) (361,462) (362,537)
At 31 December 2024 ZE_mE+ZAEt+—H#ER 3,586,015 86,068 6,174,163 6,260,231
(a) 0On 14 December 2023, the Company issued 154,627,000 ordinary shares at a (a) 72023128148 - A& 7] AAl-Rayyan Holding

subscription price of HKD10.1 per share to Al-Rayyan Holding LLC (a limited
liability company established under the regulations of the Qatar Financial Centre
Authority in the State of Qatar, and is a subsidiary of Qatar Investment Authority,
the sovereign wealth fund of the State of Qatar). Gross proceeds from the issue
were HKD1,561,732,700(equivalent to approximately RMB1,421,793,000), and
the net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses) arising from
the Subscription were RMB1,411,847,000.

(b)  The total authorised share capital as at 31 December 2024 was 6,000,000,000 (b)
(2023: 6,000,000,000) shares with a par value of HKD0.025 (2023: HKD0.025)
per share. All issued shares were fully paid.

LLC(REFRERSRTLEERNBREK
YHERETQAR FEBIEVEES
FEBIRERH T AR]) #17154,627,0000%
LTER RBERATRBEI01) o X
AT AU 2 B 8 H1,561,732,700 (T & A
R #1,421,793,0007T) + R E 4 #0F W
(MBRAEERBNKRAMEREZ) BARK
1,411,847,0007T °

HE-_ZT-_WNFEF+ZA=+—H1E 2%
TE A% A 48 25 /56,000,000,0000% (—F = =4 :
6,000,000,000/%) - & A M (E0.025/8 7T (=&
ZE=EF:00258) BB ETRHAE
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRM T
18 Other reserves 18 H kiR
Shares held
Merger Capital for share
reserve reserve awardplan  Translation Total
UL
AREER  EELR HHRERE i} &t
RVBO00D RVBOD RVB00 RVBO00D RVBO00D
ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETR ARETT
Note ) Note c) Note )
Hi2(0) HEEe) B
At1 January 2023 Z2CCE-B-RER 6570 263488 (228871) 35203 866,567
Curtency ransaton diferences MEREEE - - - (1,769) (1,789)
Equly ransacton with NC| BEAHMLERNRS - 2710 - - %710
Buy-back of shares or e pupose of -+~ AR BN ZFBRD
share award pen (ots ) (Hiska) - - (61,139) - (61,139)
Tanstrshas o teavartess upon - REBBERGHEBRE
esting HEA - - 79,866 - 79,866
Revaluationgans n propertes wpon R BIE - TR RAERERE
tranfer fiom property, plant and BEREAREUMZA
suipmentand right-otuseassesto 2 EfEFE  AIBFRE
investment prapertes, net oftax - - - - 6,666
At 31 December 2023 ZBIZE+CREt-H
13 6570 280,258 (210143) B8 979,146
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

18 Other reserves (Continued)

18 HfthGm (38)

Statutory Shares held
Merger Capital surplus Property for share Other
resere reserve reserve fund  revaluation awardplan  Translation eserves Total
UL
AHEE  EROE EREBOEE  WEER  HURBRG 5 it fit
RMBI00 RMBI000 RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI00 RMBI000 RMBI00
ARETL AREFT  AREFr ARETR  ARETH ARETn ARETT ARETR
Note () Note c) Note () Note )
FsHD) ) HiE0) W)
At1 January 2024 ZZ-mE-R-BER 6,570 280,258 138,762 639,020 (210,143) 33,418 91,261 979,146
Currency ransaton diferences MEREER - - - - - (2,756) - (2,756)
Translr shares fo the awardes REBEERNEDLER
upon vesting BA - - - - 69,310 - - 69,310
Buy-hack of shaves or e purposs of -~ AR (7 R0t B ETER R
stare awrd plan (Note ) k) - - - - (163,533) - - (1635%)
Buy-back of shaes forthe puposeof -~ BSEHEBRN
cancelltion - - - - - - (543,618) (543,618)
Cancellaton of heres Ripsss - - - - - - 362,531 362,537
Revalugtion gains n properties ypon -~~~ 7 8E » THRRERFER
transte rom propery,plant and BEEREARELD
eupmentand ight-otuseasselslo ERIZERFIE Mk
investment properties, net of ax #E - - - 210,301 - - - 210,301
At 31 December 2024 12 g =
&8 6,570 260,258 138,762 849,321 (304,366) 30,662 (89,820) 911,387
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company bought back a total @ BE_Z-_MOF+_A=1+-BLFE &K

of 102,457,000 ordinary shares of the Company from the market at a total
consideration of HKD777,850,000 (equivalent to RMB707,151,000) of which
21,321,000 ordinary shares (equivalent to RMB163,533,000) were for the
purpose of share award plan under the Company’s employee share award
scheme and 81,136,000 ordinary shares (equivalent to RMB543,618,000) were
for the purpose of cancellation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between the carrying amounts
of the capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amounts of the Company’s shares issued as
consideration for the acquisitions.

The capital reserve arose mainly from the reinvestment of dividends into the
PRC subsidiaries and capitalisation of reserves of certain subsidiaries.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to follow the laws and
regulations of the PRC and their articles of association. These subsidiaries are
required to allocate at least 10% of their net profits to the reserve fund until the
balance of such fund has reached 50% of their registered capital. The reserve
fund can only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

T CUFFR

A BT 5 B E A ££102,457,0008% AN A 7 &
I 4% (B AB777,850,00008 T (A AR
707,151,0007T) + 21,321,000& @ A% (Fré& AR
#£163,533,00070) FA R A A &) B TR 5 8@ &t
2B R BB AT 2] - 81,136,000 3@ A (I &
AR 1543618,0007C) A EE 3 o

EHREBEREARBEARRKEE AN
EASHEARARA SRBEHTORMDEE
HZEEE -

EARNBEIEREYREREANT QA HRAF
BREMBY FRABNRBEER -

AR E ) BB Q R RKESEAER R
HE MR AR ERAA o L F BB
R EIAVEEF E R BRI D iM0% 8 A
FRED EEZRRESEHRSEREEM
EAREE0% - HEESETERBAE RILR
REHAER ] B IERME R EIRSIEMER -
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REMBHRRWE
19 Retained earnings 19 FHEKE
RMB’000
AR®TT
At 1 January 2023 W-ZE_=%—H—AH 1,230,296
Loss for the year FEEHRA (209,890)
At 31 December 2023 R-EZ=F+Z"A=+—8H 1,020,406
At 1 January 2024 B-ZE_HmME—HA—A 1,020,406
Loss for the year FEEE (142,068)
At 31 December 2024 WIE_NE+=-A=+—H 878,338
20 Employee share-based arrangements 20 BETRRIDRHE
(a) Share option scheme (a) FEBx#ERTE
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 Option E_ZEZERFELA+—B AQXaEEMAT —
Scheme”). At the general meeting of the Company convened on 8 May 2015, HEREASE ((ZZEZERFFE]) - E=F
the Company terminated the 2005 Option Scheme and adopted a new share —RERAN\BEBEMNBERERS &
option scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with the validity period of ten years, NABRRIEE—EERFAZNNER T —EH
under which the directors may, at their discretion, grant options to any qualifying NERETS ((ZZE—R2F52)) a0
participants to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to the terms and B10F - it EE0 B RERASEKR2H
conditions stipulated therein. ERLERE  URERAQARKRG  HEAX
PR A 5% 5 5t B B 16 R B AG A ©
The vesting period of the share options granted is 4 years and the vesting schedule BHOERENSBHANE  BEBiTE A
is 25% after 12 months from the grant date, 25% after 24 months from the grant = E ER AR EH121E B 1825% - % 1 B BAfEEt24
date, 25% after 36 months from the grant date, and 25% after 48 months from the 18 B 1225% - 2 1 B HA #8 513618 B 1825% & 1%
grant date. it B B R SH481E A 1525% o
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(a)
(i)

REMBRRH T
20 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 20 ETRA=BEE)
Share option scheme (Continued) (a) FRBRHERTE(4E)
Movements in share options (i) FBRESEH
Movements in the number of shares under the options outstanding and their MARITENERESE REEENINEFY
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: TEEMNESHIT :
2005 Option Scheme 2015 Option Scheme
20058 # % NokER
Average No. of shares Average No. of shares ~ Total no. of shares
exercise price  under the options exercise price  under the options  under the options
SREYAER  BRETHER SRFEHOER BRETORE BRETORHSH
HKD per share fhousands HKD per share housands housands
ik Fir ik Tt Fit
At1 January 2023 RZZZ=%-F-H 215 374 460 8304 12028
Bercsed (Note 17) BT (M) 20 (1211 40 (11) (230)
LapsedForfied E4H/ElE 134 (1009) 450 - (1029
At 31 Decemher 2023 RZBZ=F+ZR=1-H 266 1465 460 7193 8678
Currently vested and exercisable as at RIBZZE+ZB=+-A
31 December 2023 ERFEATE 266 1465 460 119 8678
At1 January 2024 R-B-ME-F-A 2.66 1,485 4.60 1193 8,678
Exercised (Note 17) B (W) 2.66 (633) 4.60 (1,340) (1,973)
LapsedForfeied BAR/ERE 2.66 (852) 4.60 (2,900) (3,752)
At 31 Decemher 2024 RZZ-ME+ZR=1-H 1.46 - 4.60 2,953 2,953
Currently vested and exercisable as at RZE-ME+-A=+-A
31 December 2024 ERFLEATE 1.46 - 4.60 2,953 2,953
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mEMBHRRMT
20 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 20 ETRARBE(E)
(a) Share option schemes (Continued) (a) FRBxHERTE (48)
(ii)  Outstanding share options (i) RITERERE
Details of the expiry dates, exercise prices and the respective number of shares RZE-NF+—A=+—RAk=-ZE-_=F
under the options which remained outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and 31 +ZA=+—H WMARTENBREND
December 2023 are as follows: A 1TEERSEMNEEFBRT :
Number of shares under options
BERETHRS
Range of
exercise price 2024 2023
Expity date within EE | B fTEEEE —E_mEF —E_=f
HKD per share thousands thousands
ok YT Tt F&t+
2024 2024 2.66 - 1,485
2025 2025 4.60 2,953 7,193
2,953 8,678
Weighted average remaining AR MR TT R O BE AR A A 00
contractual life of options T F I FsR A R HBBR
outstanding at end of period
(years) 0.35 1.18
(b)  Share award plan (h) BERPERBETE
The board of directors adopted a share award plan (“2009 Plan”) on 25 March AN EEER _TETZNF=ZRA=-_+HHR
2009 for the purpose of recognising and rewarding the contributions of the eligible RN EEETE (5182 FN)) %
persons. The Group adopted a new share award plan on 4 December 2015 (“2015 [EmstEle EREEBHARNEILIEEMNE
Plan”) and the shares under 2009 Plan were transferred to 2015 Plan. The share Ble EBR —ZE—AF+ - AUBHREMATK
award plan is valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the DEEEE (8 =2—F)) #HE=-ZZ
adoption date. N HEEZAE -2 —Hh -
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REMBHRERWTE
20 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 20 ETRA=BEE)
(b)  Share award plan (Continued) (b) BERipERMHETEI (4)
No. of shares held for
the share award plan  No. of awarded shares Balance
B {7 88 My it & B {7 & M et &)
HRYE BTHE #it
thousands thousands thousands
Tt Tt Tt
At 1 January 2023 —Z-=%-B-H 115471 (110,335) 5,136
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of AR5 2 Bhzt 2 B BB AL 17
share award plan 5571 - 5571
Awarded BT - (8,187) (8,187)
Lapsed/Forfeited BAY/BUKE - 563 563
At 31 December 2023 ZEZ=f+ZRA=t+—-H 121,042 (117,959) 3,083
Weighted average remaining vesting HUR A R ATIE 0 AR 1 SR ED 0 I
period of the awarded shares THFAEREAR
outstanding at end of period (years) 128
At 1 January 2024 —Z_mE-Hf-H 121,042 (117,959) 3,083
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of B 17 2B+ 21 M [ 88 Ak 7 (Ki5E18(a))
share award plan (Note 18(a)) 21,321 - 21,321
Awarded By - (13,141) (13,141)
Lapsed/Forfeited BAY/BlKE - 215 215
At 31 December 2024 —E_@E+-RA=1+-H 142,363 (131,485) 10,878
Weighted average remaining vesting HAR 1A R AT M0 AR 1 SR B 0 I
period of the awarded shares FHHBERBAR
outstanding at end of period (years) 1.17
During the year ended 31 December 2024, 13,741,000 shares (2023: 8,187,000 BIEZZE-WE+_A=+—H QRFESH "
shares) were awarded to certain directors, senior management and key employees SAREIEANB Mz A BER13,741,0000 (=
of the Company. T~ =4 : 8,187,000) AR AZED AR 1) ©
As at 31 December 2024, the expected retention rate was assessed to be 100% RZEZNF+ZA=+—H BHFEIR
(2023: 100%). BEA100%( =T =% : 100%)
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meEMBHRRHE
20 Employee share-based arrangements (Continued) 20 BIBRIDZRHE(HE)
(b)  Share award plan (Continued) (b) BERipEREHETEI (4)
The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market price of BEIRMDHOAABEUANSEERB QRN
the Company’s shares at the respective grant date. The expected dividends during WMisEENE T ERBROMARE
the vesting period have been taken into account when assessing the fair value of ERCERTESHFHNERRS £
these awarded shares. The weighted average fair value of shares awarded during ZUF R RS R EEN AR D TS AR
the year 31 December 2024 was HKD7.41 per share (equivalent to approximately BEASRBBINT (HWAETHRAREETE
RMB6.76 per share). JT) °
Details of the awarded shares awarded during 2024 —E_MERpIEERMA
Number of awarded Average fair
Date of award shares awarded value per share Vesting dates
BEAE BRPEEHERTFHE SRFHLAEE TEA
(thousands) (HKS$)
Fit -1
19 April 2024 12,231 7.28 31 March 2025 - 31 March 2028
ZEZWFEMA+ A 12,231 728 —E-RE=A=+—HE-_E-_N\F=B=+—H
8 May 2024 150 8.83 31 March 2025 - 31 March 2028
—E-_mFERANA 150 883 —B-_RE=A=+—HE_E-_N\F=B=+—AH
3 June 2024 440 7.84 31 March 2025 - 31 March 2028
—T-WFRNA=H 440 784 —E_RE=A=+—HE-E-_)N\E=A=+—H
16 September 2024 100 5.42 31 March 2025 - 31 March 2028
—E-NFAA+RE 100 542 —E_RAfE=-A=+—HEZZE-N\EFE=ZA=1+—H
17 December 2024 820 8.98 31 March 2025 - 31 March 2028
—E-MFE+=ZA++A 820 898 —E-_AE=BA=+—HE=-ZE-/I\§$=A=+—H
21 Bank borrowings 21 f&®
2024 2023
—EpmE —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT ARBETF T
Non-current FERE
Bank borrowings- unsecured RITER— EIKA 200,000 776,900
Less: current portion of non-current bank borrowings RHRITERORE D (200,000) (20,200)
- 756,700
Current E
Bank borrowings- unsecured SRITIE R — | IK IR 5,082 -
Current portion of non-current bank borrowings RHSRITERORE D 200,000 20,200
205,082 20,200
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mEMBRRME

21

fam ()

21 Bank borrowings (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

H-T-_NFE+_-_A=1+—0 AKNEEHE

REEBROT :

2024 2023

ko 11 - 3 —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®EF T

Within 1 year —F LA 205,082 20,200
Between 1 and 2 years —FEMF - 562,700
Between 2 and 5 years MEZERF - 194,000
205,082 776,900

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

AREBEERNEASE AT EE REML

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER®TT ARBETF T

RMB AR 205,082 776,900

The Group’s bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 2.60% (2023: 2.72%)
per annum.

Bank borrowings are at floating rates and the exposure of the Group’s bank
borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the
balance sheet dates are within 1 year (2023: within 1 year).

The carrying amount of the current bank borrowings approximate their fair value, as
the impact of discounting using a current borrowing rate is not significant.

AREBHRITERFFANER260% - (ZF

Z=F 1 272%)

BRAF BN EEHE - REBE B REF =

Emﬂ&mﬂﬁéﬁﬁﬁiEmAﬂiﬁm
BEEHEIFA(ZE_=F : A5EERE
MEEFPHEREALEEABERENAR

BN EBERHEIFA)

AT R R EERILE
ERERBRARRROTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

22 Deferred income tax 22 EIEFRRR

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is as BEFEREEMELHREHRAGBITUOT

follows:

2024 2023
S E T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTR ARBFIT
Deferred income tax assets: RIERTSTHEEE «
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered —HBiA121E B 12 W B B3R E AT IS R
after more than 12 months BE 77,150 39,609
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered — 1218 A A U Bl /9 3 AE AT 15 B
within 12 months BE 64,718 49,545
Total deferred tax assets BIEFFBREEST 141,868 89,154
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off KBRS AR T IR S B E
provisions (39,172) (40,099)
Net deferred tax assets BIEFRBREESRH 102,696 49,055
Deferred income tax liabilities: BELEFSHAR -
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered —EBB121E A & U B YR E FTIS B
after more than 12 months =N (180,170) (146,770)
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered —fE1218 A AU [E B IR E Fr 1S L
within 12 months =T (5,437) (6,301)
Total deferred tax liabilities EBEFRRRARSE (185,607) (153,071)
Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to KRR T BEEFREHEE
set-off provisions 39,172 40,099
Net deferred tax liabilities BRIEFMBRARSH (146,435) (112,972)
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mEMBEHRRHE
22 Deferred income tax (Continued) 22 BRIEFR{RA (18)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without FARRLEFRSHEEMEE CREERERA
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, ER—HBHERNIEHE NEHH0T :
is as follows:
At January Recognised in Recognisedin~~ At31December ~ Recognisedin  Recognisedin  At31 December
03 income ax equily 03 income fax equity 204
\-5-= fEmERT EfEe R-FoZE ERERE EES RIZCEE
-A-H R BA t-A=t-H B B2 t-A=+-A
RMBI00D RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RIB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETr  ARETR  AEWTR  AEBRTRT  ABRRTR
Defrte ncome ta assels ERMEREE
~mpiiment oss on fnancial asses -SBEAERBEX 21864 5084 - 2,918 482 - 31,742
~ Amortisaion of computer sofvere -EREMAES 13 5 - 10 245 - 1%
- Unrealised gains on inra-group trensactions  ~SBABLFRERUE 38826 1029 - 49055 14,928 - 63,983
- Delerred program research income -BEREREMA 1112 (5,688) - 543 (2,0m) - 3,363
- Leaseiabilities -figak 5124 (1,750) - 3974 (642) - 3,332
- Deferred developmen costs ~-ERRERA - 3283 - 38 35,430 - 38,13
17,965 11189 - 89,154 52,714 - 141,868
Defrted ncome ta lailfes EEfEHER
-~ Defered development costs -BREREHA (23625) BB - - (20,758) - (20,758)
~Fair value surpls of intangible asses -BREERE (7165) 864 - (6,301) 864 - (5,437)
-Fairvale (osses)/gains on imvestment.~—~—— —REUNERLBE
properties (B%)/%E (137.407) 2886 (7652) (192173) 9,865 (23,367) (155,675)
- Right-0f-use assels -FRREEE (4867) m - (4597) 860 - (3,781)
(173064) 85 15 (15301) (0,169 (@37 (18560)
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gy ek
23 Trade and other payables 23 FEfF AR 2R B B fth FE £ 3%
2024 2023
S E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT ARBFIT
Trade payables ((a) and (b)) JRE {<F B 3R (a) A (b) 82,595 27,820
Note payables 2R 105,893 42,491
Salary and staff welfare payables BN #HeRkEIET 301,335 301,276
Deposits payable ERRES 219,659 157,901
Accrual for expenses JERREH 391,521 271,616
Unpaid consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries WEFRRI AR TEE 4,000 4,000
Construction payables FERT T2 311,275 350,755
QOthers Hb 71,405 75,344
1,487,683 1,231,203
(@)  The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying (a) ENMERNEMENZZAABERD

amounts. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are

mainly denominated in RMB.

(b) At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the trade payables

based on invoice date is as follows:

HERMEER - AEBRMEREEMD
N FIR REEETEUARBHE -

by R-ZZT-—_mWEM_ZT =

=F+=A8

=t+—B AEERNEFBREEREAR

BRSO IAT

2024 2023

—EME —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBEF T
0—180 days 0-180K 75,556 18,793
181 - 360 days 181-360K 2,321 4,010
Over 360 days B 1@360K 4,718 5,017
82,595 27,820
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REMBRRH T
24 Deferred income 24 SEIEWA
2024 2023
—E_WmE —Eo=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT
Deferred program research income (a) RIE R TR WA () 24,951 51,984
(@) Movement of deferred program research income is as follows: () EEEBEHETKANSEESMOT
2024 2023
—E-mE ZTZ=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBTIT
At 1 January »—A—H 51,984 106,500
Additions #m 47,563 26,662
Recognised in the income statement RIBERER (74,596) (81,178)
At 31 December »+=-BA=+—H 24,951 51,984

It mainly represents cash received for financing various research and
development projects conducted by the Group. The cash received will
be recognised as income when the research and development costs are
amortised in expense and certain stipulated conditions are met (usually

ZHATBZRAAREEREMFEEB
MERMNE & XFF o WWFIRBERTHM
FA 2 B AN B 55 S ARBE RO IR T A B (R
FREMABNMEIERR TRIK) #ABHE

when the related development project is completed). Bl o
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mEMBRRME

25 Revenue from contracts with customers 25 HEFRZMMSRAEENHIKA

The Group’s revenue includes revenues from cloud services business and ERP
business. Revenue is stated net of applicable VAT in the PRC and comprises the

SENBRABRERERBEBUREEERE
AT - WA MBRE R BEHIEET -

following: WABEATEE :
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBFIT
Cloud business ERRFEET 5,106,725 4,504,983
— Enterprise cloud services — D EERG 3,623,654 3,127,280
— Small & micro business finance cloud services — N TS RIS 1,228,680 1,080,010
— Industry cloud services —TEERB 254,391 297,693
ERP business and others TEEREEMEEBLEA 1,148,959 1,174,090
— Sales of software and hardware products —HEEH RIEHE S 271,511 284,305
— Software implementation services — B ERS 527,345 465,604
— Software solution consulting, maintenance, —BRRTER B B AR
upgrade and other supporting services Ko i 2 #7514 AR 7S 350,103 424,181
6,255,684 5,679,073
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mEMBRRME

BEEHSENER

FIRREBERAS HERKEEER MRAR
MBKRA TRERLEMEENREREE
MEBRXFEANNERIMAT

26 Expenses by nature 26

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses, research and
development costs, administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial
assets and contract assets are analysed as follows:

2024 2023
—E_mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEF T
Research and development costs T 9% K2 B 25 A AR
Amounts incurred SRkt 1,515,923 1,509,919
Less: development costs capitalised W BAMb 2 BB (484,284) (478,349)
Add: amortisation hn s BAAE 2 F B R AN 5 482,794 408,101
1,514,433 1,439,671
Employee benefit expenses (Note 28) B T #2 7 5 32 (P =%28) 4,281,713 4,107,968
Less: amount included in development costs B BERMRELRFAERANZ S5 (1,451,475) (1,446,657)
2,830,238 2,661,311
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 7 & (Fff356) 81,996 56,501
Less: amount included in development costs B BERMRRAEKRAZ & (9,667) (9,798)
72,329 46,703
Outsourcing services SN AR 7S B 816,799 804,304
Sales promotion and advertising SHEHEM AR 880,568 742,116
Cost of inventories consumed (Note 14) SHEFE KA (3E14) 247,095 203,912
Rental and utilities HekiEEER 45,327 44,131
Traveling expenses EIRE 116,282 118,491
Office expenses WAE 32,291 33,135
Other taxes and surcharges H 2 &K 59,411 51,873
Training costs BlE 9,926 10,355
Professional service fees BERGE A 45,190 61,022
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) FAEEEMITE () 31,330 29,319
Amortisation of trademarks, licenses and copyrights IR - B ERE 5 (Y RES)

(Note 8) 9,157 10,844
Amortisation of computer software for own use (Note 8)  E5 P 35 & & 140 6 885 (FfT5%8) 2,363 2,968
Amortisation of customer relationship (Note 8) BFEBEEE (HE8) 1,082 1,082
Auditors’ remuneration % BLRT B & 4,397 3,650
— Audit services —FiT R 3,170 3,650
— Non-audit services —JIEEH IR 1,227 -
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract & B EEM A R & EREB L FEE

assets 40,890 71,055
Others Ei 22,766 19,477
Total @st 6,781,874 6,355,419
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mEMBRRME

27 Other income and gains — net

21 Rl ARFIGE—BH

2024 2023
—E_mE T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER%TT AR®EF T
Other income Hftlr A
VAT refund and VAT input tax surplus deduction (a) EENREMIEETERD
DRETER (a) 139,850 129,125
Program research income AR T A 90,931 100,910
Rental income(Note 9) e WA (KFEE9) 58,995 66,087
289,776 296,122
Other gains/(losses) HtF|(E5E)
Realised and unrealised net losses on financial NWAABEFEAHEHTAEBR
assets at FVPL (b) MNeMEECERFEERRE
IR FE1E(b) (45,652) (50,539)
Impairment of goodwill EERE - (20,109)
Impairment of associate (Note 10) B 10 & B9 & (FI5E10) = (1,726)
Losses on disposal of associates EEEE N REE - (1,512)
Gains on deemed disposal of an associate REREBHE R AFE - 21,461
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains HNISTE R B (18k) iz (4,059) 5,154
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and TH - BFURTHENEERE
equipment and right-of-use assets (18%k), Mz (865) 113
Others Hib 6,898 36,293
(43,678) (10,865)
246,098 285,257
(@) According to the current tax regulations in the PRC, the development and sales (a) BiEmzE A REMBIBTHUCES  5HE &

of computer software products are subject to VAT with an applicable rate of
16%. From 1 April 2019, according to the circular “2019 No. 39 Notice of
Ministry of Finance, the General Administration of Taxation and The General
Administration of Customs”, the applicable rate for software industry has been

FHMMEMBEEEMRI6%NIEERE - 8
TE-NFIA B RECHEE B
SR, SR BE N S2019F £395) - B4

EXBERTEB16%HEE 213% °

changed from 16% to 13%.

In 2011, the State Council issued a circular regarding the “Taxation Policy for
Encouraging the Development of Software and Integrated Circuits Industry” (Guo
Fa [2011] No.4) (the “Circular”). Pursuant to the Circular, software enterprises
engaged in the sales of self-developed software in the PRC are entitled to VAT
refund to the extent that the effective VAT rate of the sales of the software in the

PRC exceeds 3% of the sales amounts.

(b) It mainly represented fair value changes of investments that are measured at

FVPL.
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mEMBRRME

28 Employee benefit expenses

28 MIFEFIMAXZ

(a)

(b)

2024 2023

—E_mE —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARBFTT

Wages, salaries and bonus T& FEERES 3,590,092 3,447 360
Staff welfare B T %8 A 50,516 55,359
Pension scheme contributions (a) RIRET SR () 555,936 508,971
Share-based compensation AR B B 6 =R BN 5T 21 85,169 96,278
4,281,713 4.107,968

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes organised
by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC. The Group is required
to make monthly contributions to the retirement schemes at rates ranging from
12% to 20%, depending on the location of the subsidiaries, based on the basic
salaries of eligible employees. The local government authorities are responsible
for the pension liabilities to retired employees. Forfeited contributions made by
the Group on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting of
the contributions cannot be used by the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year
include two (2023: two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented under “Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive officer”
(Note 37). The emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: three) individuals

(a) BHE-BERFHE

SR [E 2 8 iy o B8 3 5 U R S i Y
EBRHRFENRGTE - AEEFABEREER
BEMNERFEN%E0%(RFHBARZ
PRAEH T TE) MR K& 51 815K o B BUTH
MEEFERAZSRNEEXNENRS - A%
E R E &N B EIG 2 B RATNR B %At a8
o8 Y Hg 30 - AN 15 i B X AR HURR A i
KL -

() HEfIEEFHFMAL

AEEARERUKSFHMOALBIEMMA
TERCZF M) ES MNFHEE
FRITHEZ N N iz | (M 737) 2]
DRI - REEIN=LAL(ZE-=%:

during the year are as follows: =) ATHEEAT -
2024 2023
—E_mE —EC-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT AR®EF T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EXRES - BEER - EaER

allowances and benefits in kind MEWH = 8,340 7,141
Share-based compensation A% B B 20,826 11,119
Bonuses ey 5,291 4,502
Contribution to pension scheme RIRET IR 278 218
34,735 22,980
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28 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 28 WIEFIBAZ (#)

(b)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

(b) BRESHEHMALGE)

HEHMETINAEHBER

Number of individuals

A8
2024 2023
—E_mE —Eo=fF

Emolument bands (in HK dollar) M E (A=)

HKD5,000,001 — HKD5,500,000 HKD5,000,001-HKD5,500,000 1 -
HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 HKD5,500,001-HKD6,000,000 - 1
HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000 HKD6,000,001-HKD6,500,000 - 1
HKD6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000 HKD6,500,001-HKD7,000,000 1 -
HKD13,000,001 — HKD13,500,000 HKD13,000,001-HKD13,500,000 - 1
HKD26,000,001 — HKD26,500,000 HKD26,000,001 — HKD26,500,000 1 -
3 3
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mEMBRRME

29 Finance income — net

29 MBWA B

2024 2023
o Jol 11 - 3 —E-=4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT ARBFIT
Finance income B A
— Interest income- derived from cash and —FMBKRA-RBERERRESE
cash equivalents EWMELENFE 14,862 15,282
— Interest income- derived from short-term and —FBEUWA -2k 8588 R R ER
long-term bank deposits TEREENTE 95,553 96,986
110,415 112,268
Finance costs B 5 K AR
— Interest on borrowings —BRAE (13,315) (18,655)
— Interest on lease liabilities —-HEaENA (3,311) (3,298)
(16,626) (21,953)
93,789 90,315

30 Income tax credit

Taxation on the PRC profits is calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the

year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

30 FrisihE

AERBREEREBEFEARKNBEIRA

i R AR AR R - I AR AR (A R0 FERT AR A
AR LETEES -

2024 2023

—ET_mE bl =

RMB’000 RMB'000

AER®TT ARBETF T

Current income tax EHIFTE

— Current tax on profits for the year — ZRERFE A B ET 1S R 3,160 9,939
— Qver-provision in prior year — AR F B BREAT IR (5,004) (2,425)
Deferred income tax EIEFTIS T (43,545) (38,834)
(45,389) (31,320

T UFEFR
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30

170 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Income tax credit (Continued)

(@)

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong has
been made as the Group has no assessable profits for the years in those
jurisdictions.

Based on management’s assessment, it is highly probable that Kingdee
China will be qualified as national key software enterprise and subject
to a preferential corporate tax rate of 10%. Therefore, Kingdee China
used a preferential deferred income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 10%) by applying management’s critical judgement.

Kingdee Deeking was qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to
2025 and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in
2024 (2023: 15%).

Kingdee Apusic was qualified as a High-tech Enterprise from 2023 to 2026
and was entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2024
(2023: 15%).

Guanyi was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to 2025 and were
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2024 (2023:
15%).

Yunji was qualified as High-tech Enterprise from 2022 to 2025 and was
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2024 (2023:
15%).

30 FRGIRBE (§)

(@)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRRHE
30 Income tax credit (Continued) 30 FRrS®RihMO (48)
(d)  The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the d) ANEEERATFEER CTEMREH
theoretical amount that would have arisen using the principal rate of the HELRPEAREMBESEMEHRE
PRC corparate income tax due to the following: EMEFENRBEENTE - LEBFEL
BT
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT AREEF T
Loss before income tax BRRAEGR (229,728) (301,126)
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% R TE M ER2D%TE TR
(2023: 25%) (ZZT= =% : 25%) (57,432) (75,282)
Tax effects of: -2 -
Preferential tax rates EXREERX (7,522) 19,203
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax RBERELEFRSHEEN
asset was recognised HsEE 132,927 141,897
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AR H E A 1,963 9,541
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised in FFERERNIEEMSHY
previous years AIKINEE (7,057) (4,908)
Additional deductible allowance for research AT ONH0R 2 B & A
and development expenses (103,264) (119,346)
QOver-provision in prior year ARTF B EERT IR (5,004) (2,425)
(45,389) (31,320)
31 Dividends 31 KR
The board of directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the EFEeTERREHE_ZT_NF+ A
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). =+ —HUETZ@AANKRE (BE-Z=_=F

TZA=FT—HIE+T @R &\ -
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32

(a)

(b)

172 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Losses per share 32 EBREBIE
Basic (a) &ZF
Basic losses per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of ERGREERESEBRAQAEMNFEA
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during RE1E - BRAFRE BT BN INEFS
the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased and held for share award plan. HEFE EBETREARGERTEMEER
ESTER:0R=R N e
2024 2023
—E_ME =

Loss attributable to owners of the Company EREERFTLFEABEA

(RMB’000) (AEWTFT) (142,068) (209,890)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue BT T AR T8 (FED)

(thousands) 3,545,437 3,455,505
Basic losses per share (RMB cents per share) EXERER(BERAERSS) (4.01) (6.07)
Diluted (h) W%

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive potential
ordinary shares: share options and share awards. For the share options and share
awards, the number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all
dilutive share options and share awards less the number of shares that could have
been issued at fair value (determined as the average annual market price of the
Company’s shares) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the
number of ordinary shares issued for no consideration.

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the dilutive potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted
losses per share as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
diluted losses per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was the
same as basic losses per share of the respective year.
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mEMBRRME

33 Cash flow information 33 EEEENRS

Cash generated from operations RBREEEMNBR S
2024 2023
—E_pmE —TZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARBEF T
Loss before income tax kR TS FE AT 18 (229,728) (301,126)
Adjustments for: AR
— Depreciation of property, plant and — T gE  IRERRENITE
equipment (Note 26) (B 5E26) 72,329 46,703
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) —(EREEENTE (HT7) 31,330 29,319
— Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, plant and —REAPE  IWmERELE
equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 27) &8, (FI15) (P #E27) 865 (113)
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) — I EEEE (:T8) 495,396 422 995
— Finance income — net (Note 29) — B RS A OFE (B 5E29) (93,789) (90,315)
— Share-based compensation (Note 28) —MEEE A (M7E28) 85,169 96,278
— Share of profits of associates (Note 10) —DEBENRIRENAF
(FfF5E10) (11,745) (28,506)
— Fair value losses on investment —REUMEARBEEZEESL
properties (Note 9) (B 7¥9) 55,170 28,858
— Realised and unrealised losses on financial —ARAEEFEREESTA
assets at FVPL (Note 27) ExNeMmEECEREBE
MAREREBE (B5E27) 45,652 51,080
— Net impairment losses on financial assets -~ MEEMNAREEREERL
and contract assets FRE 40,890 71,055
— Losses on disposal of associates (Note 27) —EEBHE AR EE (M) - 1512
— Gain on deemed disposal of an associate (Note 27) —EENRINREREFG
(F5E27) - (21,461)
— Impairment of goodwill (Note 27) — 2 RE (ME2r) - 20,109
— Impairment of an associate (Note 27) — BRI E 8B E (T 7E27) = 1,726
491,539 328,114
Changes in working capital, net of effects from REELEH  FIREET AR
disposal of a subsidiary MFRE
— Inventories 55 (554) (740)
—Trade and other receivables — FE U BR 3R R L i L 3R 1,300 (7,385)
— Contract assets and contract obtaining costs —EREERE RIEKR (266,258) (328,905)
— Contract liabilities —GRAaE 546,980 545,554
— Deferred income — IR A (27,033) (54,516)
— Trade and other payables —FETBR R R E M B 3R 205,610 193,100
Cash generated from operations KEEEMRS 951,584 675,222

T CUFFR
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mEMBHRRMT
33 Cash flow information (Continued) 33 EEEENHRE ()
(a) Inthe consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal (a) EBRERERAN BEFDHE IERH
of property, plant and equipment comprise: RS RENE -
2024 2023
—E_lE T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Net book amount (Note 6) B mEF 58 (P 716) 2,904 2,505
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and HETBE - THRE&HRER
equipment and right-of-use assets BEER (B18),/ M (865) 113

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment & N8 2 « T I ;% 45 K (& A

and right-of-use assets B EMTE R 2,039 2,618
(b)  Non-cash transactions (b) EREXH
Significant non-cash investing and financing activities include the following; EAMERSERME TR -
2024 2023
—EME —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Additions to the right-of-use assets (Note 7) FREEEE I (M) 21,202 37,857
Transfer from investment properties to property, plant REEEYEEREAFE - TH

and equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 9) MR B AREE E (HE9) (5,060) (197,709)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and right- 7 TNBYE ~ TR K2 iR 5 A fF PR 4

of-use assets to investment properties (Note 9) BEHZRE MY E (M:E9) 240,200 101,137
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mEMBEHRRHE
33 Cash flow information (Continued) 33 EEEENHE (H)
(c) Net cash reconciliation (c) BRELAE
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the movements in net cash for AEES FEBEAAAIRAFRESHO DT
gach of the periods presented. kg o
Net cash 2024 2023
Be$d —E-mF —T-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Cash and cash equivalents HekReZEEY 1,529,682 2,963,723
Less: bank borrowings BN (205,082) (776,900)
Lease liabilities HEAE (48,252) (64,610)
Net cash R /558 1,276,348 2,122,213
Gross debt — fixed interest rates B RRE—EEFE (48,252) (64,610)
Gross debt — variable interest rates BESRRE - FEF = (205,082) (776,900)
Less: cash and cash equivalents B ReRASEED 1,529,682 2,963,723
Net cash HeF8 1,276,348 2,122,213
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33 Cash flow information (Continued)

(c)

176 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

3 EEELEHHS ()

(c) BH RS (W)

(ther assets Liabilities from financing activities
AthEE BEEBNAE
Cash Borrowings L eases Total
Be —EREBER HE @t
RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Netcashasat1January2023 R_-ET_=F—H—H 1942,735 (470,000) (63,894) 1,408 841
BHE
Cash flows RERE 1,019,757 (306,900) 314 749998
Acquisition - leases WeE—-HE - - (37.857) (37.857)
Foreign exchange adjustments fE R A 1231 - - 1231
Net cash as at 31 W-ZE2-=%+—-A
December 2023 =+—H3ERE 2963723 (776,900) (64,610) 21213
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
Hth&E BEETBNAR
Cash Borrowings Leases Total
Be —SFRIYHER HE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR®TR AR¥TT AR®TR
Net cash as at R-SZME
1 January 2024 —A—H28& 2,963,723 (776,900) (64,610) 2,122,213
Cash flows Rene (1,431,678) 571,818 37,560 (822,300)
Acquisition — leases WiE-HE - - (21,202) (21,202)
Foreign exchange adjustments [ % 3 28 (2,363) - - (2,363)
Net cash as at R-E-_mME+=A
31 December 2024 =+—H28& 1,529,682 (205,082) (48,252) 1,276,348
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REMBHRRMEE

34 Commitments 34

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments (a)

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the years but not
recognised as liabilities were as follows:

iR
RE&iR

RERBITNERERRABENERELRE
AT

2024 2023
—E_ME B
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Assets under construction TEREE

= 140,718

Operating lease commitments (b)

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. For details of the leasing arrangements, refer to Note 9.

EEHERKE

KREMMEALEHESTALBEEET B
ERAXN FRABEERHENFE F2H
BEES ©

2024 2023
—ES-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of WEMERANSEELESLT ¢
investment properties are as follows:
Within 1 year TRl —F 11,267 69,093
Later than 1 year HiE—F 403,567 341,929
480,834 411,022

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating leases, with
most leases expiring within 1 month to 6 years. The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. The leases have varying terms, escalation
clauses and renewal rights. Upon renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

7 82 8 b4 7 B 8 4G A4 TR O O X LE AL
FE 0 ASMCLRREIEANE6ETE -
AOETRAMIEER - FRIERF A -
ik - BRI B SRY -
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35 Related party transactions

35

The Group had transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 December

RMEAXS

BE_Z-_NFE+_A=+—0 AQ 7AH

2024 as follows: B 25T
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HERAESFXZHEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER%TT ARBTIT
Sales of products BEmiEE
— Associates — B 138 2,451
— Companies controlled by Directors —HESRENRNEE 1,908 551
2,046 3,002
Sales of services R HE
— Associates — B 1,946 5,089
— Companies controlled by Directors —HESFMEANEE 633 161
2,579 5,250
Rental income LA
— Associates — B 3,445 3,449
— Companies controlled by Directors —HEEMZEHNEE 2,264 4,732
5,709 8,181

Products and services are sold based on terms agreed with the counterparties
in the ordinary course of business, and the rental rates and interest rates are

determined in the same way.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
35 Related party transactions (Continued) 3B MEAXS (&)
(b)  Purchases of products and services (h) HRREBBRE
2024 2023
—E-_mE —TEC-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARBTIT
Purchases of products EmEER
— Associates — B 2,657 1,729
— Companies controlled by Directors —HEEMEHNEE 19 -
2,676 1,729
Purchases of services R E
— Associates — B 62,242 57,546
— Companies controlled by Directors —HESMESNEE 251 -
62,493 57,546

Products and services purchased from associates and companies controlled by
Directors are carried out on terms agreed with the counterparties in the ordinary

course of business.

ZEINFFIR

B MRS R AEE S R B M EE AT
TRBES URREBEEBRAETES

P AV RETT ©
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meEMBHRRHE
35 Related party transactions (Continued) 35 MEHAXS (M)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) EHREAXHFEEMFRER
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBTIT
Receivables from related parties (Note 13) JiE W B8 5E 75 3 IA (B RE13)
— Associates NG| 9,947 10,422
— Companies controlled by Directors —HEEMZEFNEE 80 12,035
10,027 22,457
Payable to related parties recorded in “Contract REREIERAaE] PENEE S
liabilities” IR
— Associates — Bt &N R 1,718 2,536
— Companies controlled by Directors —HEEMEFNELE 887 109
2,605 2,645
Payable to related parties recorded in “Trade payables”  FC&% £ [ A< BR 3% 7R 9 JRE <F BABE 79
FIE
— Associates VNS 743 241
— Companies controlled by Directors —HEEMEHNEE 442 12
1,185 253

The above balances with related parties were interest free, unsecured and repayable
on demand.

180 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2024

BIRSETNMREHREEE  BE
1%%‘11??%‘%1%‘ B e




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRMT
35 Related party transactions (Continued) 3B MEAXS (&)
(d) Key management compensation (d RBEEAE#HS
Key management comprise the Company’s directors and senior management. The FBREEEAEREARNESRSRERAE -
compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown MEAREEAEXNEREERBHE K
below. FERMEmT -
2024 2023
—E_WmE T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits FrehEMEHESEN 25,082 22777
Share-based payments LARR 5 A5 8 45 23,655 15,997

48,737 38,774
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mEMBRRME

36 Statement of financial position and reserve movement

36 FAFMHMBRARREMED

of the Company
As at 31 December
®»+=-—B=+—H
2024 2023
—E-_MEF —E-=4F
Note RMB’000 R‘MB'OOO
[{hg=a AR®TT ARBET T
Assets aE
Non-current assets ERBDEE
Property, plant and equipment TBE - THREEE 1,190 -
Financial assets at fair value through UAREBEFEAEHEEHTA
profit or loss BaMEemEE 549,217 661,425
Interests in subsidiaries HFRRIWILE 5,102,526 5,043,231
5,652,933 5,704,656
Current assets nEEE
Other receivables H b U TR 9,382 4,739
Financial assets at fair value AR EBEFEAEHEEHTA
through profit or loss BEMemEE 49,442 -
Cash and cash equivalents REFRBFEFEYD 118,617 1,255,237
177,441 1,259,976
Total assets HEE 5,830,374 6,964,632
Liabilities A&\
Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Amounts due to subsidiaries JETF A A 80,515 500,544
Current liabilities bid Rk
Other payables b FEAT 3R 9,138 45,895
Total liabilities HaE 89,653 546,439
Net assets BEE 5,740,721 6,418,193
Equity R
Share capital & A< 86,068 87,098
Share premium A& 25 (8 6,176,313 6,512,406
Other reserves G () (372,892) (97,588)
Accumulated losses ZErEE (a) (148,768) (83,723)
Total equity wnEgs 5,740,721 6,418,193

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of

ERAFBOVBERAKREHEFERZ
Directors on 17 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf. °

“HEZATER#tER  URREFSRE

Director Director
- EZE
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mEMBRRME

36 Statement of financial position and reserve movement 36 FATMHHBRARRERED

of the Company (Continued) (&)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) DTSR

Accumulated losses Other reserves

2HER =40 ]

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTIT ARBTIT

At 1 January 2023 —E-=4¥—A—H (57,416) (116,316)
Loss for the year FEBE (26,307) -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting 8RB R AR D B RS A I HRE) A . 79,866
Shares purchased for share award plan B RSB ARG - (61,138)
At 31 December 2023 —E_=%+-R=+—H (83,723) (97,588)
At 1 January 2024 —EZ_mME—RA—H (83,723) (97,588)
Loss for the year FEEIE (65,045) -
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting REBREROEBBHEREA - 69,310
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of share award plan /& A% 7 42 Bh =+ 21 [=] 88 &9 B 19 - (163,533)
Buy-back of shares for the purpose of cancellation A A% 5 85 FT 38 i (9 - (543,618)
Cancellation of shares % 19 7% 8 - 362,537
At 31 December 2024 —E-mE+=-A=+—8 (148,768) (372,892)
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mEMBRRME

37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive 37 EER{THEZHFISNES

officer

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is Set out below; BNESERTREZNEFMOT -

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

BE-_Z-_WNF+-_A=-+—BILFE:

Employer’s
Share  contribution
Discretionary  compensation to a retirement
Fees Salaries bonuses expenses (a) (i) benefit scheme Tota
B
BiEe&  RFEE
Name 2] e e BRRe X () HEXHR it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEWTRE AERBTRT AER®TRT ARWTT ARWTRE AE®TR
Chairman FE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun ROEEE 150 4,020 2,570 1,265 75 8,080
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Lin Bo MR EE 150 2,022 1,293 1,564 7 5,106
Non-executive directors HHITEE
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERBR L 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark BiddleZ & 183 - - - - 183
Indgpendent non-executive direclors B FFETTEE
Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang BAEFEE 150 - - - - 150
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Kathering Rong Xin2z 1= 183 = = = = 183
Mr. Bo Lian Ming HERLE 150 - - - - 150
Total &t 1,116 6,042 3,863 2,829 152 14,002

184 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive 37 EFER{THEZEHFISNES ()
officer (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023: BE-_ZE-_=F+_-A=1t—HILEE:

Employer’s
Share  contribution
Discretionary  compensation to a retirement

Fees Salaries honuses expenses (a) (i) benefit scheme Total

B

Bin & A A
Name £ g e BERe FMX(a) (i) HEEHR it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTRT ARKTR

Chaimman E

Mr. Xu Shao Chun BROERE 150 3,942 2551 2,611 73 9327
Executive directors HITEE

Mr. LinBo MR FE & 150 1,980 1,185 2,267 75 5,657
Non-executive directors HHTEF

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERKLL 150 - - - - 150
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark BiddleZ &= 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive directors B FE#7TE F

Mr. Zhou Jun Xiang AEELE 150 - - - - 150
Ms. Katherine Rong Xin Katherine Rong Xin%z = 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Bo Lian Ming BERLAE 150 - - - - 150
Total A%t 1110 5922 3,736 4878 148 15,794
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

37 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (Continued)

(@)

186 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Directors’ emoluments

(i) Includes share options and share award plan, estimated monetary
value was based on the annual charge of the share-based payment in
accordance with IFRS 2.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits for the

year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Inducement to join the Company

During the financial year, no amount was paid or receivable by any Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

Waiver

During the financial year, no Director had waived or agreed to waive any of his/
her emoluments.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not pay

consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

37

38

39

Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (Continued)

(a) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

The Group’s transactions with the companies controlled by directors of the
Company, are set out in Note 35.

Save for the afore mentioned transactions, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Contingencies

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities, guarantees or litigations or claims of material importance, pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

Subsequent events

From January 2025 to February 2025, the Company repurchased 7,552,000
ordinary shares, representing approximately 0.21% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024. The total amounts paid were
approximately HKD59,902,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB54,455,000).

37

38

39

T CUFFR

EERTHARHAGNED (1)

(0 EFERXRS RHAENTNEAER

AEBEHEZAREEFEHHNRATNNRSHE

AHEEE35 ©
Br EXCPTalioh - FRAEEARRQ B BERD

— 7 MARREFZERIBEFSENEE
BREAZ—TNEARS  RERAK -

BREER

RO FH-_Z - —F+=_A=+—H -
AEETHEEMERAKNABE  BRIAE
B E AR 8 A B I 8 AR R ok E A (R & K
FFREASERR ©

H&ER

RZEBE_RAF-—AZEZZT_RF_H &2
A)[E # 77,552,0000% @A - A ARIEECZ
E_NF+ A=+ HBBITRHDAHEN
0.21% -+ - 3R AR 5B 49 A& 78 159,902,000T (1A A
R #954,455,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40

40.1

40.2

(a)

(b)

188

Summary of other accounting policies
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or 10ss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in
the income statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the income statement on a net basis within “Other gains/
losses — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

40

40.1

40.2

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any
net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

40

40.2

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

40

40.3

190

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

—Buildings 15-50 years
— Computer and related equipment 5 years
— Office equipment 5 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

the shorter of the lease term or
the useful life

— Leasehold improvements

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction, which is stated
at actual construction cost less any impairment loss. Construction in progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
40.20).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the

carrying amount and are recognised within “Other gains/losses — net” in the
income statement.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40

40.4

40.5

40.6

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or
the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for software sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components when they are
recognised at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with the objective
of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 13 for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40

40.7

40.8

40.9

192

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts
are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Share capital and shares held for share award plan

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s share capital (treasury
shares), for example as the result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment
plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s owners
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, if any, is included in equity
attributable to the Company’s owners.

The consideration paid for the buy-back of the Company’s ordinary shares from the
market for the purpose of the share award plan (Note 20), including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is recorded in “Other reserves” and the amount is
presented as a deduction from total equity.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for products or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Tradepayables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.10 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any differences between
proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless, at the end of the reporting
period, the Group has a right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before the end of the
reporting period, are considered in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to comply with after
the reporting period do not affect the classification at the reporting date.

40.11 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.12 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

194 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Retirement benefits

The Group provides defined contribution retirement plans based on local laws and
regulations. The plans cover full-time employees and provide for contributions
at certain percentage of salary as determined by the respective local government
authorities. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the statement of financial position date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

40 Hfih & ot B R E#R (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.13 Share-based payments

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation
(including share option schemes and share award plans), under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (including
share option and awarded shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period.

For grant of share options, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted, which includes any market
performance conditions (for example, the Company’s share price); but excludes the
impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for
example, the requirement for employees to hold shares for a specified period of
time). For grant of award shares, the total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant date. The Group
also adopts valuation technique to assess the fair value of other equity instruments
of the Group granted under the share-based compensation plans as appropriate.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of shares under options and awarded shares that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services in advance of
the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes
of recognising the expense during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among group entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value,
is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.
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40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

40.15 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)
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Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners
of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the
year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic
garnings per share to take into account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated
with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.16 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the income statement as realised gains on financial assets

at FVPL within “Other income and gains — net”.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated using the effective

interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial
assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 29. Any other interest

income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of

the loss allowance).

40.17 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the

date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components

and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.

Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.17 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also
included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

198 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received;

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent
third party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and
security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

40.17 Leases (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee
(through recent financing or market data) which has a similar payment profile to
the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments
based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land and buildings that
are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for
the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of office are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. The Group did not enter any low-value assets lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 9). Initial direct costs
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

40 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued) 40 R fth & & By EE R (49)

40.18 Government grants 40.18 By FF ¥ B
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a & RE A B Hb AR 78 U 4 B 8 AT U ER - i AR
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply SEBETAMAMS R BBTREH
with all attached conditions. W BIRE R R BERRBALRK -
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the BB 7RG R 2 U R B R T A BR - I iR Bt
consolidated income statement over the period necessary to match them with the 182 AL A B PR B AR A B R T RER

costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in EBETYE ITHMAREE B ZBTHR
non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the FIAERBBEERBEEBAME  YiRA
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of EEZ B FHNEREEBSRER -
the related assets.

40.19 Dividend distribution 40.19 B B % Kk
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately R E R R AR AT HE R EIREARF -
authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the ERARRERARD KNSRI EMH -
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

40.20 Impairment of non-financial assets 40.20 F&MEER TR E
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to ERASP T EENHENELEETTH#HE
amartisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events WEESFETHENR WREGRBERE
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are feRATFAECIRE - B S A Z 178
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that Ao BEHRBEAL L RBEREEBENEE
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for FWEIR e EMEEETRENH - ¥
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. REENREABEBBEAT KB CENE R
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal BRREBL JHESEREREENAAE
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped EREZEEEANMEAEETHNRSE - B
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which TRIERE BEESBASEGIEERR
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets MRS MANKERRN  ELBERALR
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an AEEFBINKEBEMEEREEE (RE
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each EEBLA)MNBREESRA - REEI - 2RED
reporting period. IERMEESUESERSHRETRELESE

BB (o o
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